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Chapter
1:

Cybersecurity
Class

A young, attractive
woman sat down next to me one minute before our class started because
the chair beside me was empty. She had a cheerful face with
almond-shaped eyes. Her conservative red blouse was tucked into a
blue skirt that reached her knees, and her fingernails were not
painted. Our class started late because our teacher was still working
on resolving a connection issue between his laptop and the overhead
projector. The laptop was on his desk in front of the class, while
the overhead projector was attached to the ceiling in the middle of
the class.

“Hi, my name is
Bill,” I said as I looked at her.

Her name was Jane. I
asked if she was a software developer, but Jane replied in the
negative. Then she looked away from me and began to read the course
syllabus on her laptop. Did she want to familiarize herself with our
coursework because she was not a software developer?

Our lecture room had
three columns and sixteen rows of tables, with two students sitting
at each table. Jane and I sat in the fourth row; she sat at the
beginning of the table near the aisle, and I was next to the
rectangular windows looking out over the parking lot. Each student
had two assigned laptops in front of them, probably because the
teacher wanted the students to know how to protect two major laptop
operating systems from cyberattacks: Microsoft’s Windows and
Apple’s macOS. The class was full, with ninety-six students.

A private company,
Engineering Learning, taught our cybersecurity class at their
learning center on the third floor of a six-story office building
located in a high-tech office park. They had additional lecture and
laboratory rooms on the fourth floor for their electrical, computer,
mechanical, environmental, and civil engineering courses.

Different companies,
organizations, and government agencies sent their employees to these
specialized engineering courses for continuing education because
Engineering Learning had an excellent reputation. Our cybersecurity
class started at 9 a.m. on Monday and lasted until 5 p.m. on Friday
in late March.

Engineering Learning’s
website stated that all their teachers were certified in their
subject areas, and 85% of their students passed the corresponding
certification exam. Their website also emphasized that the learning
center was an excellent place to meet experienced engineers and
software developers in person and grow one’s professional network.

Our teacher resolved
the technical issue with his overhead projector and announced that
his name is Peng Li. He was a well-built, medium-height man with a
round, clean-shaven face. Mr. Li asked the students why cybersecurity
is critical. A young man stated that airport security information
must be protected from terrorists. A middle-aged woman answered that
corporations must protect their client information, such as names,
addresses, social security numbers, and credit card details, from
hackers.

I said that healthcare
providers and utilities like water, sewer, and electric companies
must protect themselves from ransomware hackers. The teacher asked
how I would define ransomware. I explained that hackers take control
of a computer server in a ransomware cyberattack and demand to get
paid millions of dollars in bitcoins before they release control of
the server computer. If they take control of a laptop, they will
demand to be paid less before they release the laptop. The hackers
demand bitcoin payments because it is difficult for government
agencies to trace bitcoins.

When Mr. Li praised my
concise answer, I smiled. Our teacher added that Colonial Pipeline
shut down its pipelines on the US East Coast for several days because
of a ransomware cyberattack in May 2021. As a result of the shutdown,
many gas stations ran out of gas in various southeastern states, like
Georgia. Colonial Pipeline paid the hackers with bitcoins, but the
hackers’ software to restore the server computer turned out to be
useless. Therefore, the software engineers at Colonial Pipeline found
a way to regain control of its server computer after a week. Colonial
Pipeline paid the ransomware hackers for nothing.

The teacher’s
PowerPoint presentation showed that cybersecurity referred to
technologies, processes, and practices designed to protect cell
phones, laptops, computer systems, networks, and databases from IT
attacks, accidental or malicious damage, and unauthorized access.

Jane and I walked
separately into the hallway during our morning break around 10:30
a.m. She had a well-rounded, athletic body. I was about one inch
taller than Jane and wore blue jeans with a red and blue striped
cotton shirt.

Late Monday afternoon,
the teacher gave us four cybersecurity questions as homework. He said
we could work in pairs and discuss the questions with our partner in
the classroom because this was our first assignment, and we could
learn from each other. The first question was: What should you do if
you receive an email from your bank promising to give you one hundred
dollars if you click on the enclosed computer button to take a
customer satisfaction survey?

I explained to Jane
that you should definitely not click on the button because
this email could be a malicious email that tries to infect your
laptop or cell phone with a virus or ransomware. Jane added that you
should check the sender’s URL email address, which can be different
from the sender’s email name like Bank of America. For example,
delete the email immediately if the bank’s (or sender’s) URL
email address looks like peg00021@bankjaja123.com. I replied that
even if the sender’s URL email looks reasonable, like
“bofa@notify.bofa.com”, call your bank to verify the email and
survey. Jane agreed with me and added that users should also install
antivirus software like SpyHunter, McAfee, or TotalAV (free software)
on their laptops or cell phones to protect them from malicious emails
and viruses. After our discussion, we answered the first
cybersecurity question separately on our Windows laptops.

As we discussed the
next three questions, I realized that Jane was smart and sharp.
During our morning break the next day on Tuesday, I invited Jane for
lunch. She thanked me for the invitation but said she had already
agreed to eat lunch with several other female engineers. We continued
to talk only about our coursework.

The learning center
also had a large lounge on the third floor where the students could
easily socialize with others during class breaks or before or after
class. The lounge had separate vending machines for drinks and
snacks, three leather couches, two beanbags, chess, checkers, and a
foosball table.

During our break on
Wednesday late morning, I met Jim Lanham in the lounge; Jim was
another student from the same class. We sat on the beanbags and
talked about mobile apps. I learned how to resolve a significant
mobile app security issue from Jim because he was intelligent and
knowledgeable. As we left the lounge, we exchanged business cards; he
worked as a senior software engineer at Google. We were five minutes
late for our class.

Before Jane and I left
the classroom for Thursday’s lunch, a strong young guy quickly
approached our classroom table and asked Jane out for lunch. I felt
jealous, but Jane also turned him down. I smiled to myself.

After our class had
ended on Thursday late in the afternoon, I played foosball with
another student, Stephen Rossero, in the lounge. Afterward, we
discussed some unique features of Microsoft Excel and PowerPoint
because Stephen was familiar with these two software packages. We
also exchanged business cards. Stephen was a manager on the user
interface team at Apple. When I returned to the classroom to pick up
my Windows laptop, Jane discussed a cybersecurity issue with our
teacher near his desk. I left the classroom to finish my homework in
my hotel room.

I never saw Jane in the
lounge at any time. She stretched her legs in the hallway during
breaks and always left the learning center right after finishing her
homework around 6 p.m. Our teacher, Peng Li, encouraged all students
to complete their homework in the classroom in case we had a question
about the homework or cybersecurity.

We took a practice
CompTIA Security+ exam on Friday morning. Jane scored 850 out of 900
possible points. I asked if she was an upper-level manager at an IT
company, but she replied no. I didn’t understand how Jane could get
such a high score on a difficult IT exam because she was not involved
in IT (Information Technology). My score was 840, but I still passed
the practice exam because the passing score was 750. Mr. Li
recommended that when we return home, we register online for the
actual CompTIA Security+ exam at a Pearson VUE onsite test center or
for the Pearson VUE online exam at our convenience. Pearson is a
leading computer-based testing company worldwide.

Mr. Li told us that
Engineering Learning would send us a $300 check to our home address
if we informed them on their website or mobile app within two months
that we passed the security exam and included the resulting
certification. I understood why Engineering Learning could claim on
their website that 85% of their students had passed the corresponding
certification exam.

I ate lunch on Friday
at Quick Cafe located on the first floor of our office building with
Jim Brown, another student in our class. Jim had a black forest ham
sandwich, while I had a well-done hamburger with a tomato, some
lettuce, and mustard. I noticed that Jane always ate lunch with eight
or ten other female students who attended either our cybersecurity
course or one of the engineering courses. Was Jane in a relationship
even though she wasn’t wearing a ring?

Our cybersecurity class
ended early at 3:30 p.m. on Friday because several students and the
teacher had to catch flights to go home. I wished Jane a good flight
home, and we said goodbye to each other.


Chapter
2:

Airport

On Friday evening,
around seven, I saw Jane sitting in a chair near gate eight in the
departure terminal of United Airlines. She wore a red dress with a
wide black belt. I wondered where she’d been in the afternoon
before this late-evening flight.

I sat down next to her
and greeted her, but she ignored me and continued typing on her cell
phone. After a few minutes, she put her phone into her purse and
looked straight ahead at the long hallway. I asked how she liked our
cybersecurity course, but she ignored me again. Why was Jane such a
cold fish since we sat next to each other in the classroom for five
days?

I said that the
sparkling necklace looked beautiful on her neck. Without looking at
me, Jane mumbled that it was a certified South Sea pearl necklace as
she continued to look straight ahead at the passengers walking down
the hallway. Realizing I knew little about necklaces or jewelry, I
changed subjects and told her I drove to the beach after our class
had ended and saw the college kids partying on their spring break.

Jane stood up.
Immediately, I realized that she didn’t want to talk to me. Should
I clarify my thoughts about spring break? As she lifted the handle of
her carry-on suitcase, I quickly remarked that I never went on a
spring break trip because I had to work to pay for my college
education.

Jane turned around and
asked where I had worked. I worked as a forklift operator in a
warehouse, as an assembly line factory worker on the second shift, as
an office assistant, and did other odd jobs during the academic year
and over the summer months. She sat down again and informed me that
she had worked as a waitress on weekends and as a part-time certified
medical billing specialist during the week to pay for her college
education.

When I informed her
that my college major was math, Jane smiled and said she’d also
majored in math. I continued our conversation, saying that I went on
to graduate school for my computer science degree at Carnegie Mellon
University in Pennsylvania. Jane replied that she went to graduate
school to study chemical engineering at Stanford University in
California. I worked as a math tutor to high school, middle school,
and elementary school students, in addition to my occasional odd jobs
when I was in graduate school. Jane had paid for her graduate degree
by working as a senior research associate for a chemistry professor
at Stanford University.

I often wondered if my
graduate degree in computer science was worthwhile because some high
school graduates made a lot of money in the IT field. Jane said that
the IT field might not require a college degree, but professional
jobs in law, engineering, medicine, or accounting did.

When I mentioned to
Jane that Catherine, a high school dropout, became a successful
lawyer, she wanted to find out how Catherine did it. I said it was a
long story, but Jane insisted I tell her the details about Catherine.
I explained that Catherine left her parents’ house 18 years ago,
when she was 16 years old, because she couldn’t stand her parents’
daily arguments about money and infidelity. These fights regularly
escalated to pushing, hitting, and throwing objects. She was an only
child. According to her aunt, Catherine’s parents eventually
divorced, and the legal costs destroyed them financially.

Jane asked about her
aunt. I knew about Catherine because my mother talked about her to me
over the years. One of our neighbors was Catherine’s aunt by
marriage. My mother walked with Catherine’s aunt, another full-time
mother, on our local streets once or twice, almost every month, for
many years.

“Where did Catherine
go after she had left her parents’ house?” Jane asked.

She stayed with a
girlfriend, but after three weeks, the girlfriend’s parents told
Catherine to leave their house. Catherine began to work at fast food
places like Burger King and boutique clothing retail stores like Look
Great. She cashed her payroll checks at local grocery stores or
check-cashing stores like Express Check Cash to pay for her food and
clothes and rent a room in different houses or apartments. Catherine
dropped out of high school in her sophomore year due to her part-time
jobs.

Jane remarked that
Catherine had to work to pay for her living expenses while many 16-
or 17-year-old girls joined a high school math or drama club or
marching band, played on a sports team, or went to parties.

Catherine visited the
local public library to study for the GED exam in her spare time.
When she turned eighteen, she passed the GED and received her high
school equivalency diploma.

Jane asked which law
school Catherine had attended, and when I replied that she didn’t
go to law school, Jane asked how Catherine could take the bar exam
and become a lawyer.

I said that Catherine
searched for new opportunities online and read an article about
paralegal jobs. This article also mentioned that California law
allowed a person to take the bar exam even if they didn’t go to a
law school, but they had to complete two years of college. The law
applicant also had to study law in a law office for 18 hours each
week for at least 48 weeks a year for four years. An accredited and
practicing California attorney must report on the applicant’s legal
education progress to the Bar Committee every six months.

Catherine decided to
grab this opportunity and looked for a job in a law office in
California, even though she lived in Springfield, Massachusetts;
however, she became frustrated because her job search was futile for
six months. Finally, she found a job as an office assistant at Smith,
Brown, and Nowak, a real estate law office in Los Angeles. Jane
remarked that Catherine’s persistence paid off.

I told Jane that
Catherine graduated from Los Angeles City College, a community
college, majoring in paralegal studies while working at the law firm.
She was promoted to a paralegal position and regularly stayed late in
the office, studying law. After four months, Julia Nowak, the only
female senior partner, volunteered to supervise Catherine’s legal
study at the law firm. Four years later, Catherine passed the bar
exam.

Jane remarked that
Catherine must be a smart cookie to pass the bar exam without
attending a law school. I informed Jane that Catherine opened a real
estate law office in San Diego, California, one year later, and her
law office became successful after three months. She also married a
handyman, bought a colonial house close to her law office, and had
three kids.

Just then, we heard the
boarding announcement. As Jane got up, I hastily gave her my business
card. She put my business card in her purse and said it was nice
talking to me. As Jane quickly walked to the gate, I remained in my
seat because I was still waiting for the announcement for my seat
section. I wondered why she hadn’t given me her business card or
phone number. Maybe Jane didn’t like my story about Catherine, the
high school dropout.

After about ten
minutes, I walked down the narrow, crowded plane aisle and noticed
that Jane was sitting in business class on the airplane. I greeted
her, but she ignored me while reading a stack of papers.

The young man sitting
next to her had black hair and wore a casual dress jacket over a blue
shirt. He was looking at colorful graphs and charts on his iPad. I
continued to my economy seat because several passengers waiting in
line behind me had become impatient when I had stopped. The airplane
was packed because it was the last plane back to my city that day.

The airplane took off,
and many passengers closed their eyes to doze because it was dark
outside. I wondered how much South Sea pearl necklaces cost, so I
paid ten dollars for the airplane’s Wi-Fi access and searched for
pearl necklaces on Google. When I saw several ads listing sparkling,
certified South Sea pearl necklaces over $20,000, I realized that
Jane was out of my league.

I wasn’t a successful
IT entrepreneur with a private jet, nor did I have the French look
like the guy sitting next to her in business class. I had receding
blond hair, narrow shoulders, and a slight stomach, and I was wearing
blue jeans with a red-striped cotton shirt.

Closing my eyes, I
dozed off for the rest of my flight.


Chapter
3:

Lunch

Seven days later on
Saturday around 12:20 p.m., I left my apartment to buy a new printer
at Best Buy because I had always liked the technical advice that the
employees had given me before. I passed many shopping centers and
traffic lights while driving down Route 56, a four-lane highway.

Ten minutes later, Jane
called me on my cell phone and invited me for lunch. I was surprised
but ecstatic, and I quickly asked her when.

“Today,” she said.

We agreed that one
o’clock would work, and we ended our phone call. I stopped in the
parking lot of the next small shopping center that had an appliance
store, a dry cleaner, a gym, and a Chinese restaurant. It also had an
art metal store that polished, repaired, and refinished metal goods,
according to the big letters on the store window. I found the Ocean
Salt restaurant address on my cell phone and turned my car around to
rush to the restaurant on Bennet Avenue.

The restaurant was
across the street from an upscale mall anchored by Bloomingdale’s
and Nordstrom. After parking in the large lot to the restaurant’s
right, I walked inside. A family with two young girls sat on a bench
in the short hallway before the hostess stand. Several women and men
sat on stools at the bar to the right behind the hostess stand.

But where was Jane? I
walked around. The restaurant was full of couples and families. It
had a high, beamed ceiling and three chandeliers, creating an upscale
atmosphere. There were many square tables with four chairs in the
middle of the dining room, booths seating six people on the right and
left sides, and the kitchen and restrooms in the back. The low-volume
background music was playing a country song.

I didn’t see Jane
anywhere, and the hostess told me they didn’t take reservations for
lunch. The time on my iPhone was 1:05 p.m.

I walked outside and
sat down on the grass in the shade near a large oak tree next to the
parking lot. Several cars came, but I didn’t see Jane getting out
of one. After ten minutes, I checked my iPhone, but she hadn’t
called. Another five minutes passed, and I still didn’t see her.

Had she stood me up? As
I picked up my cell phone from the grass to call her, I saw her in a
light green, V-neck solid ruffle hem smock dress stepping out of a
metallic silver Porsche. As she approached the front door, I quickly
got up, yelled her name, and waved.

Jane turned around and
smiled, and we greeted each other without embracing. She didn’t
wear the pearl necklace, but she wore sparkling round earrings. Maybe
diamonds? I told her she looked fabulous in her green dress and
earrings, and she thanked me for the compliment.

I remarked that her
Porsche looked like a 911. She corrected me and said that it was a
911 GT3. I said she could outrace a police car with her new Porsche,
just like in the movies. Jane replied that I was ridiculous because
the police would set up roadblocks. I realized that I had told the
wrong joke.

The hostess led us to
one of the square tables in the middle of the restaurant. I ordered
the mozzarella sticks and chicken salad, while Jane ordered the
calamari and Alaskan salmon.

I asked where she
worked. She was the lead chemical engineer at Vandane, a small drug
company. Jane asked if I was married; it turned out that we were both
single. She asked what I did last week. I worked for my own company,
writing mobile apps for Apple and Android cell phones, and sold my
apps to the public on my website and online stores like the App
Store, Google Play, and GetJar. The name of my company was Secure
Fast Inc.

Jane told me I had a
lot of guts to work for my own company, but I replied that I
struggled to make money and drove a 20-year-old Toyota Corolla. When
she remarked that entrepreneurs struggle financially as they develop
new software, I thanked her for understanding my situation.

As Jane ate her
calamari appetizer, I asked how her flight home had been because I
was jealous of the businessman who had sat beside her. It turned out
she’d felt uncomfortable because he had boasted he was in town to
make a ten-million-dollar IT deal and had asked her to dinner several
times.

“Pick up a woman for
the night at a hotel bar,” Jane finally advised the aggressive
salesman.

He’d gotten the
message and left her alone. I was happy that the young guy with the
French look had failed to have fun with Jane.

I asked why she wore an
expensive necklace to the airport, since most passengers fly in
casual clothes or worse. Jane bought the pearl necklace after our
class had ended on Friday and liked how it sparkled.

The waiter brought our
main dishes, and we began to eat them. I asked Jane why she took the
cybersecurity course since she was a chemical engineer. She wanted to
discuss IT security with Vandane’s IT contractor to ensure nobody
would steal their research work for their new drug.

Jane asked why I had
taken the IT course because I should know about cybersecurity as a
mobile app developer. I told her that the nonprofit group, IT Venture
Capital Education, gave me four vouchers for an IT security course
and the associated plane ticket, car rental, and hotel bill. Jane
said that everybody likes a free trip and a free course. I had won an
essay competition about mobile app development but paid a $200 entry
fee to submit my essay. Jane told me my vouchers were worth a lot
more than my entry fee.

I asked why she took an
onsite cybersecurity class instead of an online course. Jane wanted
to expand her professional network because she had always studied and
worked long hours. She had exchanged business cards with a female
environmental engineer, a female electrical engineer, and the female
founder of a small IT company with government contracts.

I told her that fate
had brought us together because we had flown to the same
cybersecurity course from the same city. Jane replied that
cybersecurity was a hot topic and asked if I had any siblings. My
younger sister was a dancer with minor roles in movies, TV ads, and
musicals. Jane’s two older brothers were engineers.

Our dessert came. Jane
had ordered turtle cheesecake, while I had ordered vanilla ice cream.
She suggested sharing our desserts, and I agreed.

Jane said she hadn’t
had the time to ask me last week at the airport if Catherine had
invited her parents to her wedding.

“You still remember
my story about Catherine?” I asked in a surprised voice.

“How could I forget a
high school dropout who became a successful lawyer and a married
mother with three kids?”

Catherine’s parents
didn’t attend her wedding, but her elderly uncle led her down the
aisle, although Catherine had to support him because he walked with a
cane. This uncle was married to the woman who regularly walked with
my mother.

Jane said that she was
happy that Catherine had kept a connection with her uncle, even
though she couldn’t reconcile with her parents.

When the waiter left
the lunch bill presentation folder near my plate, Jane wanted to pay
for our lunch because she had invited me. But I insisted on paying
for it to show Jane I had some money. When Jane offered to pay
the tip, I agreed with her. When the young, strong waiter returned my
credit card slip, I paid $95 for our lunch, but she left a $150 tip
in cash. I couldn’t compete with Jane when it came to money.

We said goodbye in the
parking lot without hugging. I asked if her Porsche was a new model.
Jane admonished me for being nosy but added that it was the latest
model from the dealer. Her Porsche quickly disappeared down the
street, and as I drove back to Best Buy, I cursed myself for not
inviting Jane to a follow-up movie or dinner.

When I finally arrived
at Best Buy, I decided to call Jane next week to see if she would be
interested in meeting again.


Chapter
4:

Kailo

When I was alone in my
apartment on Saturday evening, I saw ads on Google stating that the
base price of a new Porsche 911 GT3 was $161,100. According to
salary.com, lead chemical engineers make between $120,000 and
$180,000 annually.

Did Jane drive a new
Porsche and wear a South Sea pearl necklace to give the impression
that she was rich because she lived in a tiny one-bedroom condominium
somewhere? Of course, if Jane wasn’t interested in me, this was an
academic question.

I called Jane from my
apartment on Monday night, but she told me she was tired and quickly
ended our phone call. Lying on my full-size bed, I realized I was a
fool to tell her at our lunch that I struggled to make money and
drove an old Corolla. I should’ve impressed her by telling her I
would make a ton of money with my mobile apps. My current mobile app
was ideal for folks who wanted to sublet their single-family house or
apartment because their lease had not expired. Moreover, many people
only wanted short-term leases for many reasons, such as remodeling
their current home or selling it to buy a bigger one.

Jane didn’t call me
on Tuesday, Wednesday, or Thursday, and I figured she wasn’t
interested in me. But on Friday night around 10:00 p.m., she called
and asked how I was doing. I was surfing the Internet to get ideas
for a new mobile app that I could develop. She asked if I was
currently selling any mobile apps. Sales of my current sublet mobile
app had declined rapidly because I had released it 16 months prior.

Jane told me she had
enjoyed our lunch the previous Saturday, but she had been studying
for her CompTIA Security+ exam this week while going to work for two
days. Jane passed the security exam this morning because she had
taken several practice online exams over the previous days. I asked
why she cared about the CompTIA Security+ exam since she was a
chemical engineer. Jane explained that she might work as a
cybersecurity specialist one day if she got tired of being a chemical
engineer.

I quickly changed the
subject because I had not yet taken the exam, although I had casually
studied it for the last two weeks. I hastily mentioned that I had
read on Google that Kailo, a medical device, relieves a person’s
pain. Jane asked how it worked. Kailo is a noninvasive adhesive patch
you attach to your body wherever you have pain. It uses millions of
nanocapacitors, tiny electrochemical devices, that communicate
directly with the brain’s electrical system, telling it to reduce
the pain signal’s volume. Kailo can also be used for headaches.

Jane replied that she
would read about Kailo on Google and wondered if she would have to
return to school and learn electrical engineering. I always had to
learn new software and APIs in my IT field.

Jane asked if I would
like to play tennis with her at South Glen High School the next day
at 2:00 p.m. I accepted, and we ended our phone call. I had mixed
feelings about playing tennis because I would not be able to impress
her with my novice tennis skills. Still, I looked forward to the
match because I wanted to see her again.


Chapter
5:

Tennis

We played tennis for
fun on Saturday afternoon. We didn’t keep score because Jane was
better, but I patiently listened to her tennis tips and started to
improve. I wore my silver soccer shorts from my college days and a
blue-striped, short-sleeved shirt. I quit the college soccer team
during my freshman and sophomore years because I didn’t get enough
playing time. However, another student told me during my junior year
that I had made a huge mistake because the team was down to twelve
players. A soccer team has eleven players on the field.

Jane wore a short white
tennis skirt showing her firm, toned legs and a tight white blouse
that covered her round breasts. She had tied her brown hair into a
ponytail that flew from side to side. I had trouble keeping my eyes
on the tennis ball because Jane looked so damn sexy.

Ninety minutes later,
we walked back to the parking lot, and I invited Jane for a quick
lunch at my place the next day. She accepted and left in her new
Porsche.


Chapter
6:

Vista
Gardens

I lived in a small,
one-bedroom apartment at Vista Gardens. My apartment was on the top,
third floor with no elevator but a narrow, steep indoor stairway. It
had no balcony or coat closet, and I saw two three-floor apartment
buildings when I looked out of my living room and bedroom windows.

My dining table was in
the living room near the small kitchen with its old appliances. I had
a 24-inch LG Smart TV on a nightstand across from my dining table. I
had cut out pictures of cities and national parks from magazines and
calendars and pinned them to the white walls with thumbtacks. My
full-size bed filled my small bedroom with no nightstand and one
small kitchen chair.

On Sunday, ten minutes
before noon, I quickly picked up a takeout lunch from a Lebanese
restaurant near my apartment. Fifteen minutes later, Jane arrived at
my apartment and asked about my diagonal couch because it didn’t
fit between the wall near the window and the inside wall of the
living room. There was a large empty space behind the diagonal couch.
I explained that the couch was an artistic expression of the people’s
struggle at Vista Gardens. Jane asked if I was a socialist, and I
replied in the negative because I had picked up the couch from the
curb when the rental office evicted a neighbor from his apartment. I
gave the evicted neighbor forty dollars before a friend picked him up
in an old beat-up Chevy. Two neighbors from Peru helped me carry the
couch up to my apartment.

Jane remarked that I
showed compassion when I gave the evicted neighbor forty dollars for
his couch because I could have just taken it for free. She sat down
on a kitchen chair in my small living room. I had built the dining
table and bookshelf with my hands five years before. Jane was
impressed and remarked that my apartment looked like an
entrepreneur’s office with all the computer books and papers on the
table and floor.

We ate the chicken
shawarma salad next to the printed computer papers. As Jane ate a
falafel sandwich, I asked what music she liked. She listened to
country music, especially Reba McEntire and Lainey Wilson. I also
listened to country songs on my car radio and liked Ryan Hurd, Brad
Paisley, Tim McGraw, and many others. We both liked Johnny Cash and
Hank Williams.

Jane also liked Tammy
Wynette’s “Stand by Your Man”. I remarked that Hillary Clinton
criticized this song during her husband’s 1992 presidential
campaign because it promoted an old-fashioned view of women. Jane
pointed out that Hillary had stood by her husband during the Monica
scandal. We also liked Bach and Beethoven.

Jane said she liked the
falafel sandwich, but I should have asked if she wanted to eat
Lebanese food before our lunch. I apologized and asked what kind of
food she enjoyed. She liked fish, especially in Japanese restaurants
with their sushi. Jane asked what food I liked. I often ate fish
fillet, French fries, and apple pie from McDonald’s, but I also
enjoyed the chicken sandwiches at the Crispy Chicken restaurant
because they charbroiled their chicken. Jane had noticed a rice
cooker on my small kitchen counter. I explained that my family
doctor, Doctor Praveen Gupta, informed me that rice was healthy
because the stomach absorbed rice like a sponge.

Jane remarked that
Vista Gardens was a poor but hardworking immigrant neighborhood and
asked how long I had lived there. It had been about two years, but if
my next mobile app became successful, I would buy a big house, like
Aliyassoun Djibrilla had the prior week. Who was Aliyassoun? He was a
neighbor and friend from Benin, Africa, who had invited me to his
naturalization ceremony two months prior when he became an American
citizen.

Jane asked about the
naturalization ceremony because she had never attended one.
Aliyassoun’s extended family and friends had come to his ceremony.
All the men wore suits and ties, even the 3- and 5-year-old boys. All
the ladies and girls wore their best Sunday dresses. The other
African immigrants at the naturalization ceremony also wore their
best suits or dresses and proudly waved small American flags.

Toward the end of the
naturalization judicial process, an immigration official asked the
new citizens to stand up when she called their country of origin.
When the official called “France,” one immigrant, who sat alone,
stood, and I assumed he came without any relatives or friends. He
wore a sweatshirt, torn blue jeans, and sandals with no socks. He
looked annoyed that the naturalization ceremony had taken up his
valuable time.

Jane asked if there
were any immigrants from India. Yes, folks sitting in six or seven
rows of chairs stood up when the official called out “India.”

Jane asked if I had
worked with Aliyassoun on mobile apps. I said no because he worked
with IT databases. A friend of Aliyassoun told me last week that
Aliyassoun had resolved a critical Oracle database issue that had
completely puzzled his colleagues and managers for four days. Jane
remarked that Aliyassoun must be a brilliant software developer.

Aliyassoun had worked
hard and saved his money. After several years, he bought a big
colonial house in Brookville because it had excellent public schools
for his two young children. Jane said Aliyassoun lived the American
dream of economic opportunities.

Jane asked if I had
saved any money to buy a house. Since I had no savings, I replied
that I had expanded my technical skills by studying the software Zoho
Creator, which helps developers quickly write mobile apps for iPhones
and Android phones.

Jane looked at the
clock on her iPhone and explained that she had enjoyed our lunch but
had to pick up an old friend from Pomona College, California, at the
airport. Her girlfriend, Nichole French, was a pediatrician who
planned to stay with Jane for several days.

As she sat in her car
with the engine running, Jane apologized for being in a rush, but her
girlfriend would arrive at the airport in 25 minutes. I didn’t
reply, and she zoomed off down the street in her Porsche.

Did Jane make up the
story about picking up her girlfriend because she didn’t like my
small apartment as a lady with expensive tastes?

As I walked back to my
building, I remembered that Cole Saberi had quickly left my place
around 11 p.m. on a Saturday after she had seen the couch placed
diagonally in my small apartment. I met Cole Saberi at the Starbucks
near the courthouse. I greeted her as we stood in line because she
was a young and attractive woman. When I told her I was a software
developer, she asked me if Java and Python were object-oriented
computer languages. I replied in the affirmative.

We bought our coffees
and sat together at a table. Cole asked if I could explain an
object-oriented language. An object-oriented computer language
structures a software program into reusable pieces of code blueprints
(usually called classes), which create individual instances of an
object. Cole said a class sounds like the design of a row of houses,
and an instance of an object is like building a specific house. She
got it.

I asked if she worked
in IT. Cole was a senior lawyer at Kirk & Ellis, and one of her
major clients was an IT entrepreneur suing his partner for breach of
contract. She was eager to learn more about IT terms and source
control software like Git, CVS, and SVN because she wanted to
understand her client, a software developer, better.

Cole had accepted my
invitation for lunch the next day. At lunch, I impressed her with my
IT knowledge, and she accepted my invitation for a Saturday dinner,
where I talked about my company and my mobile app for tenants. After
dinner, she followed my car to my apartment in her Mercedes because I
would explain some of the online tutorials that I had used to learn
about IT.

Unfortunately, I never
had the chance to show Cole the online tutorials because she quickly
left my small apartment. I assumed Cole didn’t like my explanation
that my diagonal couch was an artistic expression of the people’s
struggle at Visa Gardens.

But Jane understood my
cosmopolitan perspective because she had said I had shown compassion
when I gave forty dollars to the evicted tenant. I decided to call
Jane this coming week to find out if she still wanted to go out with
me.


Chapter
7:

Artistic
Photographer

I called Jane on
Tuesday night, but she didn’t have the time to talk because she was
in a restaurant with some friends and colleagues celebrating her
birthday. When I began singing “Happy Birthday,” Jane ended our
call.

I called her again on
Wednesday night, but she told me she would call me on Friday night
because her pediatrician girlfriend would fly back to Charlotte,
North Carolina, on Thursday evening.

On Friday night, I
looked at my cell phone and saw it was 8:00 p.m. Would Jane call me?
I decided not to call her because I would look desperate on a
Friday night. I waited for my phone to ring, but it didn’t ring for
two hours. Was I wrong about Jane’s cosmopolitan outlook, and she
wouldn’t call me?

Finally, my phone rang
at 10:00 p.m., but it was a spam call. I nervously walked around my
apartment, and then my phone rang again. This time, it was Jane.

We discussed our
college and graduate courses as I lay on my full-size bed. I was
surprised to find out that Jane had taken three computer courses in
college, including a database course. She told me that her current
job required her to know Structured Query Language (SQL) commands to
retrieve chemical information from a MySQL database.

According to Google,
SQL commands allow a person to easily access, manage, modify, update,
control, and structure the data in a database, which is a collection
of information or data stored electronically in a computer system.

I told Jane I was
twenty-nine years old and asked her how many candles were on her
birthday cake. She had just turned twenty-eight.

I asked how her day had
gone. She had just talked to her mom about her cousin and his
girlfriend, who lived in a shack with an outhouse next to a forest in
Tennessee in the Great Smoky Mountains. Her cousin and his family
owned several chickens and planted vegetables like tomatoes and
cucumbers. But her mother didn’t know if they were involved in
illegal activities like moonshining or cigarette smuggling to pay
their living expenses. I had heard about these petty crimes occurring
in the Appalachian Mountains. Jane’s mother was concerned about the
well-being of their four homeschooled children.

I remarked that if
crazy Putin started a nuclear war, her cousin, and his family might
survive, but we would be dead in the cities and suburbs. Jane had
read an online article stating that humans would be wiped out in a
nuclear war like dinosaurs. Cockroaches would take over our planet
because nuclear radiation would have minimal impact on them.

I told Jane that I had
read several months ago an online article about a couple who traveled
to many countries with hardly any money. Jane asked if they slept in
a tent or a van. I replied that they stayed in luxury villas.

“How was that
possible if they had only a few dollars?” Jane asked.

I explained that the
couple advertised on their website that if a businessperson or
entrepreneur owned several villas, they would take excellent care of
the owner’s beautiful empty villa free of charge, while the owner
stayed at one of their other villas or penthouses. Their website
mentioned that if you left a luxury villa empty, squatters would move
in and destroy the property.

“What a creative
service,” Jane remarked.

I continued to explain
that their website also had a link to an article on Yahoo.com that
reported that over three hundred teenagers and young adults held a
huge unauthorized party in a ten-million-dollar mansion on Blackwater
Street in Santa Rosa, California, on Saturday night in early August.
The owners had left their mansion empty because they traveled to
Portugal for vacation for two weeks. A neighbor called the police
about the blaring rock music early Sunday morning, but when the
police arrived, the remaining teenagers quickly fled in different
directions. The neighbor called the owners to let them know what had
happened.

The wealthy couple flew
back to their mansion at once. The wife explained to the online
journalist that the teenagers ripped and stained her clothes and
handbags, and stole some of her jewelry. They also stole her
12-year-old son’s Yeezy sneakers and tore apart her 6-year-old
daughter’s dolls.

All the bed sheets in
their six bedrooms were dirty. Food crumbs, beer cans, and wine
bottles, some of them broken, were scattered throughout the mansion.
Several windows were broken, bathtubs were scratched, and three
toilets overflowed. According to the police, the burglars pried open
two locks in the backyard and left the front gate and door wide open
for everybody to walk into the mansion. They used fake names and
accounts to promote the open party on Instagram, YouTube, and TikTok.

“What about Airbnb?
If you rent it out with Airbnb, the mansion will not be empty,”
Jane remarked.

I said that the
couple’s website also contained a hyperlink to an online article on
consumeralert.com explaining a situation with Airbnb. Jill Javan, a
homeowner in Seattle, rented her house to Elizabeth Hirch for three
months until September via Airbnb. Jill lived in another house in the
same metropolitan area. Elizabeth refused to leave the house after
three months and stopped paying rent, claiming that the landlord did
not have the necessary building permit for the garden house in her
yard. The landlord sued Elizabeth, who counter-sued, claiming that
the landlord bullied and harassed her and her children to cover up
the fact that the landlord had broken the law by building an illegal
physical structure on the land. Airbnb said on consumeralert.com that
this issue is a third-party matter and does not involve the company
because the landlord gave the tenant a one-month extension to leave
her property, but the Airbnb contract was only for three months.
According to the article, a city investigator concluded that
Elizabeth has tenant protection because the house falls under the
Rent Stabilization Ordinance. After 22 months, the court still had
not decided on these two lawsuits.

Jane thought this
article could be a double-edged sword for this couple. I assumed they
always left the villas when asked because they wanted to keep their
outstanding reputation among the rich.

“How did this
traveling couple find the rich people with their empty villas?”
Jane asked.

I didn’t know, but I
assumed their names circulated among the rich folk by word of mouth.
Several multimillionaires mentioned on the couple’s website review
section that they had no problem giving them the keys to their cars.
They took the owner's car, like a Mercedes, Ferrari, Tesla, or
another luxury car, to the assigned mechanics for maintenance and
filled the luxury cars with gas or charged them if they were
electric. Other owners said they gave them pocket money for food
because they stocked their freezers and pantries with the right
healthy food, and everything was ready when the wealthy owners and
their families returned to their empty villas.

Jane exclaimed that it
was remarkable that they stayed in luxury villas, drove fancy,
expensive cars, and ate high-end food for free worldwide. I explained
that one multimillionaire complained in the couple’s review section
that he had to send a limousine to Saint-Tropez, France, to pick them
up and convince them to take care of his empty beach villa in
Barcelona, Spain, because they already had a request to stay in
another empty beach villa in Plage de Cavalière, France. Another
multimillionaire mentioned that he had to pay for their economy-class
airplane tickets to Sydney, Australia; otherwise, they would have
stayed in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, to take care of another empty
villa.

Jane remarked that this
moneyless couple turned the tables on the rich folk, who had to
compete for their services with more benefits. I remarked that they
knew how to travel and live on pennies.

Jane asked if this
traveling couple had any children. They didn’t mention any children
on their website. Jane explained that the wealthy people didn’t
want strange children in their luxury villas because the children
could easily break expensive items like vases or paintings and create
a mess. I agreed.

Jane asked why this
couple traveled so much. I informed her that Bryan Segal, the
husband, was an artistic photographer who wanted to travel all over
the world to catch the artistic moments in diverse cultures in his
photos. His website displayed his creative photos from Italy, Spain,
France, Indonesia, China, Japan, Argentina, Brazil, Morocco, Egypt,
Mexico, India, Australia, and other countries.

Jane asked about his
wife. His common-law wife, Nancy Black, posted many videos on their
website and YouTube showing her playing the violin on sidewalks, in
plazas, and in nature, like a meadow or forest, in different
countries. Although many people enjoyed her violin music on YouTube,
she stated on their website that she would never play in an orchestra
because it was an artificial setting. Her husband, the artistic
photographer, said on their website that he posted his photos only on
their website and in free public exhibitions, but he would never sell
them because he didn’t want to corrupt his artistic work.

According to a counter
on their website, over 10,000 people had donated money to them. I
gave them five dollars via PayPal because they were wandering artists
who could not be bought with money.

“You have a romantic
view of life,” Jane remarked.

“Don’t you?”

“I have realistic
dreams,” Jane replied.

“You seem to be
highly successful in your career.”

Jane ignored my last
comment and asked how I found out about this remarkable artistic
couple. I came across their website because I often surfed the
Internet searching for new opportunities to develop a mobile app. I
contacted them earlier about developing a new mobile app, but the
wife had responded that they already had one. However, she sent me a
video of her playing the violin in a meadow in Chile.

Jane thought I was a
dynamic entrepreneur who always chased new opportunities. When I
replied that I tried my best to survive financially, Jane told me we
could talk more the next day, Saturday afternoon, because she was
tired.

After we hung up, I
wondered if Jane would call me on Saturday because I had said the
wrong things about surviving financially.


Chapter
8:

Saturday
Afternoon

I anxiously waited for
Jane’s phone call on Saturday, but it didn’t happen. I swallowed
my pride and called her around 5:00 p.m. Jane answered her phone and
asked how my day was. I finally bought a new HP color printer from
Best Buy. Jane had an Epson wireless all-in-one color printer.

Jane asked what movies
I liked. I enjoyed Parasite, especially the scene where the
low-income family struggled in their basement apartment when it
flooded. A comparable situation occurred in Brooklyn, New York City,
where at least eleven people died when their basement apartment
flooded because of an intense storm in September 2021. Jane replied
that it was terrible how the working poor, many of them immigrants,
struggled to survive every day.

Jane liked the movie
Darkest Hour and remarked that the President of Ukraine,
Volodymyr Zelenskyy, was like Churchill, who courageously stood up
and won against Hitler in World War II. I replied that we didn’t
know yet how the war in Ukraine would end. Putin will win if the US
gets cold feet and closes its eyes and ears, as it did in the 1930s
with Hitler in Europe and the Japanese military in Asia.

When I asked Jane if
she wanted to see a movie that night, she asked what was available.
After searching for several minutes on Google, I replied that we
could see A Rich American Family, which portrayed how an
18-year-old girl from a wealthy family fell in love with a penniless
refugee in 1923. Jane liked romantic movies, and we agreed to meet at
the movie theater at 7:00 p.m.


Chapter
9:

Movie

The movie theater was
next to various restaurants in Pool Side, a neighborhood in the
cultural district of our city. Jane wore a tight green skirt with a
red blouse, high-heeled shoes, and a necklace with a sparkling stone
that looked like a diamond at the end of a golden chain. I wore my
regular blue jeans with a blue-striped cotton shirt.

During the previews, I
put my hand on her bare left knee, but Jane quickly pushed my hand
away. In frustration, I ate a lot of popcorn. Luckily, I still had
some popcorn left for Jane because I had bought the super-sized bag.
A few minutes later, the movie started and showed in black-and-white
film frames some terrible documentary events in Smyrna, Turkey, in
September 1922.

In the next scene, the
movie showed an attractive young woman who worked as a receptionist
at the YMCA in White Plains, New York, on a Saturday afternoon on
January 6th, 1923. As Jane ate the popcorn, I put my arm around her
shoulders, but she abruptly shook her shoulders and pushed my arm
away with her elbow.

She told me that she
wanted to see the movie. Was Jane afraid of what I would do in the
dark movie theater because she had bad experiences with aggressive
men like the guy in the airplane?

I also decided to focus
on the movie because I would invite her to the ice cream shop that I
saw down the street. If we had an enjoyable conversation about the
movie, I would ask Jane for dinner next week.

In the movie, three
middle-aged female customers complained to the YMCA receptionist
about a large Coca-Cola spill in the main hallway. The receptionist
stood up and told the upset customers in a calm and friendly voice
that she would take care of the problem. She had a lithe and graceful
figure, long black hair, and her oval face looked innocent but
enthusiastic and lively.

The receptionist found
the young, narrow-shouldered janitor near the swimming pool and told
him about the Coca-Cola spill. However, he stared at her with round
eyes and slim cheeks and did nothing. The receptionist complained
about the janitor to the YMCA manager in his office. The manager
explained that the YMCA had sponsored the janitor in the U.S. as a
political refugee because YMCA representatives were in Smyrna,
Turkey, to help the refugees who had escaped the massacres in
September 1922.

Militia groups had
murdered his parents, two sisters, and a brother in cold blood as
they tried to escape the fierce fire at their farm that crazy militia
groups had deliberately set. Our janitor escaped because he was a
fast runner and swimmer. The manager suggested that the receptionist
give the janitor a break because he was still learning English.

The receptionist
returned to the janitor and rolled the mop bucket to the Coke spill.
Once the janitor saw it, he eagerly cleaned it up. The young woman
pointed her index finger at her chest and said, “Isabella”. The
janitor pointed his index finger at his chest and said,
“Kostantinos”.

The next day at the
YMCA, on Sunday afternoon, Isabella said good afternoon to
Kostantinos with a big smile. He returned her smile but didn’t say
anything. Isabella had to repeat the words “good afternoon”
several times until Kostantinos could pronounce them. Isabella
slightly pulled her red shirt with her fingers and said, “Shirt”.
Kostantinos pronounced the word shirt correctly the first
time.

After her high school
classes had ended, Isabella took a taxi to the YMCA to work at the
front desk, teach Kostantinos English, and show him the Latin-English
alphabet. Isabella then took another taxi back to her parents’
house.

On Saturday night,
during dinner in their mansion’s large dining room, Audrey, a slim
woman of medium height, asked her daughter, Isabella, why she had
suddenly started going to the YMCA every day after school. Audrey
wore an ankle-length red dress, and her cheerful white face was round
with a small, straight-bridged nose. Audrey looked like a foxy lady
who could twist situations to her advantage.

Isabella replied to her
mother that she liked helping customers with questions and resolving
any issues. She didn’t mention Kostantinos. Her mother asked if her
YMCA work interfered with her high school homework since she came
home after 6:30. However, Isabella always finished her homework on
time.

Mr. Martin Martinez,
her father, was of medium height with broad shoulders and a slight
stomach, and he sat at the end of the rectangle dining table. His
square, light-brown face was clean-shaven, but his cheeks were
craggy, and his eyes were transparent and round. He wore a gray suit
without a tie. Martin looked like a dominating middle-aged man who
made quick decisions.

Martin remarked that it
was great that Isabella had volunteered at the YMCA because she got
some real work experience and was not simply reading books in high
school. He added that he and his wife had donated $600 to this YMCA
chapter in December 1922. The movie showed at the bottom of the
screen that $600 in 1922 was worth about $10,700 in 2023.

Isabella continued to
work at the YMCA and teach Kostantinos English at least four times a
week, including weekends. Kostantinos was an eager student who
quickly learned the language. He taught Isabella several Greek words,
like Καλημέρα (good morning), έξυπνο
(smart), αυτοκίνητα (cars), and φτιάχνω
(fix), and showed her the Greek alphabet.

Isabella told
Kostantinos that she was eighteen; Kostantinos was nineteen. Isabella
also taught Kostantinos several Spanish words and phrases that she
had learned from her dad, whose family came from Mexico. Her mother
spoke English but had also learned some Spanish from her husband.

Two months later, on
March 10th, 1923, Isabella and her mother picked Kostantinos up at
the train station on a rainy Saturday afternoon. They drove
Kostantinos to their mansion in Scarsdale, New York, a wealthy
neighborhood. Their mansion had a 70-yard driveway and several Roman
columns at the front.

Isabella introduced
Kostantinos to her father, Mr. Martin Martinez, who stood before the
fireplace in their luxurious living room as two logs burned in the
grate. After some small talk, Martin found out that his daughter’s
boyfriend was a penniless immigrant off the boat who lived in a
boarding house. Martin asked Kostantinos if he had lied to his
daughter with fancy, romantic words because he didn’t want to work
as a janitor at the YMCA.

Immediately, the poor
but proud immigrant turned around to leave the living room. Isabella
loudly advised Kostantinos to ignore her dad’s remarks because he
didn’t know how to react to her first boyfriend.

Kostantinos turned
around again, looked at Isabella, and asked her to come with him
because they loved each other. But Isabella begged Kostantinos to
stay because she wanted to be with him. When Kostantinos replied that
he didn’t want her dad’s corrupt money and mansion, Isabella
began to cry hysterically.

“You destroyed your
daughter’s smile and happiness,” the poor immigrant yelled as he
pointed at her rich dad standing near the fireplace.

“Get out of my
house!” Martin angrily shouted at Kostantinos as he pointed towards
the door.

The young immigrant had
to walk four miles in the chilly rain to the railroad station.

Isabella explained to
her parents, who continued to stand in the living room, that her
boyfriend had become a skilled car mechanic. Her father replied that
the YMCA janitor deceived her with empty promises because he knew
they were rich. His daughter explained that Kostantinos, in his free
time, helped Henry, who maintained and fixed cars near the YMCA.
Henry didn’t pay Kostantinos for his assistance, but he taught him
about cars free of charge.

Martin asked his
daughter if she had seen this lying drifter fix a car. His daughter
corrected her dad and told him that Kostantinos was not a lying
drifter but her boyfriend. Martin lectured Isabella that she was too
young to have a boyfriend because she didn’t know when a shiftless
bum had lied to her. Immediately, her mother grabbed her daughter’s
right arm to stop her from approaching and confronting her dad. After
Mr. Martin had left the living room, Audrey instructed her daughter
to go to her bedroom because everything would be fine in a few days.
The daughter ran upstairs to her bedroom and slammed her door shut.

Isabella came home
around 7:00 p.m. on Monday. In the hallway, Mr. Martinez asked his
daughter where she had been; Isabella had been working at the YMCA.

Mr. Martinez angrily
forbade his daughter to go to the YMCA and see the desperate bum.

“I hate you; I hate
you!” Isabella yelled as she hit her dad on the chest with both
fists.

As her father tried to
grab both of her wrists to defend himself, Isabella quickly turned
around and ran upstairs to her large bedroom. Her mother followed
her, but Isabella kept her bedroom door locked while cursing her dad.

Lying on their
king-size bed in her pajamas, Audrey told her husband around 10 p.m.
that their daughter had threatened to run away the following day. Her
husband said that Isabella was just excited and that she wouldn’t
give up her comfortable life in their mansion. But Audrey explained
that Isabella was dead serious because she was in love, and she
didn’t want her daughter to sleep on the streets where a stranger
could rape her. Martin angrily replied that her accusation was unfair
because he didn’t want his daughter to be raped either.

“In that case, we
must allow our daughter to go to the YMCA,” the wife calmly
replied.

The husband yelled at
his wife that this penniless bum would lounge around in their living
room all day long doing nothing. Audrey said that Kostantinos learned
about cars in his spare time and without pay.

“This janitor doesn’t
love our daughter but uses her to live off our money.”

“If Kostantinos were
a conniving bum, he would have flattered you, but he talked back to
you in our living room last Saturday,” Audrey replied.

Her husband remained
silent. Audrey reminded her husband that her parents weren’t happy
when she introduced him to them because he had only finished
elementary school. Her husband replied that he had already told her
several times that he had to work when he was eleven years old
because his family was poor and oppressed.

Audrey replied that
they’d bought a big house for his parents several years earlier and
that her parents eventually supported their marriage because they
were in love.

“I’m going to think
more about this immigrant boy to make you happy,” Martin finally
conceded to his wife.

Audrey kissed her
husband and spoiled him as a woman. The following morning, Audrey
told her daughter through the locked bedroom door that she could see
her boyfriend on Friday night at the YMCA. Isabella quickly opened
her bedroom door and tightly embraced her mother. Audrey told her
daughter to hurry and get ready for school.

The next evening, on
Tuesday, Isabella told Kostantinos at the YMCA that she couldn’t
stay but would see him on Friday. He was unhappy, but Isabella
explained they had to be patient until her father calmed down. On
Friday night, Isabella met Kostantinos at the YMCA again and asked
Kostantinos to apologize to her dad.

“I will not apologize
to that crazy old fool,” Kostantinos yelled.

Isabella explained how
her father had earned his money and told Kostantinos that if he loved
her, he would apologize to her dad. After an intense ten-minute
argument, Kostantinos reluctantly agreed to apologize to her dad but
asked if her awful dad would accept his apology. Isabella replied
that he should not worry about her dad because his initial reaction
was always adverse, but eventually, he always came around.

On Saturday afternoon,
the proud refugee swallowed his pride and told Isabella’s dad in
the living room of their mansion that he was sorry he had said his
money was corrupt. He said these words in the heat of the moment
because he didn’t know that Mr. Martinez had created many
high-paying jobs in his factories that manufactured airplanes and
parts since 1912.

Staring directly at
Kostantinos with stern eyes, Mr. Martinez replied that he didn’t
know that Kostantinos was a skilled car mechanic who could fix their
Bay State car, which hadn’t started since the week before. The Bay
State was their third car in the garage. Kostantinos would borrow
some car tools from Henry’s Repair Shop and look at the car the
following day. Isabella’s mother called and paid for a taxi to
drive Kostantinos to the railroad station.

It occurred to me
during this scene that the rich dad tested this poor immigrant like a
king in a fairy tale tested a peasant who dared to try to marry the
king’s beautiful daughter.

Kostantinos began to
work on the Bay State car in Isabella’s dad’s garage on Sunday
around 8:30 a.m. He used a public bus and a train and walked four
miles to reach Isabella’s mansion. Two hours later, Isabella’s
mother drove the poor refugee back to Henry’s Repair Shop to get
new parts and more tools.

Isabella nervously
walked around the mansion’s living room, recreation room, basement,
kitchen, dining room, and bedrooms. She randomly yelled that they
would run away and open a car repair shop because they didn’t need
her dad’s money.

Her father was busy in
his study room with his door locked to avoid his daughter’s
aggressive accusations. His wife kept telling their daughter that
Kostantinos was making considerable progress but warned her not to
disturb him.

After four hours,
Kostantinos entered the living room and announced that he had fixed
the car. Immediately, the daughter ran outside and saw the car idling
in front of their house. She jumped in and drove the car in their
circular driveway, happily yelling at her dad that Kostantinos had
fixed our car.

Kostantinos explained
that he had to replace the electric starter and that there was a
faulty electrical connection that was difficult to find. Mr. Martinez
shook hands with Kostantinos in the driveway, but still frowned at
the young man and didn’t embrace him. Isabella’s mother embraced
Kostantinos and welcomed him into their family.

Isabella ran up to her
dad and tightly hugged him as the rich dad lovingly smiled at his
feisty and happy daughter. After 15 minutes, Isabella and her mother
drove Kostantinos to the railroad station in the fixed Bay State car
because several guests, including a significant client, were coming
for dinner that night.

The following Wednesday
night, Isabella met Kostantinos at his boarding house. She tried to
give him $300 in cash (equivalent to about $5,350 in 2023) to rent a
lovely two- or three-bedroom apartment in a well-to-do neighborhood
in White Plains. However, Kostantinos refused to accept it because he
didn’t want to take any money from her dad. Isabella explained that
the money came from her mother, who always liked him. Her boyfriend
accepted the money and told her they should both look for a lovely
apartment. Isabella kissed him on the mouth, and he passionately
returned her kiss. When he touched her skirt near her feminine
treasure, Isabella broke away from him, explaining that she had to
live at home until they were married. Kostantinos reluctantly agreed.

Isabella told her
fiancé to quit his YMCA job and learn as much as he could about cars
at Henry’s Repair Shop, but Henry didn’t pay him anything.
Isabella said that he didn’t have to worry about money anymore
because her mother would support him with money until their wedding.
Isabella also explained that her parents wanted her to delay her
marriage until next year, but she convinced them to agree to a
wedding at the end of the following month because they were in love.

Kostantinos happily
agreed to Isabella’s demand to quit his janitorial job at the YMCA
and learn more about cars at Henry’s Repair Shop.

The following Saturday,
Kostantinos ate dinner with the family at their mansion. The
housekeeper, a middle-aged white woman, cooked and served their
dinner of crab soup, tossed salad, steak, and potatoes. Her husband
was the chauffeur and gardener.

Isabella wore a diamond
engagement ring. Martin asked Kostantinos where he got the money for
this expensive ring. Kostantinos explained that he had borrowed some
money from Henry, the garage owner; Ms. Browning, the owner of the
boarding house; Mr. Kaminski, the manager at the YMCA; and several
guys at his boarding house. Martin remarked that they gave you money
because they knew that you would marry the daughter of a wealthy
family.

As Isabella raised her
hand and admired her diamond ring, she told her dad, “I don’t
care how my fiancé paid for my beautiful engagement ring.”

Audrey quickly changed
the subject and asked her son, Santiago, about his engineering
courses at MIT (Massachusetts Institute of Technology). The family
began to talk about his courses. Audrey explained to Kostantinos that
her son came home during MIT’s spring break because he also worked
part-time in his dad’s airplane factories. Santiago was a tall and
lean young man with black hair and a round, friendly face, but with
serious eyes. He wore a blue sweater with gray dress pants.

As the family ate
dessert, Martin announced that his wife and daughter had convinced
him to give his daughter $25,000 (equivalent to $446,900 in 2023) to
set up a car repair shop as a wedding gift. Kostantinos asked who
would own the repair shop. Martin explained that his wife and
daughter would own the car repair shop because his focus was on the
profitable airplane factories.

But Kostantinos refused
to work at the car repair shop because he wasn’t consulted about
this new business. Immediately, Isabella explained to her fiancé
that they should be grateful to her father because he had given them
enough money to buy land and build a warehouse and a repair shop for
motorcycles next to their new car repair shop. If they collected rent
from these other businesses, they would have the money to open more
car repair shops.

Her father asked why
she had mentioned a warehouse. Isabella explained that she had read
about Sears, a mail-order catalog company, in Good Housekeeping
Magazine. She assumed that Sears would require warehouses to
store the items they would sell and ship via catalogs.

“What if Sears
doesn’t want to do business with us?” her father asked.

“We can build
self-storage units where people can store their furniture and other
belongings,” Isabella replied.

Mr. Martinez proudly
remarked that Isabella had his entrepreneurial spirit, and he would
give her $60,000 as a wedding gift (equivalent to $1,072,000 in
2023). Buying land in a premium location was a safer investment than
the stock market. Isabella, the sweet 18-year-old girl, ran up to her
dad and tightly hugged him in gratitude.

“If my treasure is
happy, I’m happy,” Martin said as he looked at Kostantinos,
implying that Kostantinos better keep his daughter happy.

When Isabella sat down
again, she asked her fiancé if he still refused to work in their
family-run car and motorcycle repair shops. Kostantinos protested
that he didn’t know anything about motorcycles. Isabella explained
that they would hire mechanics, and Kostantinos would be the boss,
running their car and motorcycle businesses.

When Kostantinos asked
who would run the warehouses, Isabella said they would hire a person
to run their warehouses, but he would report to Kostantinos, who
would be a big boss running several family businesses. Her mother
would be the accountant for these new businesses. Mr. Martinez nodded
his head in agreement.

Isabella’s fiancé
remained silent at the dinner table, but Isabella’s brother,
Santiago, explained that Kostantinos could open two or more car
repair shops in the next six months because many people were buying
cars in 1923, especially the Ford Model T.

I whispered to Jane
that Isabella’s brother encouraged Kostantinos to open car repair
shops because he wanted to inherit the airplane factories. Jane
nodded.

Finally, Kostantinos
asked Isabella how much she would pay him to work at the repair shops
and warehouses. Immediately, Mr. Martinez remarked that the young
couple must reinvest their profits in their new family-run
businesses. Audrey added that her husband was right, but Kostantinos
said that if they didn’t pay him, how could he support his family?
Audrey clarified that Kostantinos would get the minimum mechanic’s
wage because we must grow our family businesses. Kostantinos wanted
one-third ownership in the new family businesses because he would
work long hours to make them successful.

“That’s fair,”
Audrey replied.

Mr. Martinez added that
if his wife and daughter wanted to give part of their ownership
shares to Kostantinos, that was their business because he and
Santiago were busy with the airplane factories. Isabella remarked
that she would be happy to give part of her ownership shares to her
fiancé because we would set up joint bank and financial accounts.

“That’s an
excellent idea with the joint bank accounts,” Audrey said as she
nodded.

It occurred to me in
this movie scene that Audrey would keep Kostantinos on a tight leash
with the joint bank and financial accounts and work as the accountant
for the new family-run businesses. However, Audrey liked Kostantinos
and would be more like a loving substitute mother who would ensure
that her future son-in-law didn’t make any stupid personal or
business decisions.

Kostantinos said he’d
never had a bank account. Audrey explained that she and her husband
owned joint personal and corporate financial accounts because they
used her three houses as collateral to get a favorable bank loan for
her husband to build an airplane factory in January 1912.

Martin explained that
his wife was lucky because she had received three colonial houses
from her parents in a trust fund at birth, just in case something
happened to them. However, Audrey’s parents weren’t happy about
the airplane factory. They had warned his wife not to expect more
houses from them if the bank took over her three existing houses
because the airplane factory had failed. Audrey replied that she
still owned and collected rent on her three houses. Martin admitted
that her rental income also transferred into their joint financial
accounts.

Audrey explained that
her parents owned twelve houses and thirty apartment buildings when
she worked for them as a part-time accountant while she was in
college. But she didn’t know how much they now owned via their real
estate businesses because her college-educated brother-in-law took
over her accounting tasks when she married.

Martin remarked that
Audrey’s parents told her right before their wedding that she would
throw her fate and future into the hands of a reckless,
Spanish-speaking, poorly educated pilot without any money.

“My husband now owns
three airplane factories, and we live in a mansion in Scarsdale,”
Audrey proudly said.

I wondered if they
lived in a bigger house than Audrey’s parents. Martin mumbled that
his in-laws were born rich because they inherited many acres of
farmland and forest. His wife defended her parents by saying that
they sold their farmland and one-fourth of their forest. They used
the money to build many rental houses and apartment buildings in
Queens and Brooklyn, New York City, and also in Long Island. However,
they put the three-fourths of their forest into a trust to preserve
it for future generations. Isabella liked her grandparents because
they always praised her good grades in school, and, Audrey explained,
they briefly visited her parents over the holidays and summer months.
Isabella asked her mother to tell her fiancé how she had met her
husband.

Audrey had gone to an
airplane show in Belmont Park, New York, with her female college
friends because airplane shows were new and cool events in 1910. When
she saw a daring pilot, she decided to talk to him after the show
because she wanted to find out if he had been scared to fly all those
dangerous maneuvers. Martin’s response shocked Audrey because he
told her he had no choice because Smith and Bill Company, one of the
event sponsors, had ordered him to fly their airplane dangerously to
impress the vast crowd.

Audrey explained that
her husband stopped flying airplane shows after our marriage because
she didn’t want to have a dead or disabled husband. They survived
on her rental income. Martin remarked that he found a job as an
airplane repair mechanic several months later because he didn’t
want to live off the wealth of his wife’s parents. Audrey added
that my husband provided for his family with his handyman skills. Two
years later, Martin convinced his wife to risk her three houses for a
loan to build an airplane factory.

Santiago remarked that
his mother had graduated from Barnard College in New York City with a
major in accounting. Martin boasted that he took the initiative and
used his handyman skills to build an airplane from scratch in 1911.

Santiago explained to
Kostantinos that they had moved to their current mansion in 1919
after they had sold many airplanes and airplane parts to the French,
British, and American governments during World War I, which started
in 1914 and lasted four years. Looking uncomfortable, Martin quickly
added that they had also sold airplanes to civilians, including
entrepreneurs who bought airplanes to carry mail, cargo, and
passengers.

When Audrey asked
Kostantinos if he had any more questions, he replied that Isabella
and he would work hard and smart to make the new family businesses
successful. Kostantinos had to swallow some of his pride to marry
Isabella. But he realized that he would be much better off living in
a spacious apartment with a beautiful and lovely wife while he worked
as a big boss than being a janitor at the YMCA and living in a
boarding house.

Suddenly, Mr. Martinez
got up from his chair at the end of the table, walked over to
Kostantinos, and gave him an envelope. Kostantinos saw a stack of
one-hundred-dollar bills in the envelope and asked what was going on.

Mr. Martinez sat down
in his chair again and told Kostantinos that he could keep the $5,000
in the envelope if he left their mansion right then and never talked
to their daughter again. At the bottom of the screen, the movie
showed that $5,000 in 1923 was equivalent to around $90,000 in 2023.

Immediately, Isabella
angrily accused her dad of destroying her happiness. As Kostantinos
stared at the envelope, Santiago asked him if he would take the money
and run.

“I will definitely
marry your daughter because I love her,” Kostantinos forcefully
said as he threw the envelope containing the money toward Martin.

Isabella leaned over
and kissed her fiancé near his mouth while Audrey smiled, nodding
her head, and Santiago gave Kostantinos a thumbs-up.

But Martin stared at
his dessert plate. Everybody anxiously looked at him, waiting to hear
what he would say.

Twenty seconds later,
he looked at his daughter, smiled, and announced that the young
couple would have a fantastic wedding at the end of next month.

Isabella ran to Audrey
and hugged her mother, telling her they would be busy preparing for
her wedding. Her mother would gladly help with the wedding ceremony,
but she reminded her daughter that she must finish high school in the
spring. Isabella promised to study hard and look for a local college
for the fall semester of 1923.

Audrey was proud of her
daughter and son because they would finish college like she did.

Isabella’s father got
up from his chair and walked toward the middle of the table, where he
politely asked Kostantinos to stand up. He reluctantly stood up. Mr.
Martin Martinez warmly embraced his future son-in-law and welcomed
him to their family. Kostantinos Hadj happily smiled.

The movie ended on this
positive note.


Chapter
10:

Ice
Cream Shop

We left the movie
theater and walked down the wide sidewalk. I suggested getting some
ice cream when we passed the ice cream shop with several small tables
inside. Jane got mint chocolate chip and strawberry in a cup, while I
got vanilla and mango. We put sprinkles on top and got two glasses of
water.

We sat down next to a
wall with a huge painting of an officer leading his troops toward a
fortress. Jane asked who the officer was. The inscription below the
painting displayed the words, Battle of Quebec. I searched for this
battle on my iPhone and explained to Jane that General Richard
Montgomery invaded Canada during the American Revolution. But the
Canadians killed him in the Battle of Quebec on December 31, 1775.
After the general died in battle, his troops returned to their
families in the United States. Jane thought most ordinary soldiers
had no incentive to invade another country because they wanted to be
home with their families.

As we ate our ice
cream, I asked Jane what she thought about the movie. She liked it
because Kostantinos took the initiative to learn how to repair cars
after he arrived in America in 1922. He didn’t look back and fall
apart, even though militia fanatics had brutally murdered his parents
and siblings.

I didn’t know
anything about the 1922 events in Smyrna, Turkey, where violent
militias massacred Greeks and Armenians. Jane didn’t know anything
about the massacre either, but she never liked political leaders who
stirred up people with nationalistic slogans to cover up their
incompetence.

I liked the movie
because it showed how someone like Kostantinos could get rich by
marrying into a wealthy family. Jane replied that Isabella’s mother
liked and helped Kostantinos because he dared to talk back to her
impulsive husband when Isabella introduced him to her parents.

A second way to get
rich was to sell weapons to a government, as Martinez did when he
sold airplanes to three governments during World War I, when millions
of soldiers were killed or seriously injured. Jane explained that
Martin didn’t sit back and live off his wife’s rental income, but
he quickly learned how to repair airplanes on the job and opened an
airplane factory.

A person was also rich
if born into a wealthy family, like Audrey, who owned three houses
upon birth. Jane replied that you cannot condemn Audrey because she
was born rich. However, she risked her three houses, so her husband
could get a favorable bank loan and build an airplane factory that
created many high-paying jobs. She stuck to her business decision,
even when her parents warned her that they wouldn’t bail her out if
the airplane factory failed.

I admitted that both
Audrey and Isabella revolted against the wealth of their families
because they chose and fell in love with poor outsiders. Jane
explained that Audrey and Isabella were attractive, dynamic, and
clever ladies who didn’t want to become trophy wives to wealthy,
established men or playboys.

I liked the ending when
Martin embraced Kostantinos because Martin realized that Kostantinos
would work from dawn to dusk to make the new family businesses
successful—just like he did. They also both only finished
elementary school in the 1910s and 1920s. However, Santiago,
Isabella, and Audrey had gone to college because they came from
wealthy families.

Jane said chemical
engineers who developed new drugs required a lot of higher education.
University professors and graduate students developed many
inventions, such as Google, which began at Stanford; web browsers and
plasma screens, which were invented at the University of Illinois;
and the allergy medicine Allegra, which started at Georgetown
University.

Steve Wozniak and Steve
Jobs developed the first Apple PC in a garage, and scientists at Bell
Labs invented the transistor, the UNIX operating system, the C
programming language, and many other products. Jane replied that
almost all scientists who had worked at Bell Labs had advanced
degrees. Judge Harold Green, who knew nothing about science and
inventions, destroyed Bell Labs’ income stream when he broke up the
American Telephone & Telegraph Company (AT&T) in 1984 under
President Ronald Reagan.

Jane agreed with me and
remarked that she liked the movie’s ending because the political
refugee, Kostantinos, who had no close relatives left, found the
warmth of a loving family. The young couple would have children soon,
which would make the wealthy parents ecstatic as grandparents.

I wondered if their
children and grandchildren would care about the massacre in Smyrna,
Turkey. Jane believed the massacre would be a distant memory for them
because they lived far away and would be busy running their family
businesses or pursuing another profession.

I asked Jane if she
wanted another scoop of ice cream, but she replied that it was
getting late and she was tired. We walked back to her car without
holding hands.

When we reached her car
three blocks away, Jane quickly stepped into her Porsche and
immediately drove away. Standing on the empty sidewalk, illuminated
by streetlights, I felt confused because Jane didn’t give me an
opportunity to ask her for dinner next week. Did my remarks about
rich folks offend Jane because her parents were wealthy? I decided to
call her the next day and find out if she was still interested in me.


Chapter
11:

Somali
Pirates

The next day, on Sunday
afternoon, I called Jane, and she told me she had enjoyed our
conversation at the ice cream shop. I said we had different
perspectives on the movie, but Jane told me it would be boring if we
had the same opinion.

I invited Jane for
dinner on Friday, but she said she would call me on Friday evening,
so I asked her for dinner on Saturday. She said she had already
replied that she would call me on Friday night, and ended our phone
call.

Looking at the gray
walls of my small living room, I wondered if Jane needed more time
and space because she was beautiful, while I was not a strong man. I
often felt jealous of the strong, handsome guys when they walked with
slim, attractive ladies. But I remembered that Jane had promised to
call me on Friday night. I smiled because it implied that Jane didn’t
have a date on Friday night—unless she would call me from the
restroom while having dinner with a handsome guy. You never knew the
tricks that the ladies played on you.

I had trouble falling
asleep Thursday night because I wondered if Jane would call me the
next day. Did she make an empty promise to call me Friday night
because I had aggressively asked her for dinner, like the
French-looking guy had on the airplane?

It was 9 p.m. on
Friday, and Jane still hadn’t called me. I wondered if I should
call her and find out what was happening. I picked up my cell phone
but decided not to call her because I wouldn’t care about
her if she wasn’t interested in me.

Half an hour later,
Jane called me and asked about my day. I told her that I was still
thinking about what my next mobile app should do. She said it must be
tough to develop something new that nobody had done before; I thanked
her for her encouraging words. She asked what else was new.

I had just read on
MSN.com on my cell phone that three pirate ships were following a
cruise ship near the Somali coast.

Jane asked, “Why are
you telling me about that?”

“Let me finish
explaining this article.”

“Okay. Make it
quick!”

When the pirate ships
got closer to the cruise ship, the pirates ordered the ship’s
captain—in English via their cell phones—to stop and let them
come aboard.

“Hell, no!” the
captain yelled.

The pirates warned the
captain that they had machine guns and shoulder-held missile
launchers. The captain responded by ordering his crew to put the
cruise ship on full speed ahead into the Indian Ocean. The pirate
ships chased the cruise ship and randomly fired their machine guns at
it, but they missed. On the third day, the pirate ships gave up and
turned back.

Jane remarked that the
captain showed a lot of courage when he cleverly resisted the
pirates. I told her the passengers had an unexpected extra adventure
on their cruise trip.

Jane liked my sarcastic
humor and invited me for Saturday lunch at her condo in North Chase.
I would finally find out if Jane pretended to be rich with her
Porsche 911 GT3 because she lived in a tiny condominium.


Chapter
12:

North
Chase

I drove across Westmore
Bridge and through the center of North Chase, which looked like a
wealthy small town. It consisted of the local court and mayor’s
office buildings; Larimer’s, a specialty gourmet neighborhood
grocery store; North Chase Bank; One Pharmacy, the local drug store;
Blue Moon, an old-fashioned American restaurant; Bennington Hardware
Store; Bicycle Outdoors; Gutman, a real estate office; Ben &
Mark, the boutique bookstore with a coffee shop; and All Fashion, a
clothing store. Past the center of town, I drove up a hill and
arrived 30 minutes early because I was excited to see Jane again.

I rang the front
doorbell of her building and heard the door buzz open. The lobby of
the condominium building had several flowerpots, two wide armchairs,
a small table, a sofa, and an unmanned receptionist desk. It looked
and smelled like a new building. A large exercise room with many
pieces of gym equipment was on the first floor, but I didn’t see
anybody using it. I took the elevator because Jane lived on the top
floor of a five-story building.

There were four condos
on the fifth floor, two on the right side of the elevator and the
others on the left side. I rang Jane’s doorbell on the right side.
Several seconds later, she opened her door, and I gave her six red
roses. She was surprised but pleased.

I wore my red and blue
striped cotton shirt with blue jeans, while Jane wore a tight, short
blue skirt with a white blouse and a gold bracelet with small,
scattered shining stones that looked like diamonds.

I was wrong about
Jane’s condo being tiny! Her condo had a spacious living room with
three leather couches, two coffee tables in front of the couches, a
high ceiling with chandelier lights, three large windows, and a door
leading to her wide balcony. Jane picked up an empty vase from the
second shelf in the coat closet as I waited in her condo’s hallway,
holding her roses.

We walked into her
living room. I also saw a fireplace, two easy reclining chairs in
addition to the three couches, a large TV screen of around fifty-five
inches attached to the wall, two stereo loudspeakers hanging from the
ceiling, a grand piano in the right corner next to a large window,
and several large Persian carpets on the floor.

We walked into the
kitchen, where Jane added water to the vase. Her kitchen had a round
breakfast table with six chairs, wood cabinets, and appliances that
looked new. The city was visible from the medium-sized windows above
the sink and the stove/oven. A TV screen measuring around thirty-two
inches was attached to the wall across from the breakfast table.

The table in her dining
room could easily seat ten people; Jane put the vase with my roses in
the middle as I asked about her piano.

As we walked toward her
Steinway grand piano, I told her that I had played the trumpet in my
high school band and had performed at concerts and football and
basketball games while wearing a standard marching band uniform.
Jane’s mother made her play the piano while she was growing up, but
now she plays only for fun.

I had given up playing
the trumpet when I graduated from high school but thought about
playing again and becoming an occasional street musician downtown.
Hopefully, many folks would drop dollar bills into my open trumpet
case as I filled the air in the art district with beautiful music.

Jane liked my romantic
idea and sat on the wooden piano bench, playing a piece for me. After
about five minutes, she asked if I had recognized the tune. It was
from the movie Sting. She was amazed that I was correct. I had
played a different song from Sting on my trumpet at a high
school concert.

I asked Jane about the
paintings in her living room. The artists were Wassily Kandinsky,
Helen Frankenthaler, Pablo Picasso, and Claude Monet. I wondered if
she had any original paintings. She had one in her recreation room
because her sister-in-law, Abbey, had painted it.

We walked into the rec
room from the back of the living room on the left side. The rec room
had a door leading out to the end of her balcony and a window looking
out to a small forest next to her condominium building.

I liked how Abbey’s
painting conveyed the chaos of three small boys and a girl running
around in a living room. The rec room also had foosball and billiard
tables and four tall iron bookshelves full of biology, chemistry,
math, and fiction books written by American novelists and poets.

When I saw the case of
a chess set on her bookcase, I asked if she played chess. Jane had
played chess in college, just for fun, while I had played in several
chess tournaments. I was rusty because I hadn’t played much since
my college days.

We walked out to her
spacious balcony from the rec room. After we had walked around the
corner of the building, I saw the river as it snaked through the
middle of the city; Jane liked to look at the hills in the distance.
I asked if somebody could build an office or condominium building and
block the view from her balcony; she said it would be a challenge for
a developer to build anything because the trees below her condo were
part of the Sam Anderson city park. Next to her balcony door were
eight white plastic chairs around a gray iron rectangle table and
four flower plants.

We walked back into her
living room. On the right side, a stairway was in the back of her
living room. I asked if it led to the bedrooms, and she said yes but
quickly added that we should prepare lunch.

Jane cooked rice,
chicken breasts, and wings that she had bought at Larimer’s. I was
surprised that she had remembered that I liked chicken and rice. Jane
asked me to prepare the salad, so I cut the tomatoes, cucumbers,
lettuce, and onions and poured red wine vinegar and corn oil onto the
salad.

At her request, I
opened a 2018 Opus One Proprietary Red wine from Napa, California,
set up the dining table, and poured the wine into our glasses.

We ate our Saturday
lunch beside each other, near the middle of the dining table. I told
her that her dining table was too big for two people, but Jane wanted
to see the city from the two large windows in the dining room.

As Jane ate a chicken
wing with her fingers, I told her I had passed the CompTIA Security+
exam the previous Thursday. Jane lifted her wine glass and proposed a
toast because we had both passed a tough security IT exam. Of course,
I didn’t tell Jane that I barely passed.

Instead, I asked if she
had informed Engineering Learning that she had passed the exam. Jane
had forgotten about the notification and asked if I had notified them
on their website. I replied positively, and Jane remarked that it was
fantastic that I would receive a $300 check that paid for my $200
mobile app competition entry fee. When I reminded Jane that our
teacher’s evaluation was based on how many students passed the
exam, she promised to notify Engineering Learning that evening. We
continued to eat our lunch of chicken, rice, and salad.

Jane asked how my
parents were doing. I replied that I didn’t want to talk about
them, and Jane apologized. I quickly changed the subject and told her
that I had read an article on lifestyle.com on my iPhone last week
about suave tenants who had taken advantage of rent control in New
York City in 1995. She said rent control was a bureaucratic nightmare
that distorted the free market. It would have been much better to
give housing vouchers to low-income families and let them find an
apartment or townhouse they liked.

I admitted that Jane
had a good point, but it wouldn’t have helped this poor couple who
wanted to buy a house with a backyard for their two young children,
ages five and three. However, they didn’t have enough money for the
required down payment for their mortgage because Mr. Hudson Kaminski,
the husband, was a sanitation worker, while Mrs. Mila Kaminski, his
wife, was an administrative assistant in a doctor’s office. They
used their income to pay their daily living expenses. Jane thought it
was unfortunate that service workers like teachers, grocery store
workers, and doctors’ assistants didn’t earn enough money to buy
a house or town house close to where they worked.

As Jane ate another
chicken wing, I continued to explain that the couple, who lived on
East 14th Street in Manhattan, New York City, in a two-bedroom
apartment with a huge living room, paid only $300 monthly rent in
1995 due to rent control. Other tenants had to pay around $1,600 for
similar apartments that were not under rent control. Therefore, this
poor couple found another tenant who paid them $130,000 to sublet
their rent-controlled apartment and planned to continue paying the
$300 rent per month to the landlord indefinitely. The new tenant saw
the flyer the poor couple posted on lampposts.

“Did the landlord sue
the existing and new tenants?” Jane asked.

I said that the
landlord asked the court to stop the sale of the sublet because it
violated the rent control ordinance and the tenant’s lease.
Immediately, the civil court of New York City issued an injunction
against the sale of the sublet until the court decided this issue.
The court ordered the existing tenant to transfer the sale price of
$130,000 to an escrow account, and the couple had to pay their rent
into another escrow account. The wife changed jobs; she was now an
administrative assistant in a law office.

As I ate a delicious
slice of chicken breast with a knife and fork, Jane remarked that the
wife was clever to change jobs. I informed Jane that a friendly
lawyer at the law firm explained to the wife that her only chance to
win the case was to request multiple depositions and documents from
the plaintiff. Hopefully, they would miss a hearing date or a
document request without a valid legal excuse. Otherwise, she could
not win the legal case on merit because rent control automatically
ended if a tenant left an apartment. Furthermore, based on their
lease agreement, she and her husband could not legally sublet their
rent-controlled apartment to another tenant.

“Was the lawyer’s
advice successful?” Jane asked.

I explained that the
wife filed nine motions with the help of the sympathetic lawyer, who
said she was lucky because the landlord had hired a cheap,
incompetent lawyer. Maybe the landlord was very confident that he
would win the case. After three months, the plaintiff’s lawyer
missed a deposition hearing without an excuse or explanation. When
the defendant, the tenant couple, notified the court about the missed
deposition hearing with the informal help of the lawyer, the court
scheduled a session in two months to discuss the missed deposition
hearing.

“Did the poor couple
win the lawsuit on procedural grounds?” Jane asked.

I replied that the
landlord’s lawyer explained at the court hearing that this
disposition had fallen through the cracks because one of his personal
desktop computers had broken down. The judge asked if the lawyer had
a receipt for the repairs to his broken computer. The lawyer searched
his briefcase and replied that he didn’t have it because he had
mixed up two court cases. The lawyer asked to reschedule the court
hearing to allow him to bring his receipt to the court.

“Get to the point.
What did the judge decide?” Jane asked impatiently.

“I would also like to
give the background information so that you understand how everything
happened,” I replied.

“Okay.”

I explained that the
judge denied the plaintiff’s motion to reschedule and lectured the
lawyer that he must come to court prepared and bring all the
necessary documents, including the repair receipt for his broken
desktop computer. Otherwise, he was wasting the court’s time, which
was precious because there was a massive backlog of cases. The lawyer
apologized to the judge for missing the disposition and promised it
would never happen again.

The judge dismissed the
landlord’s lawsuit and lifted the injunction for the escrow bank
accounts, but delayed the effective date for the court’s decision
for three days to allow the plaintiff to appeal the court’s
decision. The landlord angrily accused his lawyer of negligence and
threatened to report him to the Bar Association and sue him, but the
landlord missed the deadline to appeal his case.

Therefore, the poor
tenant couple quickly transferred the $130,000 from the escrow
account to their bank account. The new tenant moved into the
apartment under the previous lease, paying $300 monthly for their
rent. Of course, the landlord got $1,500 for his five months’ rent
from the court escrow account.

The couple bought a
Cape Cod house with a small backyard in the Weequahic neighborhood of
Newark, New Jersey, in 1995.

Jane said she was happy
that the sanitation worker and his wife could provide their children
with a backyard in a safe neighborhood in Newark. I remarked that the
couple made a lot of money out of thin air in 1995 because they
didn’t own the apartment, the building, or anything else. Jane
thought I always found the most amazing online articles about poor
but clever go-getters.

After we had finished
our lunch and cleaned up at around 3:30 p.m., we played foosball and
chess. Jane won the first chess game, but I won the next two. I
considered asking Jane to play strip chess, but I decided not
to make this suggestion because Jane was a lady of elegance, grace,
and money. At around 6:00 p.m., she said it was time for me to leave
because she had to work early on Sunday morning. I didn’t know any
professionals who worked early on a Sunday morning.

“It’s none of your
business where I work on Sunday mornings,” Jane replied.

I swallowed my pride
and accepted Jane’s rude response because she offered to walk me to
my car, parked on the street close to the condominium building.

As we stood near my
blue Corolla with its faded roof, Jane told me she would call me on
Monday night. Suddenly, she turned around and returned to her
condominium building without stopping to wave at me. As I got into
the car, I wondered if Jane had told me she had to work on Sunday
morning because she wanted to get rid of me. Was she upset because I
had boasted that I had won the foosball games? But why did she tell
me she would call me on Monday night if that were the case? Did she
tell me she would call me on Monday night to avoid a confrontation
with me on the sidewalk? I would find out on Monday night how Jane
felt about me.

I drove down the hill
on Edward Drive and saw a big sign at the bottom of the hill
advertising new two-bedroom condos with small balconies starting at
$999,900, or almost one million dollars. Furthermore, I figured
Jane’s condo must be worth over two million dollars because she had
two or three bedrooms upstairs, a huge living room, a rec room, a
large dining room, and a large balcony with a splendid view.

How could Jane afford
her penthouse on her salary as a technical employee of a small drug
company? When I was a salaried employee working as an IT software
developer, my colleagues and I didn’t make millions of dollars.
Something else was going on here.

Equity fund managers
could buy a condominium like Jane’s because they made millions of
dollars in the stock market with other people’s money. But Jane was
not an equity fund manager.

I had seen a TV
documentary several months before showing how drug dealers laundered
their money by buying expensive condominiums, cars, and jewelry
pieces. The documentary also mentioned that drug dealers needed
chemists to examine the purity of their drugs.

Did Jane pay for her
luxurious lifestyle with drug money?

Was Jane going to meet
a drug dealer on Sunday morning, when the city streets or parks would
be empty? What nonsense was I thinking? A ruthless drug lady would be
interested in muscular, tough guys with various fast cars and fancy
villas, not a struggling mobile app developer.

Beeeeep!

Immediately, I floored
my gas pedal and quickly crossed the intersection. Looking into my
rearview mirror, I noticed I had driven through a red light. I drove
carefully back to my small bedroom apartment at Vista Gardens.


Chapter
13:

VPN

On Monday night, while
I was alone in my apartment, Jane called around 9:30 p.m. She asked
how I was doing. I was developing an online solitaire game involving
three mice who race across the screen. She was eager to see my new
video game, and I promised to show her my prototype when I finished
it.

Jane said that
Vandane’s IT contractor told her this afternoon that she should
install VPN (Virtual Private Network) software on all their corporate
laptops. She wondered if the VPN software was necessary for her
corporate laptops because the IT contractor had already set up a
firewall for their office.

I said that she should
know about VPNs because we discussed them in our cybersecurity class.
She replied that she still remembered the VPN features, but she
wanted to hear my opinion, especially which VPN software to buy. I
explained that VPN software products, like Express VPN and Surfshark
VPN, will keep her chemical research information safe on the Internet
network from cybercriminals. The installed VPN software on a laptop
or cell phone will communicate with a corresponding VPN server to
encrypt and decrypt the Internet data.

Jane understood my
clear description of VPN and added that the VPN software will be
useful if she or her subordinates work from home or use a public
Wi-Fi network at a coffee shop or hotel because cybercriminals will
see their Internet traffic as gibberish characters on the network due
to the encryption.

I explained that
another benefit of VPN is that companies like online travel agencies
can’t raise their flight, hotel, and car rental prices based on
your previous online activities. How? The VPN software hides your
real IP (Internet Protocol) address, effectively making your online
identity private.

Jane remembered that
our cybersecurity teacher had mentioned in our class that tech-savvy
Iranians, Chinese, and Russians use VPN software to access Instagram,
Facebook, and news outlets like the BBC and Washington Post, all of
which are banned in their countries.

I explained that if you
live in or visit China and select a Canadian VPN server, the VPN
server can replace your local Chinese IP address with a Canadian IP
address. Then, you can browse the Internet unrestricted with your
Canadian IP. However, the Russian government and the Chinese
Communist Party developed new software to block VPNs. It has become a
cat-and-mouse game between tech-savvy individuals and their
authoritarian governments.

Jane said that one
disadvantage of the VPN software is that it adds another layer to
your Internet connection. I added that a user must pay for the VPN
software for his laptop or cell phone. Jane looked up Express VPN and
Surfshark VPN on Google and explained that they are cheap. Express
VPN costs $8.32 monthly for a twelve-month plan, while Surfshark One
VPN costs $3.49 monthly. I replied that the VPN benefits outweighed
the low-priced software costs. Jane thanked me for the information
about VPN and said we could talk more on Wednesday night because it
was getting late. I told her I was glad to help her, but she had
already hung up.

I couldn’t sleep
because I wondered if Jane wanted to see me only for my IT knowledge,
but she had no romantic feelings for me because I was not a
strong or rich man. On the other hand, she had cooked a delicious
lunch for me at her luxury condominium. However, we had no
physical contact, like holding hands or embracing each other. What
kind of game was Jane playing?

Finally, I fell asleep
around 6:00 a.m. I didn’t do any research on mobile apps on Tuesday
because my mind was in a fog due to lack of sleep. I anxiously waited
for Wednesday night to arrive, when I would talk to Jane again.


Chapter
14:

IT
Interviews

I called Jane around
9:00 p.m. on Wednesday because I couldn’t wait anymore. She said
that my succinct VPN explanation helped her to convince her boss to
buy Surfshark One VPN for all the corporate laptops and cell phones
that the employees use. I was glad that I had helped her out.

Jane asked how I knew
about VPN software because I worked on mobile apps. Before I became
an independent mobile app developer, I worked as a subcontractor for
different companies. I always listed many IT skills on my résumé,
even if I only had minimal knowledge of a specific IT skill set from
free online courses. Therefore, I worked on Cisco routers, web
application programs, databases, and server programs.

She asked about free
online courses because she might want to learn more about IT. I used
Tutorialspoint.com, W3schools.com, and other websites. I also
downloaded and modified sample programs from these websites to keep
my IT skills current.

Jane asked how I
survived the technical IT questions in interviews that covered
different IT fields. The truth was, I bluffed most of my job
interviews. If an interview failed because I couldn’t answer
several technical questions, I regarded the failed interview as a
learning experience. I would study more, especially in the areas
where I had failed to answer the technical questions. If lucky, I
would get the same or similar technical questions at another job
interview.

Jane thought I had an
excellent attitude and asked what happened when I didn’t know the
IT skills needed for my new job, even though I had listed them on my
résumé. I scrambled to learn the new IT skills at warp speed while
pretending to know the required IT skills in front of my new boss and
colleagues. She said I was a real hustler.

I replied that she was
working on the frontier of human knowledge on her job, but Jane
explained that she wasn’t doing research work at a university.
Instead, she worked at a small company developing new drugs to help
patients.

I always wanted to
teach an IT course in a university night class, but I never had the
time to develop in-depth knowledge in a specific IT subject area. I
always had to look for a new job because I was usually laid off or
fired after six or fewer months at a company.

Jane asked why. One
reason could be that IT companies hired me as a senior consultant to
save IT projects that were in real trouble because of deadlines. When
the projects became stable again, the employers replaced me with a
recent college graduate who was cheaper and often tried to impress
the boss with the latest IT buzzwords.

Jane asked if I decided
to develop new mobile apps to be free from corporate policies. I
appreciated her compliment and asked if she would like to visit the
recently opened Henderson Science Museum on Saturday afternoon. She
agreed.


Chapter
15:

Henderson
Science Museum

I met Jane at the
museum’s front door, and we each paid the twenty-dollar entrance
fee. As we walked the hallways in the museum, we enjoyed learning
about the evolution of inventions for cars, trains, and motorcycles.
We also saw different microbes through a giant microscope lens. Jane
explained that microbes have a bad reputation because, although some
cause diseases, the overwhelming majority are essential for human
survival.

In the energy rooms, we
learned about the power in ocean waves and dams, nuclear power, and
renewable energy like recycling, solar, wind, and hydrocarbon
molecules. An exhibition display explained that a hydrocarbon is any
class of organic chemicals comprising only carbon (C) and hydrogen
(H) elements. The hydrogen atoms form simple or complex structures.
Some examples of hydrocarbon structures are natural gas, gasoline,
kerosene, and lubricating oil. I was surprised that the museum was
crowded with families and children.

Several hours later, we
walked around the park next to the museum without holding
hands and saw a big statue of President Theodore Roosevelt. Jane
remarked that he was a go-getter president who established the
national parks for future generations. I also considered Theodore
Roosevelt a great president because he announced the Square Deal to
promote opportunity for everybody and convinced Congress to enact
food and drug safety regulations.

We sat down on a park
bench, and Jane remarked that she had learned in the museum that
infrared sensors on satellites could detect missiles shortly after
launch and could, therefore, provide useful information for
interception systems. I put my hand on Jane’s, but she quickly
withdrew hers. I wondered why she was afraid to touch my hand. She
didn’t seem to be a shy person. What was going on in her mind?

I stopped talking about
the museum to forget my frustration with Jane. Instead, I said that
my cousin, Jackie, received over one thousand excellent reviews on
Amazon.com for her fantasy book, Dragon Nights. Jane wanted to know
how my cousin had become a successful author.

I explained that Jackie
used to work as a salesclerk in a watch store at minimum wage, even
though she had successfully finished college with honors as an
English major. When Jackie saw a video game script competition
advertised on Google, she submitted one she had written in her spare
time for fun.

Jane asked if Jackie
had won a prize. I replied that she didn’t, but video game users
posted many outstanding reviews on various computer game blogs
because everybody could read the submitted video game scripts online.
Jackie’s father sent an email that had hyperlinks to these blogs to
several relatives and friends. Over twenty blog users stated that
Jackie should’ve won first prize, while other blog users explained
that Jackie didn’t win first prize because the judges didn’t know
her.

“I don’t blame her
father for wanting to promote his daughter because she worked as a
salesclerk after graduating from college,” Jane remarked.

I replied that Jackie’s
younger brother told me over the phone the following month that
BioWare had hired his sister as a video game scriptwriter.

“How did that
happen?” Jane asked.

I replied that the
manager of the adventure and strategic video game team read Jackie’s
outstanding online reviews and told human resources to contact her.

Human Resources flew
Jackie to Edmonton, Canada, and asked her to write a video game
script in their office within three hours, given specific criteria. A
human resources representative called Jackie at her hotel the
following morning and invited her back to their office within two
hours. The human resources person gave Jackie a piece of paper that
instructed her to make several required changes to her original
script within one hour. She passed the interview with flying colors
and began to work remotely for BioWare.

“How did the new
remote job work out for Jackie?”

I explained that Jackie
became successful at BioWare as a video game writer, and her name was
all over video game blogs and Google because she became a critical
video scriptwriter for Mass Effect 3 and Dragon Age: Inquisition. She
also wrote several fantasy books in her spare time while working as a
video game writer at BioWare.

Jane said she had
enjoyed the museum and park, but it was getting late. We walked back
to her Porsche, and she quickly left. As I drove back to my apartment
alone, I assumed that Jane had driven back to her condo, but who
knows what she did on a Saturday night?


Chapter
16:

Jokes

Jane didn’t call me
on Monday, Tuesday, or Wednesday. Had she found somebody else because
I was a penniless nobody? I finally called her on Thursday evening,
and she asked how my week was. I was still searching the Internet to
figure out what new mobile app to develop. Jane asked if I had read
any more colorful online articles. I replied that I had just read a
great joke about engineers on my iPhone; she was eager to hear it.

The revolutionary court
condemned a shopkeeper, a priest, and an engineer to die by the
guillotine during the French Revolution. The guards forced the
shackled shopkeeper to walk up the stairs to the guillotine because a
huge crowd was anxious to see the execution. The shopkeeper yelled at
the crowd that he was innocent and had only sold fresh food to the
people. Several individuals yelled that his prices were excessive.

“Death to the price
gouger,” the crowd yelled.

Two executors put his
head into the guillotine and pulled the rope, but nothing happened.
The ax didn’t drop. They pulled the rope again, but still, nothing
happened. Some people shouted that the shopkeeper had given them
bread, apples, and potatoes for free. Soon, the crowd yelled that the
shopkeeper was innocent. The executors looked at each other, unlocked
his chains, and let the shopkeeper leave the stage. He quickly
disappeared into the crowd.

The guards forced the
shackled priest up onto the stage, but he yelled that God would save
him.

“Death to the
imposter!” the crowd yelled again as they laughed at the priest.

The executors put the
priest’s head into the guillotine and pulled the rope, but again,
nothing happened. They pulled the rope again, but the ax still didn’t
drop. Some people in the crowd shouted that God had saved the priest.
After a few seconds, the crowd yelled that it was a miracle. The
executors looked at each other, unlocked his chains, and let the
priest leave the stage. He also quickly disappeared into the crowd.

The guards forced the
shackled engineer up onto the stage as the crowd yelled, “Death to
the puppet of the nobles!” When the engineer reached the stage, he
carefully looked at the guillotine and remarked that the wood piece
on top of the guillotine prevented the ax from falling. One of the
executioners got a ladder, climbed up, and removed the wood piece.
The executioners put the engineer’s head into the guillotine,
pulled the rope, and the ax chopped off the engineer’s head.

Jane liked my joke and
asked if I felt like the engineer. I did so because I often expressed
my opinions orally or in emails, even when my engineering views
collided with the big dreams of management teams.

Jane was eager to hear
my second joke, which was about lawyers. Two strangers sat on a park
bench. The shorter man wearing glasses, asked the other man what he
did for a living. He responded that he was a lawyer. The shorter man
asked how much he charged. The lawyer responded, “$1,000 for four
questions.” The shorter man asked if his price was excessive. The
lawyer replied that he was outstanding and asked if he had a fourth
question.

Jane asked if I knew
another great joke. I replied that I learned about an actual incident
involving a U.S. Army general. Jane impatiently asked what this
general did.

When I worked at
Computer Science Corporation on a Department of Defense (DOD) IT
contract, one of my colleagues, Mr. Colton Conner, loved to tell war
stories because he was a retired colonel who fought in both Iraq
wars. According to the former colonel, a two-star U.S. general asked
him in a field tent meeting in Dammam, Saudi Arabia, in late January
1991 when the Abrams tanks would arrive. The general needed the tanks
to expel the Iraqi troops from Kuwait in the first Iraq War under
President George W. Bush. Colton, the colonel, replied, “In ten
days.” The general yelled that it was unacceptable. However, Colton
explained to the general that the tanks were on a ship in the middle
of the Atlantic Ocean. The general ordered him to get the job done
and have the tanks in Dammam by the next day at 20:00 hours.

“It is impossible to
get the tanks sooner because of the laws of physics,” Colton
explained.

“I don’t care about
physics! Do you understand the order?” the general yelled.

Colton saluted the
general and said, “Yes, sir!”

Of course, the laws of
physics won, and the tanks arrived in Saudi Arabia ten days later.

Jane replied that
sometimes the Army gets bogged down in bureaucratic nightmares.
However, she trusted and respected the U.S. Armed Forces because U.S.
soldiers were well-trained professionals who were accountable for
most of their actions and behavior on the battlefield. I told her
that the problem was usually with the politicians, who tried to
minimize any war effort for domestic political reasons.

Jane asked if I would
like to climb the wall at the Rock Mountain Gym on Saturday
afternoon, and we agreed to meet. On Friday, I wondered if I would
embarrass myself in front of her because I had never done any rock
climbing.


Chapter
17:

Wall
Climbing

Jane was 20 minutes
late to the gym on Saturday but paid $240 for our 30-day membership
fees because she had invited me. We had to take a 30-minute training
program on handling the rope for the person who climbed up the wall.
She wore tight blue designer jeans with a red blouse, sparkling
earrings, and Gucci tennis shoes, while I wore my regular blue jeans,
a cotton shirt with red stripes and men’s lightweight sneakers.

Jane climbed up first
and reached the two-thirds mark of a beginner course before she got
stuck and asked me to let her down with the rope. I got stuck at the
one-third mark. When I landed on the mat, Jane touched my forearm for
a second and told me we did great on our first attempt. I felt
terrific that Jane had finally touched my arm, even for a moment, and
I wondered if I should grab her arm or hand.

Before I knew it, Jane
told me she wanted to climb the wall again. She made it almost to the
top, while I reached the two-thirds mark. We continued climbing
different beginner walls; Jane made it to the top twice, while I did
it once.

An hour later, as we
walked again to our cars, Jane told me she had enjoyed the wall
climbing and that we should try it once more. I asked if she would
like to go to dinner that night, but she had already paid for a
hayride and bonfire event at James Orchard.

I was about to tell
Jane I would go to a nightclub downtown if she were busy at James
Orchard. But I held my tongue at the last moment because I had a gut
feeling that Jane, the multimillionaire, would not react well to my
threat. Luckily, Jane told me that she would call me next week. I
said okay, but I was sure she heard my disappointed voice after she
had turned down my dinner invitation again.

On Saturday night, I
watched the movie The Firm alone in my apartment on my laptop
while eating popcorn.


Chapter
18:

Housekeeper

Once again, Jane didn’t
call me on Monday, Tuesday, or Wednesday, and I couldn’t sleep on
Thursday night because I wondered if she had found somebody else at
the bonfire event. Did Jane meet a successful lawyer or financial
consultant because she was rich?

On Friday night around
ten, I lay on my bed, staring at my white ceiling. I wondered if I
should call her, but I decided not to because I feared she would
reject me. Twenty minutes later, she called me, and I asked her about
the hayride and bonfire event last Saturday night.

“It was okay.”

“How come it was only
okay?”

She replied that not
enough men had attended the event. I happily concluded that Jane had
not met another man.

Jane had been busy at
work because she had to change some ingredients for a new drug to
avoid side effects. I asked about the new drug, but it was
proprietary information.

Jane asked how my week
was. I was still searching for a new mobile app to develop, but I was
also learning about Appian, a mobile development software. Jane asked
if I could only talk about IT and mobile apps. I quickly told her I
had read a remarkable story on the Service Opportunity website about
a housekeeper who became a multimillionaire overnight in 2018. Jane
asked if she had won the lottery.

I replied in the
negative and said that it started when her employer, Jim Mayberry,
died when he was eighty-eight. Jane asked if Mr. Mayberry left
millions for the housekeeper in his will. I replied no because Jim
divided his estate equally among his three adult children, who
planned to sell his mansion quickly.

“If it wasn’t the
lottery or Mr. Mayberry’s will, how did the housekeeper become rich
overnight?” Jane anxiously asked.

It was ironic that Jane
wanted to find out how the housekeeper became rich, but she wouldn’t
tell me how she got rich. I kept my thoughts to myself and asked Jane
if she wanted to hear all the details to understand the online
article better.

“Sure.”

I continued to explain
that the housekeeper, Maria Gonzalez from Honduras, was in a panic
because she had lived in the guest room at the mansion for free for
21 years. Maria had also worked as Jim’s nurse because his wife had
died from a heart attack when he was sixty-seven.

“Did Jim remarry?”
Jane asked.

The article didn’t
say, but my guess was that Jim didn’t remarry because his children
got his multimillion-dollar inheritance. Jim’s mansion was in
Beverly Hills, California, but the three adult children lived in
other states. The children offered to give Maria Gonzalez one
thousand dollars for moving expenses.

Jane thought it was
outrageous that the children gave the housekeeper only one thousand
dollars because caring for an older man in his eighties must have
been difficult.

I agreed and said that
the housekeeper asked the many craftsmen renovating the mansion for
sale if she could clean their houses, but they all turned her down.
When Mr. Mason Newey, a lawyer and the executor of Jim Mayberry’s
estate, came to inspect the renovations, the housekeeper asked him if
she could clean his house. The executor gave her the number for
Rosewood, the cleaning company that thoroughly cleaned his house.
Maria called, but the manager at Rosewood informed her that they
didn’t need a cleaning lady at that time but would keep her name on
file.

Maria told the executor
she had to leave the mansion in three weeks. But she didn’t know
how she could pay her monthly rent and the rental security deposit
with her money, which was $1,300, including the $1,000 that the three
children had given her.

Mr. Newey asked the
housekeeper if Mr. Mayberry had given her anything over the years
because he had been Jim’s personal lawyer for 52 years and had
occasionally talked to the housekeeper. Mr. Mayberry gave the
housekeeper $3,000 a year, but she sent $2,500 to her grandchildren
in Honduras because she lived at the mansion for free.

Jane remarked that Mr.
Mayberry had violated the law if he paid her only $3,000 a year and
that the housekeeper should see a lawyer who would sue the hell out
of his estate.

I said that Maria
didn’t sue anybody. The executor kept pressing Maria, wondering if
Jim had given her anything of value, like jewelry. Maria replied that
Mr. Mayberry had given her many pieces of paper, but she had no idea
what they were. However, she kept these pieces of paper in used
grocery boxes because Mr. Mayberry had always told her they were
valuable. The executor asked to see these papers, and Maria brought
him fifteen boxes of assorted sizes.

The estate executor put
these boxes on top of the large dining room table at the mansion and
began to analyze them with the calculator app on his laptop. Five
minutes later, the executor called somebody on his cell phone and
continued to process the pieces of paper.

Meanwhile, the
housekeeper tried to convince the painters to let her clean their
houses, but they turned her down. Ninety minutes later, the estate
executor told Maria that he would like to work something out with
her.

“Thank you for
allowing me to clean your house. I’ll keep it spotless,” Maria
Gonzalez immediately promised.

However, the executor
replied that she misunderstood him and that he wanted to invest her
money with a financial advisor if she agreed. The housekeeper
anxiously replied that she needed the $1,300 to share a cheap
apartment with another person.

The estate executor
happily informed Maria Gonzalez from Honduras, that she was a
multimillionaire. However, the 63-year-old housekeeper, Maria,
angrily accused the executor of telling her a sick joke. Picking up
the papers on the table, the executor explained that these pieces of
paper are shares of the entertainment company that Mr. Mayberry had
founded fifty years ago. Her shares were worth over eleven million
dollars.

“The housekeeper’s
loyalty to her employer paid off big time,” Jane exclaimed.

I told Jane that Maria
did not fully understand her wealth because she told the estate
executor that she needed $3,000 in cash to pay her rent and security
deposit.

The executor advised
the housekeeper not to worry about her rent anymore because he would
contact an honest real estate agent, who would happily show her three
beautiful houses in great neighborhoods. The housekeeper replied that
she only needed one house, but the estate executor explained that she
could live in one house and collect rent on the other two houses. The
real estate agent would take care of her two rental houses if she
paid the real estate agent one month of rent.

“It was a great idea
to buy two rental houses for the housekeeper because she understood
houses, but she would have a huge learning curve for stocks and
bonds,” Jane remarked.

I said that Maria
remarked that Mr. Jim Mayberry was a good man, and the estate
executor wholeheartedly agreed that her employer was generous. Maria
asked if her daughter, son-in-law, and three grandchildren could
visit her soon and see the three beautiful houses she would buy. The
executor’s lawyer replied that he would handle all the necessary
legal visa paperwork. Maria Gonzalez again shook the estate
executor’s hand and thanked him for everything he had done for her.

Jane remarked that the
housekeeper was lucky that the estate executor was an honest lawyer.
I replied that Jim Mayberry kept Mr. Mason Newey as his lawyer for
fifty-two years because Jim trusted him.

“Most shares are
electronically owned and sold; how were these paper shares sold?”
Jane asked.

I continued to tell
Jane that, according to the online article, Mr. Newey’s paralegal
assistant helped Maria set up accounts with a bank and an online
brokerage firm. Then they coordinated with a financial advisor to
sell her shares, which were not electronically stored but on
pieces of paper. Once she sold her paper shares and transferred the
proceeds to her bank account, she could buy her three houses with
cash. This financial process took around ten days.

“How about federal
and state taxes on her stock sale?” Jane asked.

I said that the
executor also connected Maria with an aggressive CPA who minimized
her federal and state taxes on her stock sale.

Jane didn’t
understand how I found all these fantastic online articles that show
how a person never knows how life will twist and turn. I told her it
wasn’t easy. Jane invited me for dinner at Woodmont Grill on
Saturday evening, and I happily accepted. We closed our phones.

I jumped up and down on
my bed because Jane had finally invited me to dinner. After several
minutes, I lay down on my bed and realized that I was so stupid to
think that Jane only liked wealthy lawyers or financial guys because
she was a multimillionaire. She liked me because she enjoyed talking
to me, and I couldn’t wait for dinner the following night.


Chapter
19:

Dinner

Woodmont Grill was in
downtown Franklin Park, a prosperous suburban town with several
restaurants, a live theater, a few boutique shops, and two
condominium buildings. It had tables in the middle of the restaurant
and booths on the right side. The restaurant was partially lit, and a
small electric candle illuminated each booth and table. It occurred
to me that patrons would not see the food they were eating in this
dim light; however, the restaurant was full of couples due to the
romantic atmosphere. A mix of men and women sat at the bar behind the
hostess stand on the left side. There were no empty bar stools left.

I sat on a bench next
to the hostess stand. Jane was 15 minutes late and wore a blue dress
almost reaching her knees, a wide black belt around her hips, and a
shining, sparkly necklace that probably consisted of diamonds. I wore
my regular blue jeans and a red-striped cotton shirt.

We sat in a booth
opposite each other. Jane ordered the pan-seared rockfish with beans
and cauliflower, while I ordered a classic, well-done hamburger with
fries. She ordered the buffalo wings as an appetizer, while I ordered
the New England clam chowder. I also ordered the Greek salad and two
glasses of French Sauvignon Blanc.

Our starters came. As
Jane began eating her buffalo wings, I asked how she could afford her
luxury condo, which must have cost over two million dollars. Jane
replied that she did it the old-fashioned way; I asked what she
meant.

Jane didn’t answer my
question but told me that she had heard on the radio that several
Congressmen wanted to pass legislation against AI (Artificial
Intelligence) voice cloning. I realized I had asked Jane about her
money too soon in our relationship because many people were secretive
about their finances.

Therefore, I explained
that the public loses billions of dollars each year due to AI voice
cloning. A person receives a call from somebody who sounds like a
close relative, such as a teen-ager, an adult child, or a grandchild,
who begs for financial help because they are stuck at a bus or train
terminal with no money or were kidnapped. The cybersecurity thieves
had obtained the voice of a relative from social media sites like
TikTok or Instagram and manipulated the words to beg for money. The
parents or grandparents who received the call for help would rush to
wire money via Western Union because they loved their child or
grandchild.

Jane asked if there was
a software solution to detect this scam. I explained that the FTC
recently offered $25,000 to anyone inventing how to detect and
prevent scam AI voice cloning. Jane asked if I was working on getting
this money. I had not yet done so because I was not an expert in
voice cloning.

Jane changed subjects
and asked how I liked my differential calculus course in college.
Differential calculus is a subfield that studies the rates at which
quantities change. I replied that sometimes I had trouble finding the
derivative of a function. Jane explained that she used derivatives in
her job to calculate the rate of dissolution of drugs in the
bloodstream or the growth of bacteria. I used derivatives in my
physics class to calculate the acceleration of a moving object. As we
discussed our math courses like linear algebra, complex variables,
and graph theory, I accidentally extended my legs and touched Jane’s
right ankle. Surprisingly, she didn’t withdraw her legs, and I felt
her silk stockings and high-heeled shoes.

Suddenly, Jane asked
what was the craziest thing that I had done in my life. I was silent
for over fifteen seconds before she asked if I had skydived or ridden
on a wild roller coaster.

I had hitchhiked from
Aspen, Colorado, back to George Washington University in Washington,
D.C., in the middle of January, when I was a college freshman eleven
years earlier. Jane asked if I had met many colorful characters on my
hitchhiking trip. When I replied in the affirmative, she was anxious
to hear about my many adventures because she had never hitchhiked.
She pushed her right ankle against mine, and I was happy that she
finally responded to my physical contact, even though it only
involved our ankles.

I told her that I had
no choice but to hitchhike because I only had $8.00 left in my pocket
after I had skied for a week in Colorado. She asked if I had partied
a lot in Colorado, but I told her I hadn’t because I was a broke
student. Jane smiled as I raised my right leg up, touching her leg.
When I reached her knee, she suddenly pushed my foot away with her
left hand.

Jane asked how I could
afford to go skiing in Colorado if I didn’t have any money. A
college girl had received a brand-new Ford SUV from her dad for her
19th birthday. She showed her new SUV to several college students
because she was excited about her gift. Two college students (a woman
and a man) who casually knew her convinced the student with the new
SUV to drive to Aspen, Colorado, for skiing. They told her about the
beautiful mountain views, the lively nightlife, and the many ski
trails in Colorado. I got a spot in the SUV because another student
had dropped out. The girl with the rich dad paid for the gas while
the other three passengers, including me, drove her SUV on several
snow-covered highways.

Jane thought it was
great that I got a free trip to Colorado, like the free trip to our
cybersecurity class. I continued to explain that the college girl
with the SUV decided to stay another week in Aspen because she liked
to party and go to nightclubs, but I had to get back to my part-time
job because I had spent all my money on my seven-day ski slope pass,
my bed in a dormitory room with six bunk beds, and my food. The
college girl with the rich dad brought my skis back to George
Washington University free of charge because I couldn’t hitchhike
with skis.

As Jane finished eating
her appetizer, I pushed my ankle against her right ankle again, but
she withdrew her leg and told me that my soup was getting cold. I was
disappointed that she had withdrawn her leg, but I said nothing. As I
ate my soup, I didn’t understand why Jane was so hesitant about any
physical contact. What was her hang-up? I was not a monster or a
rapist. The only thing that we had done so far was to talk. Did she
have bad experiences with men?

Jane asked how long it
took me to hitchhike from Aspen, Colorado, to Washington, D.C. I
hitchhiked nonstop for two and a half days. I slept in a driver’s
camper van and dozed off on a couch at a rest stop on Interstate 76
in western Pennsylvania.

Jane wondered if I was
afraid to sleep in a stranger’s camper van. I wasn’t because I
had an enjoyable conversation with the driver who stopped for me in
the dark around 11:00 p.m. at an entrance ramp on Interstate 76 in
Colorado, near the Nebraska border. He stopped because he thought I
had car problems. When I told him I was a student at George
Washington University, he told me to hop in.

I informed the driver,
an older white man, that I had to rush back to Washington, D.C.,
because of my part-time job. The driver replied that I was lucky to
have a part-time job because millions lost their jobs, houses, and
marriages in the 2008 financial crash. I had read about the 2008
financial crash and asked him why it had happened.

The driver explained
that the top executives of the companies involved in the crash
covered up their losses and liabilities on their required legal
financial statements. However, the federal prosecutors didn’t
indict any of these executives for fraud. Instead, the top executives
received millions of dollars in corporate severance compensation
while corporations laid off millions of hardworking employees. I
asked him if he could name the companies involved in the 2008
financial crash. He informed me of the following companies: American
International Group, Washington Mutual, IndyMac, Countrywide, Lehman
Brothers, Citigroup, and Bear Stearns.

I asked the driver why
the top executives responsible for the 2008 crash had gotten away
with fraud. He explained that our financial environment was not a
democratic, free-market economic system; instead, it was welfare for
Wall Street casino speculators.

Why? The driver told me
that the Wall Street financiers expected the taxpayers to cover their
losses and bail them out if they lost their bets in the stock market.
However, they didn’t want the government to regulate their markets
and tax their huge profits when stock prices increased sharply.

Jane remarked that many
ordinary folks with 401(k) or IRA retirement plans didn’t want to
lose their pension money when stock prices dropped sharply on Wall
Street.

I told the driver I had
submitted a term paper in my labor economics college course arguing
that we should expand our democracy into the corporate world. Workers
should elect one-third of the board of directors, and consumers
should elect another third. The driver asked how the consumers could
vote. I replied that they could vote online after they had supplied
proof of purchase via QR or barcodes. The driver asked me about the
existing shareholders. Current shareholders would elect the last
third with the existing sham corporate election process. The driver
asked how I would implement this plan. I replied that if the big
corporations wanted to win huge government contracts or get bailed
out by taxpayers, they would have to expand democracy in their
corporations.

Jane asked about the
benefits of my democratic proposal. The driver had asked me the same
question. I told him that if the board of directors included worker
and consumer representatives, the companies would spend more money on
research and development for new products and services, on employee
safety procedures, and on employee compensation. Many major
corporations spend a lot of money on stock buyback programs that
artificially raise stock prices briefly because the CEOs and their
buddies receive tons of free shares or stock options from the
companies where they work.

Jane asked where the
driver worked. I replied that he was a labor economics professor at
the University of Minnesota, Twin Cities, located in the Twin Cities
of Minneapolis and Saint Paul, Minnesota. Jane remarked that his job
explained his knowledge and strong opinions about the 2008 financial
crisis.

I continued to tell
Jane that we were somewhere on Interstate 80 in Nebraska, and ten
minutes later, the driver (or professor) suggested I sleep in his
sleeping bag in the back of his van because I had a long trip ahead
of me. When I woke up around 8:00 a.m., we had arrived in Des Moines,
Iowa. I saw very few cars or trucks on snow-covered Interstate 80
because it was still flurrying. The driver told me that while I was
sleeping, several dozen car and truck accidents had occurred around
Omaha, Nebraska, because of the ice and heavy snowfall.

The driver dropped me
off in Des Moines at a gas station with a small store that was still
open because he had to travel north to Minneapolis, while I had to go
east on Interstate 80 toward Washington, D.C.

I bought a cup of
coffee from the vending machine. As I drank my coffee next to the
vending machine, two mean-looking German shepherds began to sniff me
between my legs.

“Sit! Sit!” the
white clerk yelled at them.

The dogs barely obeyed
him and continued to stare at me closely. The gas station clerk told
me that I could only stay until I finished my coffee. He didn’t
care that it was freezing outside.

Jane asked if I was
nervous with the two fierce dogs watching me. I replied that it
incentivized me to aggressively ask the drivers near the gas pumps
for a ride. Fortunately, a black, middle-aged chauffeur gave me a
ride several minutes later.

A pretty, young, white
female teenager sat in the limousine’s back seat. The chauffeur
told me to sit in the front seat next to him. After ten minutes, the
chauffeur left Interstate 80 to drive the teenager to her parents’
house. I helped the chauffeur on the Iowan country roads because the
driver turned off the limousine’s GPS when he found out I had
picked up a U.S. map book from an empty seat at a restaurant.

When we arrived at the
teenager’s parents’ colonial house in a small rural town, she
stepped out of the limousine, somewhat excited to be home again.
Immediately, the chauffeur drove away and quickly left the town.

As the chauffeur drove
back to the interstate, he explained that he had picked up the
teenager as a hitchhiker in a snowstorm near Denver, Colorado, but
she had no idea where she was going because she was a 15-year-old
runaway girl. He convinced her to go home because she only had ten
dollars in her pocket, and he didn’t want a violent pimp to pick up
this underage girl.

The chauffeur also told
me that he would be fired on the spot if his employer found out that
he had picked up hitchhikers on his way back to Chicago. I didn’t
ask the chauffeur why he had driven to Colorado.

Jane said that many
hardworking people, like the chauffeur, were happy to help people,
even if they risked their jobs.

I stopped talking about
my hitchhiking trip because the young waitress brought our food:
Jane’s fish with potatoes and my hamburger with French fries. After
I had eaten half of my hamburger, Jane asked if I had met any other
colorful characters on my hitchhiking trip because she had never met
such unique characters.

Two young white
construction workers had picked me up in a blue Ford van on a busy,
snow-covered street in Denver as the snow continued to fall. When we
reached Interstate 76, the snow had stopped falling, but packed snow
and ice covered both traffic lanes. The driver picked up a can of
Budweiser lying next to his seat, opened it, and drank it from his
right hand while he drove the van with his left. The driver told us
that there must be something wrong with the steering wheel because
the van kept going left toward the ditch. Jane remarked that the van
skidded because of the ice and packed snow. I replied that she made a
reasonable assumption, but the two construction workers paid for my
lunch at a restaurant near the interstate.

Jane thought they were
generous because they had known me briefly. She asked if more snow
storms hit me because I had hitchhiked in January.

I had raced the
snowstorm from Aspen, Colorado, to Washington, D.C. Sometimes, the
snowstorm was ahead of me, and sometimes I was ahead of the
snowstorm, but the snowstorm beat me because it reached Washington,
D.C., six hours before I had arrived.

As I took another bite
of my hamburger, Jane remarked that I had a lot of courage to
hitchhike in the middle of a significant snowstorm moving across
America.

I replied that I was a
young kid who didn’t understand the risks. Over twelve inches of
snow had fallen within 20 minutes on Interstate 80 around Cleveland,
Ohio. The driver said he couldn’t drive on in his sports car and
planned to stop at the next exit and stay at a motel.

I stepped out of his
car at the interstate exit because I didn’t have enough money for a
motel room. I walked over to the emergency lane right after the
interstate acceleration lane and put out my thumb as the snow fell
heavily. Soon, the snow covered my knees and both traffic lanes with
over fourteen inches of snow. I didn’t know what to do next because
I saw only a few trucks on the interstate within 20 minutes, but they
didn’t stop for me.

Jane asked how I got
out of this mess. I jumped into a snowbank when an SUV suddenly slid
toward me. The driver opened his door and yelled, asking if I was
okay. I told him that I needed a lift, but he asked me to help him
get out of the snowbank and gave me a small snow shovel. I shoveled
the snow away from his rear tires and pushed his old, beat-up
Chevrolet SUV. When his SUV was free from the snowbank, I quickly
stepped inside.

The driver was a
physics graduate student who couldn’t wait until he returned to the
lab at the University of Pittsburgh to continue his research work in
physics. He told me that if his experiments succeeded, scientists
from around the world would write about him.

I didn’t see another
car or truck on the interstate; even the snowplows had given up. As
we slid back and forth on Interstate 80 in the heavy snowfall, the
student kept telling me that he had to be careful because his two
laptops in the back seat held the results of the experiments that he
had worked on for the last year.

Jane remarked that he
was more concerned about his laptops than his own safety. When we
crossed the Pennsylvania state line, the snow stopped. After several
minutes, I saw the white-dotted traffic lanes on the interstate. I
got out of his car at an exit ramp because he drove back to the
University of Pittsburgh while I continued to hitchhike on
Interstates 376 and 76, heading toward Washington, D.C.

Jane picked up her wine
glass and proposed a toast to my many adventures on my hitchhiking
trip. I replied that I hadn’t yet told her about my two incidents
with the police or state troopers because it was illegal to hitchhike
on the interstates.

Jane told me that my
hamburger and French fries were getting cold, so I finished eating my
hamburger with tomato and lettuce and my French fries with ketchup.
Jane asked me about my first police incident. I stood in the
interstate emergency lane on an overpass after the short acceleration
lane, just inside the Indiana border. It was freezing, and I could
feel the frigid air through my nostrils and through my blue jeans,
even though I was wearing long underwear.

Two police cars stopped
behind me in the emergency lane and blared over their loudspeakers to
get off the interstate. I assumed that the state troopers didn’t
want to leave their heated cars because of the strong, chilly wind. I
walked down the entrance ramp and left the interstate. Three minutes
later, the police cars left the emergency lane on the overpass.
Immediately, I walked up the entrance ramp and put out my thumb while
standing near the end of the acceleration lane. I had no choice but
to keep going because I had no money.

Jane asked if the
police cars returned and arrested me because I had disobeyed them. I
told her no because a young, attractive black woman stopped for me
after a few minutes. Jane remarked that I was lucky for the second
time.

The driver informed me
she had never picked up a hitchhiker because it was dangerous, but
she didn’t want me to die from hypothermia because it was -2
degrees Fahrenheit (-18.89 degrees Celsius), and it must’ve felt a
lot colder with the strong wind. I thanked her for picking me up. The
driver was a science teacher at Tilden Middle School.

Fifteen minutes later,
she dropped me off at a rest area that contained several restaurants
because she was going to leave the interstate at the second exit and
didn’t want me to freeze in the cold. The middle-aged guy with the
sports car I’d mentioned before had picked me up at this rest area.

Our waitress came back
and asked if we wanted any dessert. I said yes and ordered a brownie
with vanilla ice cream and two cups of coffee, while Jane ordered an
apple pie.

Jane asked about my
second incident with a state trooper. My second incident occurred
near Chicago on Interstate 80. A car stopped in the emergency lane
right after the interstate acceleration lane. I ran after the car and
jumped into the back seat because somebody had opened the door. The
driver was a young, white, working guy with four friends. Suddenly,
we heard a siren and saw the red flashing light of a police car
behind us.

The white state trooper
walked over and talked to the driver. A few seconds later, the state
trooper walked over to where I was sitting in the back seat of the
car, knocked on the window, and yelled at me to get out of the car
slowly. I became nervous because the policeman put his hand on the
gun in his holster. I opened the door slowly, immediately raised my
hands high into the air, and got out of the car slowly. He ordered me
to put my hands against the top of the car and then quickly frisked
me for weapons.

As the driver and I sat
in the back seat of the police car, the driver told me to display a
sign showing where I was going. I replied that this was a great idea
and asked if he had any crayons. The policeman sitting in the
driver’s seat turned his head around and sternly ordered us to be
quiet because we weren’t there to discuss hitchhiking tips.

We obeyed the state
trooper and kept quiet. The trooper entered our personal information
into his laptop while he held our driver’s licenses. Suddenly, the
state trooper turned around again and asked me why I was hitchhiking.
I told him that I was a student who had been skiing in Colorado.
Looking at the driver, the state trooper said that the driver and he
(the policeman) had been working the prior week while I, this college
kid, was skiing in Colorado. I informed the state trooper that I had
to rush back to Washington, D.C., because of my part-time job as a
movie projectionist. The state trooper didn’t reply but turned
around again. Jane remarked that I made the state trooper speechless
with my honest response.

Several minutes later,
as the state trooper returned our driver’s licenses, he explained
that he had stopped and arrested a hitchhiker last week who had an
outstanding murder warrant and carried an illegal hidden gun. I
understood why the state trooper had frisked me.

The waitress brought
our dessert. As Jane ate her apple pie, she suggested we share our
desserts. I agreed and took a piece of her apple pie while she
reached for a scoop of vanilla ice cream.

As I ate my ice cream,
Jane asked if the state trooper had given us any traffic tickets. The
state trooper gave the driver a verbal warning for stopping illegally
on the interstate. The driver apologized, and the state trooper told
him he could leave. But the driver didn’t leave the police car;
instead, he asked the state trooper what would happen to me.

“Take him. Take him,”
the state trooper quickly replied.

Jane said I was lucky
again because the driver had asked about me. As we drove away, I
apologized to the young driver for the problems that I had caused him
with the state police. The driver replied that everything was cool.
But if the state trooper had given him a ticket, he would have yelled
at the cop because his driver’s license would have been suspended
because of his traffic points.

Jane wondered if the
state trooper would’ve handled the situation differently if the
driver were a young, black male. I replied that it would’ve been
foolish for the state trooper to escalate the situation and give the
driver a ticket for stopping illegally on the interstate.

Jane explained that 18
years before, the police shot dead an unarmed Latino boy when Jane
was ten years old. There were riots at night for four days on the
south side of Eugene, Oregon. I told her that high schools should
hold seminars where the police and the teenagers would discuss their
expectations, concerns, and frustrations when a police officer stops
a car and asks for identification. Jane liked my idea because it
might prevent a life-and-death situation for young people over minor
traffic violations like changing lanes without a signal or not
wearing a seat belt.

As I drank my coffee,
Jane remarked that high schools should discuss the FBI homicide
statistics that clearly show that men commit around 89 percent of
homicides, while women commit only around 11 percent. She asked me
what was wrong with men.

I didn’t want to get
into a long discussion with Jane about the biological, psychological,
and historical differences between men and women. Therefore, I
changed the subject and told her I had had no other adventures on my
hitchhiking trip.

Jane remarked that she
never had such an exciting trip because she always took advanced
courses in college, discussed complex, detailed math and science
issues with her professors, and worked to pay for her college
education. I wondered if Jane had had a romantic relationship with a
professor, but I kept my thoughts to myself.

I asked the middle-aged
waitress for the bill. After Jane had put her credit card into the
bill presentation folder, I pulled the folder toward me and opened
it. Our bill was $172, but the tip was $200. A few minutes later, the
waitress eagerly thanked us for the tip. I told the waitress that we
felt terrible that we were the last customers in the restaurant, and
Jane remarked that the rockfish was excellent. The waitress said she
was happy to serve us and politely asked us to return.


Chapter
20:

Dark
Alley

We walked on the
sidewalk back to our cars which were parked three blocks away. I
couldn’t grab Jane’s hands because she kept her arms close to her
body. Was she upset because I talked too much about my hitchhiking
trip?

Jane remarked that I
showed stamina in Ohio when the sports car driver stopped at a motel
while I continued to hitchhike on the icy interstate as the snow fell
heavily.

“You still remember
this incident?”

Jane said she had
enjoyed listening to all my adventures on my hitching trip because I
had met many ordinary people with good hearts, like the chauffeur,
the science teacher, the professor, the two construction workers, and
the driver with his four friends.

Suddenly, I turned into
a deserted alley surrounded by medium-height buildings with dark
offices because it was late Saturday night. Jane protested that it
was the wrong way, but I told her it was a shortcut. She reluctantly
followed me.

I looked up into the
sky when we reached the middle of the short, dark alley.

“You can see many
stars tonight,” I said.

“The moon looks
beautiful,” Jane replied.

I stepped in front of
her, touched her shoulders, and pulled her toward me. She put her
hands around my neck. We passionately kissed each other and forgot
about time.

We walked back to the
main street, holding hands. My face radiated with excitement and
happiness because I had just kissed a young woman who was beautiful,
intelligent, and rich. I didn’t know what I had done to be so
lucky.

Soon, we reached her
car, parked in an off-hour metered spot in front of a restaurant that
had already closed for the night. We kissed again, and she invited me
for Sunday brunch at Tupelo at 12:30 p.m. I gladly accepted her
invitation.


Chapter
21:

Sunday
Brunch

I arrived at Tupelo in
North Valley ten minutes early at 12:20 p.m. on a sunny day because I
was anxious to see Jane again, but she was ten minutes late. Jane
wore tight designer jeans, a red blouse with a necklace that had a
precious stone in the middle, and fancy high-heeled shoes. I stood up
from the outside bench, and we hugged and briefly kissed each other.
I liked her stylish sunglasses with a golden frame and asked if they
were top-of-the-line. When she informed me that they were Bentley
Platinum, I asked how much exquisite sunglasses cost because I had
bought a pair of deluxe sunglasses for $32 from CVS two months ago.

Jane suggested that I
look up Bentley Platinum sunglasses on my iPhone. I told her I
couldn’t believe that the alux.com website listed a pair of Bentley
Platinum sunglasses for $45,276. That was an absurd price!

Jane explained that
several sunglasses with diamonds cost over $150,000, but she didn’t
buy them because a crazy guy could assault her to steal the diamond
sunglasses. Jane didn’t say that $150,000 sunglasses were too
expensive, but rather that some idiot would attack her.

“How many millions do
you have?” I blurted out.

“Let’s go eat,”
Jane said. “I’m hungry.”

I wondered why Jane
didn’t answer my question. What was she hiding from me? But I kept
my thoughts to myself because I didn’t want to upset her by
continuing to talk about her money.

The restaurant was
packed with several large groups, including extended families, some
of whom had pushed their square tables together. The buffet line was
in the middle of the restaurant. We sat at a table beside a large
window. When Jane took off her sunglasses, I asked if I could see
them. I read on the inside of the golden frame that they were,
indeed, Bentley Platinum sunglasses; Jane had told me the truth. As
Jane put her sunglasses into her purse, I told her she should not
lose them, but she replied that she had bought insurance for them.
That was a great idea.

A young waiter asked if
we wanted to eat from the buffet. We said yes, but I also ordered two
glasses of the sparkling wine, Campo Viejo, from Cava, Spain. Jane
got scrambled eggs, mixed salad, and bacon strips from the buffet,
while I got two hard-boiled eggs, hash browns, and sausages. We also
got several pieces of toast with marmalade and coffee with cream and
sugar.

Jane asked if I had
finally decided which mobile app to develop. I was still researching
mobile apps, but I was also writing a new book. Jane asked if my book
involved IT. I explained that my book, Harold and Lewey, was
about a young married couple struggling to save their marriage and
small business. When she asked what inspired me to write this book, I
explained it was the experience of Harold, my college friend. Jane
asked how my new book was coming along. I had finished about five
chapters, and she asked if I could describe them.

One chapter involved a
husband who got stuck in the morning traffic while his
nine-month-pregnant wife, Vicky, screamed in pain in the back seat of
his Chevy. In another chapter, a mysterious man followed two college
kids at a distance as they walked down a dirt road in the countryside
to visit an uncle. A third chapter revolved around Joseph Blackwell,
an independent CPA who didn’t know how long he should continue to
pay for college for his son, Ethan, who had studied for over 12 years
at different universities around the world, including Canada,
Scotland, France, Hungary, Greece, Egypt, Japan, and Spain.

Jane asked how I could
connect these fundamentally different events into a smooth and
polished flow. I was working on this challenge. Jane asked who would
publish my new book. I answered that I would upload my new book to
Amazon.com and Smashwords.com, but Jane said that hundreds of people
upload new e-books daily. I found several literary websites, such as
Online Book Club and Kindle Nation Daily, where I could promote my
new book. Jane remarked that I had done my homework to advertise my
new book.

If I were lucky, my new
book would be like a snowball. A snowball is small when it begins on
top of a mountain, but as it rolls down the mountain, it becomes
bigger and bigger. Finally, the snowball that is my book would become
an avalanche, and many folks would read it. Jane asked what would
happen after the avalanche. Nobody would care anymore because another
small snowball would start atop the mountain.

Jane proposed a toast
with her raised wine glass, saying that my book would have many
excellent reviews. I smiled happily and thanked her for her support.

I asked for the check,
and the young waiter left the bill presentation folder near my seat.
Jane paid the bill because she had invited me to brunch. She also
gave the waiter a $100 tip.

We kissed goodbye
beside her car parked near the end of the dirt parking lot. Sitting
in her car with the motor running, she rolled down her window. As she
looked at me with her sunglasses on the tip of her nose, she asked me
to call her tomorrow night. I promised to call her.

As Jane left the
parking lot, she gunned her Porsche, and the dirt flew everywhere. I
didn’t mind that I had to brush some dust off my blue jeans and
green shirt because Jane looked damn sexy with her Bentley Platinum
sunglasses and her new 911 GT3 Porsche.


Chapter
22:

DuckDuckGo

Back in my apartment,
alone on Sunday evening, I searched for Jane’s name on DuckDuckGo,
an alternative search engine to Google. DuckDuckGo doesn’t display
ads based on searches. I wondered how Jane had become a
multimillionaire who could afford Bentley Platinum sunglasses.

I noticed on DuckDuckGo
that Jane had written two chemical research papers published in
Discover magazine while she was a student at Stanford
University and worked as a research assistant. She also co-wrote
three more articles with her chemistry professor, Dr. Richard Ashman,
that were published in New Scientist magazine. I was impressed
by Jane’s articles because a person had to be smart to have their
articles published in top science magazines.

Jane’s LinkedIn
profile showed that she started working at Vandane after she had
graduated from Stanford University. She didn’t list any other
employers. I wondered if she had omitted a shady employer from her
profile because I didn’t know anybody who became rich working as a
salaried employee at only one company. I continued searching for
Jane’s name on Google but didn’t find more information about her
employment.

I wondered if my first
intuition was correct and Jane’s parents were wealthy. Did they
transfer some of their wealth to their daughter and reduce
inheritance taxes by buying her a luxury condominium?

But if her parents were
wealthy, why did Jane have to work to pay for her college and
graduate studies? Nothing made sense about Jane’s money. I decided
to find out quickly how Jane became a multimillionaire in her
mid-twenties because I didn’t want to get into trouble if her money
were dirty.


Chapter
23:

Riverside
Park

Phone calls, lunches,
and dinners. We held hands as we explored new neighborhoods and
walked in Riverside Park next to the river, kissing behind the trees
in the forest.

However, I became
frustrated as a healthy young man because Jane always found an excuse
not to go to her condo or my apartment to have some fun. This
situation dragged on for three weeks. I wasn’t sure what was going
on. Was Jane using me until she found a rich corporate guy? I
wondered if I should break up with Jane, but I enjoyed seeing and
talking to her.

What should I do?

It occurred to me that
I could invite Jane on a trip for a week. It would break the ice
between us if we stayed together in a hotel room. If she refused to
go on this trip, I would have to break up with her and never see her
again. It would be too painful for me to be just good friends.


Chapter
24:

Private
Investigators

The next day, in
mid-May, I found and bought two cheap airline tickets to New York
City, the center for fashion, culture, finance, and food. I took a
risk buying these two low-cost tickets because I didn’t tell Jane
about our trip. However, I had to buy these low-priced airline
tickets immediately before their prices increased. Fortunately, Jane
was excited about our trip because she had always studied and worked
on the West Coast and had never found the time to visit the East
Coast. She discussed seeing Times Square, where the ball dropped on
New Year’s Eve. She had often seen this event on TV from the West
Coast.

Jane asked me to go
shopping with her at Nordstrom on Saturday afternoon to buy a new
dress because we were going to see a Broadway show in New York City.
She wanted to know if I thought her new dress was elegant. Jane
couldn’t find a dress that we both liked, but she bought a $63,460
Hermes Kelly 20 Sellier Top Handle Gold purse with her debit card. A
Nordstrom employee ordered the Hermes purse from their website with a
free overnight FedEx delivery to the store, and an employee would
deliver the purse to Jane in person at her condo for free. She also
bought a pair of $1,295 Valentino Garavani high-heeled shoes and was
as tall as I was when she put them on.

After shopping, when I
was alone in my apartment, I searched Jane’s name on Google to see
how she had become a multimillionaire who could buy a $63,460 purse
without hesitation as a 28-year-old single woman. Did I miss
something in my earlier search? I found several online articles that
had the same name as Jane, but they were about a different person.
Finally, I read an online article about a real estate agent couple
who bought a three-million-dollar-plus mansion but stopped paying the
mortgage payment after one month. It took the bank four years to
evict them because they fought the bank in the courts with every
procedure and at every court session. They required the bank to make
sure that every “I” was dotted and every “T” was crossed in
every document. They pulled the same trick with a Mercedes they had
bought with a $55,000 loan.

Did Jane finance her
luxurious lifestyle with loans? Even worse, did she use questionable
sources for her loans? Would brutal loan sharks kidnap me to force
Jane to pay back her loans because I was her friend? If Jane couldn’t
repay her huge loans because she had spent all her money on luxury
goods, would the loan sharks break my arm or leg?

I remembered that
gangsters had cut off Paul Getty’s grandson’s ear because Getty,
the billionaire, hadn’t responded to the kidnapper’s demands.
That would be even worse than breaking my bones.

I searched for private
investigators on Google and visited the website for All Associated
Investigators, who promised to attach a small GPS tracker to a car.
They also promised to install spyware on a computer to get
information from social media and emails. They didn’t state a price
for their services. Another private investigator, Stone Sell Group,
promised to recover deleted text messages, emails, and social media
accounts on their website. They did not say how much their services
cost.

I called All Associated
Investigators, and a male voice asked what he could do for me. When I
asked if he owned the detective agency, he replied yes. I wanted him
to investigate a beautiful, young, but mysterious multimillionaire
lady. When he asked me to describe my relationship with this rich
woman, I said she was a good friend. The private detective asked if I
wanted to find out if she was seeing another man. I just wanted to
find out how she had become a multimillionaire.

The private
investigator asked how I knew my friend was a multimillionaire. She
lived in a two-million-dollar-plus penthouse, drove a Porsche 911
GT3, bought a pair of sunglasses worth $45,276 and a Hermes purse
that cost $63,460. When he asked if she owned her own company, I said
no because she was a salaried employee at Vandane, a small drug
company.

He wanted to know if I
had asked my friend how she had become wealthy. I explained that I
had asked her multiple times, but she always gave me vague answers
because she was secretive about her millions.

The private
investigator remarked that this was terrible news. Why? He explained
that my female friend could be involved with millions of dollars in
dirty money. I replied that there could be an innocent explanation
for my friend’s millions. He asked if I wanted to take this chance
because I could easily get involved with vicious drug dealers or
ruthless criminals.

But we had a wonderful
time together for several weeks, and I had never seen her with folks
who looked like drug dealers or criminals. The investigator explained
that it was easy to become a fentanyl drug dealer because fentanyl
drugs were all over the place, selling like small, colorful candies
online. Some young people who ordered an expensive energy pill online
to perform better on a high school or college sports team received
fentanyl pills and died. I asked about the details of fentanyl.

The private
investigator explained that fentanyl is a potent synthetic opioid
used for pain relief and anesthetics, and it’s approximately one
hundred times more potent than morphine and fifty times more powerful
than heroin. However, the FDA approved its use for high-risk
patients, such as those undergoing open-heart surgery or specific
complicated neurological procedures. But fentanyl sold on the streets
was extremely dangerous, and more than 106,000 people, especially
young adults, died from a fentanyl drug overdose in 2021. I told him
I couldn’t believe my friend would be so callous and cruel.

The private
investigator asked if I had checked her cell phone. I told him I
didn’t know her PIN, and he remarked that my lady friend was clever
because she talked to drug dealers only via her cell phone. But a
vicious drug lady would not go out with a poor mobile app
developer, only a strong bodyguard. He explained that she could be
using me as a cover because nobody would suspect a cold-blooded drug
lady to have a poor IT guy as her friend. He made me nervous. Why? I
could be seriously injured because of my friend’s dirty money. The
investigator replied that this was an excellent reason for thoroughly
investigating my friend.

I asked how much his
investigation would cost. Depending on the investigation, it could
quickly run over $350 an hour. I objected to his excessive rate, but
he informed me that we could be dealing with treacherous, violent
criminals.

I asked him if he had
ever worked on a similar case. The private detective admitted that
his regular cases involved cheating spouses or finding runaway
teenagers. Those cases were a lot cheaper, like $140 an hour.

I told him that I had
to think about his rate. The private investigator admitted that other
agencies might be cheaper. However, they would only do a quick,
superficial search on Google and not go into the field to interview
people and search a house or warehouse for any evidence. The other
agencies weren’t concerned about the quality of their work because
they would charge me a lot of money upfront.

I thanked him for the
information and ended our phone call. I wondered if this private
investigator was trying to rip me off by scaring me. Furthermore, I
saw on the Internet that the average fee for a private investigator
in our city was from $105 to $170 an hour. Hiring a private
investigator was an academic question anyway because I didn’t have
the money to pay their fees. If I were lucky, Jane would accidentally
spill the beans about her millions during our trip to New York City.

An hour later, I called
my sister because she lived in New York City, but she was visiting
our mother in Hollywood, Florida, for a week. I asked if I could stay
in her apartment, but she said she’d have to check with her
roommate. I told her never mind; I would find a cheap hotel. My
sister thought that would be the best option for me.


Chapter
25:

New
York City – Hotel 35

We landed at John F.
Kennedy Airport in New York City on a sunny Monday afternoon. After I
had picked up Jane’s suitcase at the baggage claim area, I looked
for the sign directing us to the AirTrain. Jane didn’t understand
why we didn’t take a taxi or limousine to our hotel, but the
AirTrain would be faster than a taxi during rush hour. Jane put her
Hermes Kelly purse and diamond earrings into her suitcase to make
sure some disturbed guy wouldn’t assault her.

I finally found the
AirTrain, and we arrived at our destination in ten minutes, but we
had to wait for the J subway for four, six, and nine minutes.

Jane wondered if we
could still see the Solomon Guggenheim Museum before it closed at
6:00 p.m. I asked why she wanted to see that museum. She had read on
Google that the Guggenheim Museum had a spiral ramp leading up toward
a domed skylight that allowed the sunlight to display the art
exhibits to their fullest potential. Frank Lloyd Wright, the famous
American architect, designed the building.

We didn’t have to
worry about the museum’s visiting hours because we would get to
Manhattan quickly by taking the subway. Finally, the subway arrived,
and we reached our stop at Bowery Street in Lower Manhattan in 15
minutes. As we pulled our suitcases down Rivington Street, a city
street with apartment buildings, Jane asked where the hell I was
taking her. We would arrive at the hotel in a few minutes.

The registration desk
at Hotel 35 was right past the front door and behind a thick glass
window. I wanted to get a key to inspect our room, but the clerk said
I had to pay $55 for their standard room.

Jane suggested we look
for a different hotel, but I paid the $55 in cash because the average
hotel room in Manhattan is priced at $150 or more per night. As I
pulled Jane’s suitcase up the broad stairway, I remarked that the
stairway rug was clean, and our room would be comfortable. Jane
replied that it was a bad sign that the elevator was out of service.

When we entered the
hotel room on the third floor, Jane asked where we could put our
suitcases. We would hardly stay in our hotel room because we would be
busy sightseeing in the Big Apple. The hotel room, costing $55 per
night, featured a twin-sized bed with a small nightstand, but it
lacked any amenities such as a chair, table, cloth closet,
television, refrigerator, and microwave, and the curtains were
ripped. I could stretch my arms out the window and almost touch the
folks living in the opposite building. We put our suitcases next to
the bed, partially blocking our path to the door.

I got the laptop from
my carry-on suitcase and sat down on the bed to test the free Wi-Fi
based on the information sheet on our bed. Jane asked where the
bathroom was. Looking around, I didn’t see a bathroom or sink, but
I noticed a note on an envelope taped to our door. We walked up to
the door and read on the envelope that the red key card was for the
two shared bathrooms, and the blue key card was for the two shared
shower rooms.

Jane took the red key
card and went to the bathroom. When she returned, I happily told her
the Wi-Fi was working. Jane replied that she was glad the Wi-Fi
worked but suggested we look for another hotel because the shared
bathroom was dirty.

I explained that money
was tight because I was still developing my new mobile app, but Jane
invited me to stay at another hotel.

“I guess if the
bathroom is dirty, we can look for another hotel,” I replied.

I packed up my laptop,
and we left our Hotel 35 room. I asked the hotel clerk behind the
glass window to refund my $55, but he refused. When I threatened to
write a nasty review on Priceline.com, he told me to go ahead, but I
would not get my $55 back. Jane said the shared bathrooms were dirty
and out of soap and toilet paper. Luckily, she carried some tissues
with her. The receptionist explained that guests brought their toilet
paper and soap. I said we paid the $55 deposit to check out our hotel
room, but the receptionist told us to move over because two other
guests wanted to check into the hotel.

As we stepped to the
side, Jane told me she could pay me the $55. I refused because it was
a matter of principle. Jane suggested that we could sue Hotel 35, but
we had to find another hotel today because it was getting late.

I yelled at the
receptionist that I would see him in court, but he ignored me as he
processed another guest, an older white man with a beat-up suitcase.
As we left the hotel, a taxi drove down the street. Immediately, I
ran to the curb and waved both arms, but the cab didn’t stop. Ten
minutes passed, and we didn’t see another taxi. We walked toward
Bowery Street, as Jane said she wanted to see the Guggenheim Museum
that night and not waste time looking for a taxi.

When we arrived at
Bowery Street, a major two-way city street, I aggressively hailed the
taxis, but every taxi driver ignored me. Jane asked about Lyft, but I
said that Lyft drivers needed a destination. Finally, after ten
minutes, a taxi stopped for us. Jane told the driver to take us to a
fabulous five-star hotel.

Sitting in the back
seat of our taxi, I promised to pay her back for our hotel room after
I had finished my new mobile app. Jane told me not to worry about the
cost of a hotel room. I was honest with her at our first lunch when I
told her I was a struggling mobile app developer.

As the taxi drove
uptown on Third Avenue, lined with apartment and office buildings,
Jane asked where I had found Hotel 35. My Haitian neighbor at Vista
Gardens mentioned that the hotel had free Wi-Fi and was a great
bargain. Jane asked when my Haitian neighbor had come to the United
States. It was three months ago. Jane said that at least I hadn’t
found Hotel 35 on Priceline.com or Hotwire.com, which showed pictures
of the rooms and the shared bathrooms. I knew that I should’ve
checked out Hotel 35 on Google, but it wouldn’t have mattered
because even a two-star hotel in New York City was beyond my budget.

I was lucky that Jane
didn’t dump me like Ava Nappett did last year. I took Ava to Motel
9 for a weekend trip to Sam Lake, which is close to our city. Ava was
a slim and attractive corporate vice president for sales at SAIC.
When she saw several big cockroaches running across the rug next to
our bed in the motel room, she called a sales guy on her team to come
and pick her up on a Friday evening. Standing outside near the road,
waiting for her ride, she ordered me to stay away from her. Of
course, Ava didn’t return my phone calls, and I was depressed for
several weeks.

I met Ava at a
nightclub next to Central Draw University. As we stood next to the
dance floor, I introduced myself, and we talked about the different
nightclubs and restaurants close to the university. A strong young
man asked her to dance, but I told him we were about to dance and
grabbed her hand to lead her to the dance floor. We had several
lunches together, and I found out that she was taking two hybrid
business courses at Central Draw University for her MBA in marketing.
When I invited her to Sam Lake for a weekend trip without mentioning
Motel 9, she gladly accepted but changed her mind when she saw the
running cockroaches in our hotel room.

The taxi driver arrived
at the Pierre Hotel at Fifth Avenue and 61st Street approximately
twenty minutes later. Jane told the taxi driver to wait until we saw
our hotel suite.

“No problem,” the
driver replied.

Of course, his meter
kept running while he waited for us.

Jane requested a suite
at the front desk, but the female receptionist, who looked to be in
her thirties, replied that the hotel was full. Were there any
cancellations? The receptionist explained that a person must make a
reservation at least six weeks in advance for the Pierre Hotel
because all the rooms are always booked.

We walked to an ATM in
the lobby, and Jane withdrew $500. When we walked back to the
receptionist’s desk, Jane told her that money wasn’t a problem
and slipped $300 in cash to the receptionist. The receptionist told
us to hold on for a moment and disappeared behind a closed door.

Jane remarked that
millionaires and billionaires from around the world came to Manhattan
as tourists or for business. I suggested we look for a five-star
hotel in the other boroughs of New York City: Queens, Brooklyn,
Bronx, or Staten Island. But Jane wanted to stay in Manhattan.

The receptionist
returned and told us we were lucky because a guest had canceled their
reservation just an hour ago.

When we entered our
hotel suite on the ninth floor to inspect it, I complained that our
hotel room only had a couch and not a bed. As Jane pointed her right
hand toward a closed door, she explained that this was our living
room, and our bedroom was beyond that door. I didn’t know about
hotel suites because I had always stayed in mere hotel rooms.

The bedroom had a
king-size bed, two large closets, two stands for suitcases, a dresser
with a mirror, and another large dresser. The bathroom had a separate
shower area and a large bathtub. Of course, the bathroom had plenty
of soap bars, tissues, toilet paper, shampoo, conditioner bottles,
and a hair dryer, unlike the shared bathroom at Hotel 35.

Jane was pleased to see
Central Park from the living room windows. She paid the taxi fare
with her credit card and gave the driver a $200 tip in cash for
taking us to an excellent hotel. As the taxi driver gave Jane his
business card, he remarked that she could call him anytime if she
needed anything. Jane expected him to be at our hotel within 30
minutes if she called him.

“No problem,” the
driver replied.

As the taxi left, I saw
on his business card that his name was Brodie Ricci. Jane paid
$13,574.25, including taxes and fees, for our hotel suite at the
Pierre for five nights. The hotel price for one night was $2,300, but
it was $2,900 on Friday night. The front desk also informed Jane that
they would email her a QR code that would admit us to the McQueen
fashion show held on Thursday morning because we were staying in the
metropolitan suite at the hotel.

As we waited for the
elevator, I told her I’d never stayed in a hotel room that cost
over $2,000 a night. She said I should enjoy the splendid view from
our rooms.

A few minutes later, we
were back in our suite. Immediately, I sat down on the living room
couch while Jane walked into the bedroom to unpack her suitcase. I
left my carry-on suitcase next to the couch.

Our hotel living room
had two easy chairs and a painting showing flowers and mountains on
each side of a large, flat TV screen. To my right was a dining table
with four chairs. To my left was a modern kitchen with a regular
square table, four chairs, a refrigerator, a microwave, and a
stove/oven. Next to the living room was an office area with an
executive desk, a chair, and a card on the table containing the
hotel’s high-speed internet password.

I put my legs on the
wooden coffee table and turned on the TV. I enjoyed watching an
episode from the Star Trek TV series on the big screen. I had
to admit that the Pierre Hotel suite was better than my small
apartment at Vista Gardens.

Ten minutes later, Jane
joined me on the couch to watch Star Trek because she also
loved this old TV series. I put my arm around her shoulders, and she
leaned against me. I smiled because I remembered that Jane had pushed
my arm away in the movie theater several weeks before.

We walked through the
luxurious lobby area to the hotel restaurant an hour later because
the Guggenheim had already closed. Several men wore suits without
ties, and the ladies wore exquisite dresses and jewelry as they sat
on couches and sofas, talking to each other and smiling. Their
glasses with drinks, coffee or teacups were on the wooden coffee
tables, and some tables had pieces of cake on top.

A middle-aged man sat
on a couch next to a woman who looked to be in her early twenties.
She wore a short red skirt with a shiny necklace and earrings. They
talked about flying to London in business class the next Monday. I
wondered if they had a sugar daddy relationship. I also saw two
businessmen with suits, ties, and open briefcases discussing several
papers on the coffee table in front of them.

The hotel restaurant
had excellent service and food. After dinner, as we rode up in the
elevator, I wondered if I would finally have some fun with Jane on
our bed. But Jane changed into her green pajamas in the bathroom,
turned off the lights, and lay down on her side of the bed.

I changed into my
pajamas in the bedroom, but Jane didn’t see me in the dark. I lay
down next to her and touched her shoulders underneath the sheets.
Without turning her head, Jane angrily told me I had woken her up
just as she was falling asleep. I apologized, and Jane explained that
she hadn’t slept the day before because she was thinking about our
trip. I rolled to the other side of the bed.

Resting my head on top
of a pillow, I stared at the wall illuminated by the moon. I wondered
if Jane was tired or if she was using me to see New York City as a
platonic friend. It’s not fun to travel alone.

Looking at Jane lying
beside me on our bed, I watched her calmly breathe as she slept. We
would have had a terrible time making love if she were tired. I
wanted our first intimate time to be romantic and fun. Rolling over,
I also fell asleep because I was exhausted.

The next morning, Jane
suggested that I could look at the news, including the weather report
on the TV, while she took a shower. The weather forecast was sunny,
around 65 degrees, and the news said that the Shanghai stock index
was up by 1.5 percent, the Nikkei was down by half a percent, and the
Australian ASX was up by 2 percent. She left the bathroom wearing
tight blue dress pants with a red blouse. Subsequently, I also took a
quick shower alone and changed into my blue jeans and a green-striped
cotton shirt in the bathroom. I began to doubt if we would have
passionate fun tonight. I didn’t know what I would do if we didn’t
have an enjoyable time tonight.

Jane suggested seeing
the Guggenheim Museum as we ate our delicious buffet breakfast in the
hotel restaurant. I replied that we should visit the Metropolitan
Museum of Art because it displays famous paintings, sculptures, and
historical artifacts. Jane admitted that the Metropolitan Museum was
famous worldwide; we could see the Guggenheim Museum another day.
While holding hands, we walked about 20 blocks on Fifth Avenue to the
Metropolitan Museum of Art.

We saw the painting
Death of Socrates by Jacques-Louis David inside the museum. I
explained that many citizens in Ancient Greece accused Socrates, the
philosopher, of corrupting the youth with his questions and
discussions. Socrates fought back at his trial and demanded that the
citizens of Athens pay him a lot of money because he had inspired the
young people of ancient Athens to think independently and critically.
However, the citizens of Athens at their assembly, overwhelmingly
condemned Socrates to death by drinking the poisonous plant hemlock.

As we observed the
painting, Jane remarked that Socrates’s discussion with young
people reminded her of the current controversy about teaching
critical race theory (CRT) in our public schools.

I replied that my
manager, Mr. Richard Brownsville, at General Electric (GE) had signed
me up for a five-day interpersonal relationship course. Jane asked if
I had a conflict with my manager or colleagues. I explained that a GE
manager anonymously invited me to join GE’s preferred corporate
organization for highly skilled technical folks. But I refused the
invitation, even after human resources had called me several times to
attend a dinner where skilled technical invitees would be introduced
to the top managers. I wondered if GE would ask me next to lobby for
some proposed corporate tax laws, labor laws, or environmental
regulations that I opposed. A few weeks later, my manager enrolled me
in this interpersonal relationship course because he and GE still
valued my specialized technical skills and experience. Jane asked if
GE had fired me later. I replied negatively but found another
opportunity several months later at L3Harris Technologies Inc.,
working on a government contract.

Jane asked why I was
telling her about this course. I replied that when Jelani Jackson, a
black GE employee, walked into the classroom before the class started
on the first day, the white teacher asked him if he should call him
an African American or a black American. Immediately, Jelani turned
around and told the teacher to call him an American. I found out
later that Jelani was a mechanical engineer.

Jeff Medford, a white
software developer employee who was already sitting in the classroom
when Jelani walked in, told the teacher that he was born in Cairo,
Egypt, and that the teacher should call him an African American.

Jane asked why Jeff was
born in Egypt. His father worked as an engineer for the U.S. company
American Automotive, but his dad moved back to the U.S. when he was a
teenager. Jane replied that she wasn’t surprised that these two GE
employees had to attend this interpersonal relationship course
because they were troublemakers who talked back to their teacher.

We also looked at the
painting Washington Crossing the Delaware River (1851) by
Emanuel Leutze. I explained that I had read somewhere online that
General George Washington had a young, slim, black slave girl with
him in his tent on the front line. She always advised him to avoid
attacking the British Army directly and in full force, but to stage
many hit-and-run attacks to wear them out. Jane replied that her
advice would have helped us win the American Revolution if this
online article were accurate.

We admired other famous
paintings, including The Dance Class (1874) by Edgar Degas and
Self-Portrait with a Straw Hat (1887) by Vincent van Gogh. We
also saw the oldest item in the museum, a set of Acheulean flints
dating from the Lower Paleolithic period between 300,000 and 75,000
BC. The people living in Deir el-Bahri, Egypt, used these flints as
hand axes to butcher game, dig in the soil, and cut wood or other
plant materials.

Several hours later, we
took a taxi downtown and visited the National 9/11 Memorial and Wall
Street. We ate a late lunch in Chinatown, got lost, and walked around
holding hands. When we saw a subway station, I suggested taking the
subway because it was a popular mode of transportation in New York
City.

Back at our hotel room
at around 7:45 p.m., Jane picked up her laptop from the top drawer of
the hotel dresser and walked to the office area in our suite’s
living room. I sat on the couch and read the Economist, a British
weekly newspaper that I had bought in a small book and magazine store
in Chinatown.

I heard Jane talking to
several subordinates about FDA procedures, standards, regulations,
and the chemical composition of a new drug that would help patients
with multiple sclerosis. I finally found out what new drug she was
developing. Jane used Microsoft Teams, charts, diagrams, emails, and
PowerPoint slides to communicate with her subordinates. Suddenly, she
informed me that she was dealing with proprietary research
information.

I quickly walked to our
bedroom, closed the door, and turned on the TV. A black professor at
Harvard University said on MSNBC news that the descendants of slaves
deserved reparation payments because slave traders kidnapped Africans
from peaceful villages and forced them to come to America in chains
as slaves during the colonial and early postcolonial periods of
American history. He illustrated his point by putting his fists
together as if they were handcuffed. However, European settlers came
to America voluntarily, looking for economic opportunities or
religious freedom.

The MSNBC host
announced that they had run out of time, and MSNBC showed an ad for a
GM car. I changed channels until I found the local news on WRXC. An
attractive young female journalist stood on the sidewalk and reported
that a terrible assault had occurred inside the Cart Circle
restaurant, where Sandy Buckley, a sophomore student at Columbia
University, was the victim.

In front of the
restaurant, the TV journalist interviewed a young waiter, who
explained that he had seen an older woman in her late thirties
quickly walking toward the bar where Sandy Buckley, a part-time
waitress, was ready to pick up a tray full of drinks from the
counter. The older woman angrily warned the young waitress to stay
away from her fiancé, Jack, who was old enough to be her sugar
daddy.

Looking straight into
the eyes of the older woman, the college student replied that Jack
loved her. In response, the older woman picked up a mug from the tray
and threw hot coffee at the student’s face. The young waitress
dropped the tray, screaming in pain and yelling that she could only
see shadows.

The reporter asked what
happened next. The waiter and a customer quickly grabbed the older
woman’s arms as she cursed Sandy. After a brief struggle, they
pulled and pushed her outside to the sidewalk. Finally, the slim
older woman sat down on the sidewalk and stared at the cars as they
zipped down Fifth Avenue in Brooklyn. The police came and arrested
the older woman.

The waiter also gave
the journalist two business cards that the older woman had dropped
onto the restaurant floor during the struggle. According to the
business cards, the older woman was a CPA who owned Lisa Berkley
Sharpe LLC, an accounting and tax company.

Inside the restaurant,
the reporter interviewed the manager, who felt sorry for the pretty
19-year-old victim because she had cried and yelled in pain from the
severe burns to her face and eyes. The manager was upset that the
victim had to wait 15 minutes for the ambulance and emergency medical
treatment because the urgent care center next door had closed at 7:30
p.m.

The TV anchor said that
they all wished Sandy Buckley a speedy recovery, and then the news
moved on and talked about the weather forecast. There was a 50
percent chance of scattered rain showers in New York City on
Thursday.

I wondered if Jack, who
had dated two ladies simultaneously, would move on and find another
pretty college girl. Or maybe a prosecutor would find something and
charge Jack with a crime. Or perhaps the victim’s lawyer and/or the
CPA’s lawyer would sue the hell out of Jack.

I remembered that the
restaurant manager was upset that the urgent care center closed at
7:30 p.m. My guess was that the manager wanted the urgent care center
to treat the college student until the ambulance arrived to take her
to the emergency room. Instead, she cried and screamed in pain inside
the restaurant, which was full of customers.

It occurred to me that
I could develop a new mobile app that would display the locations and
hours of urgent care centers in major metropolitan areas and some
rural areas. I could also provide a URL link to the website of an
urgent care center. Another feature would be a section where patients
could post their reviews and experiences and allow the doctors or
administrators to respond to negative or positive comments.

If my medical app
became successful, I would pay off my three corporate credit cards. I
had always paid the minimum required payments and rolled the
remaining balances into the next billing cycle. The combined
outstanding balance on my three corporate credit cards was over
$28,000, with an interest rate of 18%–25%, depending on the card. I
was also eager to pay off my company’s $50,000 business loan
because it had a 30% interest rate. I used my three corporate credit
cards and my corporate bank loan to pay my living expenses because my
company only had one asset: my technical skills. In addition, I would
only face corporate bankruptcy instead of personal bankruptcy if I
didn’t pay my bills. Of course, I would have to live in a tent or
my car instead of an apartment if I faced corporate bankruptcy.
Hopefully, my next mobile app will be successful.

I turned off the TV,
grabbed my laptop, and sat on our bed while Jane continued working in
the office area. As I started to develop my new mobile app, I
searched for and found three jokes on Google that Jane would like, so
we would finally have some fun.

Jane finished her work
two hours later and reclined beside me on our large bed. I told her I
admired her ability to understand all the detailed FDA procedures,
regulations, and legal footnotes required to get a new drug approved.

Jane smiled and asked
me what color her eyes were. I didn’t know. She asked me to take a
good look. I turned to my side and leaned forward with my chest and
head until I almost reached her nose. Her eyes were brown. Jane
touched my face and kissed me. I returned her kiss as we lay
face-to-face.

As I began to unbutton
her red blouse, Jane touched my blue jeans between my legs. We
continued to explore each other’s bodies like teenagers studying
human anatomy. Finally, Jane and I had passionate fun on the wide
hotel bed and became a close couple.

As we lay naked next to
each other, Jane asked how I felt about our relationship. I replied
that we have good chemistry. Jane smiled, turned toward me, and
kissed me again. I returned her kiss, and we fondled and kissed each
other’s private parts, but I had nothing left to give to her as a
man because I had been a robust man a few minutes before.


Chapter
26:

New
York City – Broadway

I quickly said I was
hungry, and Jane suggested eating at the hotel restaurant, but we
found out that it had closed at 10:30 p.m. Jane instructed the taxi
driver, whom the hotel doorman hailed, to take us to a nice
restaurant near Times Square.

The driver took us to
Applebee’s Grill and Bar on 42nd Street because many restaurants
were closing or were already closed. It was almost full, even at that
late hour. The restaurant had square tables in the front near the
windows looking out to the street, but they were all taken. It had a
cash register and a stairway in the middle of the restaurant, leading
to many more tables upstairs and to the restrooms. The bar with no
barstools was behind the cash register and stairway. The restaurant
had millennium pendant lighting, creating a semi-lit atmosphere, and
played soft, easy music.

The hostess led us to
an empty, six-person booth on the left side. I saw a painting of
mountains surrounded by clouds on the wall beside our booth. Jane
ordered the double crunch shrimp and a classic lemonade, while I
ordered a classic, well-done hamburger and a Coca-Cola.

After a few minutes,
the waiter brought our drinks and appetizers of chicken wings, wonton
tacos, and pub pretzels. I told Jane the three jokes that I had found
earlier on Google:

First joke:

Never trust math
teachers who use graph paper. They’re always plotting something.

Second joke:

I wondered why the
Frisbee kept getting larger and larger, and then it hit me.

Third joke:

Adam and Eve were the
first people to ignore Apple’s terms and conditions.

Jane liked my three
jokes because they played with words that had multiple meanings. She
had also enjoyed our visit to Wall Street and wondered how soon a
stock exchange would list my company, Secure Fast Inc. If my next
mobile app became successful, I would be on my way to having my
company’s shares traded on a stock exchange or over the counter
(OTC). Domestic OTC stocks were sold for pennies, or less than one
dollar per share.

Jane planned to own her
own pharmaceutical company in a few years. I responded that maybe
Bloomberg Businessweek would write an article about us as an
entrepreneurial power couple. She smiled and said everything was
possible.

I told Jane that I had
recently read a great article on the Risk Entrepreneur website about
a poor kid who became a millionaire while he attended college. Jane
was eager to hear about this article. Henry Wells, a freshman at the
University of Maryland, received a $6,000 student loan in 1981 from
Midwestern Bank for his fall semester because his parents lived in a
trailer park.

Jane asked if Henry was
a gifted student. I didn’t know, but Henry used his student loan to
buy shares in Reliever, a geological startup company, instead of
paying his tuition at the University of Maryland. Jane said that a
federal prosecutor would have prosecuted Henry for criminal fraud and
deception if he had lost his loan on the stock market and the federal
government had insured the student loan.

Henry risked going to
jail because his family lived in poverty, so he didn’t have much to
lose. Henry didn’t go to jail because the price of his Reliever
shares doubled after Texaco, an oil company, announced it would buy
Reliever. Texaco wanted Reliever’s invention, which used a new
seismic stratigraphy process for finding huge underground oil
reservoirs. Jane couldn’t decide if Henry was lucky or
street-smart.

Henry quickly sold his
Reliever shares and paid his college tuition with a late penalty fee.
He also bought shares in several other companies with the money he
made from the Reliever stock sale. His investments increased by over
900 percent while he was a freshman at the University of Maryland.
Two years later, Henry set up a mutual fund company with the help of
GoFundMutual, a professional company that helped suave investors set
up a mutual fund for a fee. Henry sold his mutual fund shares to
students, their parents, professors, and the public at large.

When Mr. Henry Wells
received his BA in history, he was familiar with the Italian
Renaissance and a millionaire who owned a fast-growing mutual fund
company.

Jane thought it was
remarkable that Henry became a millionaire while he was in college,
while many current college students graduated with $70,000+ in debt
that they had to pay off with interest over many years.

The waiter brought our
double-crunch shrimp and a classic hamburger. When I had finished
eating my hamburger, I asked Jane if she had made a lot of money in
the stock market, as Henry had.

Jane told me that we
should enjoy our money because we don’t know what will happen
tomorrow. I replied that a multimillion-dollar inheritance can spoil
an organization or a person because they don’t appreciate the value
of money.

Jane stared at me with
an angry glance, as if she were ready to hit me, and coldly asked if
I had implied that she was a spoiled daddy’s girl. Immediately, I
realized I had made a huge mistake and needed to clarify my
statement. I quickly replied that I was thinking of the Salvation
Army. Jane didn’t understand what I was talking about.

I explained that the
widow of the founder of McDonald’s left her fortune to the
Salvation Army in her will. The estate executor went to the
headquarters of the Salvation Army in 2014 and informed the president
of the charity that his organization had inherited $1.5 billion.
However, the president wasn’t happy because he was worried that the
money would corrupt his organization and folks would no longer stand
in the cold and ring their bells in front of stores before Christmas.

“There is no excuse
for your offensive, insulting remark,” Jane said coldly, staring at
me in disgust.

I suggested she check
out my story about the Salvation Army’s inheritance on Google. Jane
looked at her iPhone and admitted that my story was true.

Did I hit a nerve
because her parents were wealthy? Or did my remark offend Jane
because she was a self-made multimillionaire?

I changed subjects and
told Jane that New York City had several great beaches. She was
surprised it had beaches. The popular beaches were Brighton Beach
(Brooklyn), where you could shop in Eastern European boutique stores
and eat in restaurants with cuisines from Eastern Europe, especially
Russia; Great Kills Beach (Staten Island), with sand dunes and a
splendid view of the ocean and Manhattan’s skyscrapers; Coney
Island (Brooklyn), once a popular family beach and amusement park,
although now it was a honky-tonk beach; and Rockaway Beach (Queens)
for surfers and swimmers.

Jane said I knew a lot
about New York City. I grew up in North Brunswick, New Jersey, across
the Hudson River and thirty miles from Manhattan.

We decided to skip
dessert because it was late. I asked for the check, but Jane paid for
our dinner and gave the waitress a one-hundred-dollar tip with her
credit card. As the middle-aged waitress generously thanked us for
the big tip, I told her that she had to work late at night. We left
the restaurant and walked around Times Square. Jane was delighted to
see where the ball would drop on New Year’s Eve and took several
photos with her cell phone. Thirty minutes later, we took a taxi back
to our hotel.

Jane changed into her
green pajamas with red dots in our lit bedroom because we’d had fun
a few hours before. I also changed into my pajamas in the bedroom and
turned off the lights. Jane fell asleep right away.

Lying on our bed and
looking out the two windows, I watched the lights of Manhattan. I
wondered what Jane had meant at our dinner when she said that we
should enjoy our money because we didn’t know what would happen
tomorrow. Did she mean to tell me she had to spend her money quickly
before the authorities would arrest her for some illegal activity? It
occurred to me that foreign governments were willing to pay a lot of
money to Americans with expensive tastes for a flashy sports car, a
luxury condo, a fancy purse, and sparkling diamonds. Jane would be an
excellent spy because she was an intelligent, beautiful, and dynamic
lady. If aggressive FBI agents were to show up at my apartment and
ask me about Jane’s spying activities, I didn’t know what I would
do. Would the FBI pressure me into wearing a hidden microphone and
trap Jane, as I had seen in the movie Wall Street?

Should I break up with
Jane? I watched Jane in the moonlight as she slept next to me. She
breathed calmly, and her face looked relaxed. I couldn’t believe
that she was a spy because she didn’t work for the U.S. government
with a high-level security clearance. Jane was a standard, salaried
employee working at Vandane, a small drug company, and foreign
governments didn’t care for these folks.

Several months before,
I had heard on the radio station KWRT that billionaire Jim Lewin had
left most of his money to his two grandchildren, skipping over his
son. I had nothing to worry about. Like Jim’s grandchildren, Jane
had inherited millions from her grandparents because she was gorgeous
and charming. Her grandparents stipulated in their will that Jane had
to pay for her college to make her tough and self-reliant. I lightly
touched Jane’s legs with my right leg and fell asleep.

We took the ferry on
Wednesday morning to see the Statue of Liberty and Ellis Island. I
was surprised to read in one of the exhibitions that one-third of the
European immigrants who came to the United States during the vast
immigration wave in the late 18th and early 19th centuries went back
to their home countries after staying in the U.S. for several years.

In the early afternoon,
I suggested taking the Big Apple Helicopter Tour advertised in a
tourist pamphlet that I had picked up at our hotel. Jane and I
enjoyed seeing New York City from the sky for 30 minutes. Of course,
Jane paid seven hundred and thirty dollars for the helicopter tour
package for both of us.

Later in the afternoon,
we took a taxi to the Museum of Modern Art because I had convinced
Jane that this museum showed many recent well-known painters, but I
promised that we would see the Guggenheim Museum before we left the
Big Apple. Jane replied that I’d better keep my promise. We enjoyed
seeing the paintings by Vincent van Gogh, Salvador Dalí, Pablo
Picasso, and Andy Warhol in the museum.

The next morning, Jane
asked me during breakfast at our hotel if I would like to go to the
McQueen fashion show because the email from the Pierre Hotel
mentioned that top designers, including Marc Jacobs, Miuccia Prada,
and Elie Saab, would present their new summer fashion and evening
gowns. Of course, I didn’t oppose Jane’s suggestion because I
would love to see pretty ladies on the runway. Jane had to create an
account on the fashion show website and download the QR code to her
cell phone.

The fashion show was
held at the Ritz-Carlton Hotel, another fabulous five-star hotel near
Central Park. Mr. Owen McQueen, the organizer, greeted us at the door
and told us to enjoy the show.

We sat in the fifth of
seven rows of chairs in the middle of the runway. All the seats were
taken, and over a dozen people stood in the back. Several people wore
badges around their necks; I assumed they were journalists or fashion
consultants. Two sophisticated cameras were set up at the end of the
runway.

I enjoyed seeing the
sexy models walking down the runway to rock and country music. Jane
liked the light green evening gown designed by Elie Saab. After the
fashion show had ended, she bought the dress from Mr. McQueen with
her debit card because he had told us earlier at the door that we
could buy dresses straight from the runway. She planned to wear this
dress for our Broadway show tomorrow.

Jane paid $22,000 for
her new dress. $22,000 was Monopoly money for her because she had
bought a purse for $63,460 and a pair of sunglasses for $45,276. But
I kept my thoughts to myself.

Mr. McQueen thanked
Jane for buying this elegant evening gown and told her to wait for
the designer, Elie Saab, and his assistant to make some minor
adjustments, free of charge. We waited behind the empty chairs in the
large ballroom because many people had already left the show. After
ten minutes, a middle-aged woman told us that her name was Fatima
Abboud, and she would adjust the evening gown. Jane asked where Elie
Saab was. Fatima replied that Elie had left already, but she was
Elie’s expert tailor. Jane walked to the backstage fitting room
with Fatima, while I continued to wait in the ballroom.

I picked up a pamphlet
about Elie Saab that was left on an empty chair. According to the
booklet, Elie designed dresses for many female celebrities, including
Halle Berry, Sandra Bullock, Nicole Kidman, Shakira, Catherine
Zeta-Jones, Taylor Swift, and Queen Noor of Jordan.

I assumed that Elie
Saab asked himself, “Jane, who?” and left the fashion show
quickly. Of course, if Taylor Swift, Shakira, or Catherine Zeta-Jones
had bought the dress, I was sure that Elie would have stayed to make
the necessary adjustments.

After twenty minutes,
Jane showed me her new dress. It had light green satin stripes
forming random curves down to her ankles. Her dress also had an
A-line silhouette, a square neckline, straps tied at the shoulders,
nips at the natural waist, and a hidden back zipper. The dress was
made from nylon, silk, and cotton.

Jane asked what I
thought about her new dress. Many men at the Broadway show would be
jealous of me because she looked so beautiful. She kissed me, and I
returned her kiss.

After she had changed
back into her blue skirt and green shirt in the fitting room, Jane
told me that Mr. McQueen would deliver her dress to our suite at the
Pierre Hotel via a courier, free of charge. I figured Mr. McQueen
could absorb the 90- or 100-dollar courier fee because Jane had paid
$22,000 for her new dress.

We ate lunch at the
Tavern on the Green restaurant, prominently featured in movies like
Ghostbusters, Arthur, and Heartburn. Jane
ordered the Great South Ray Blue Island oysters, while I ordered the
tomato soup. She got the grilled shrimp salad as her main course, and
I had the grilled chicken salad. I also ordered two glasses of
semi-dry Riesling wine.

As we ate our food, I
suggested hiring a lawyer and suing Hotel 35 the next day. Jane
replied that our lawyer’s fee and the court costs would be much
more than $55. If we hired a top-notch lawyer, he could sue for
thousands of dollars for mental pain, ruining our vacation. But Jane
didn’t want to drive Hotel 35 out of business, since it provided a
necessary service for the public.

I reminded Jane that
she had suggested suing Hotel 35, but she replied that I could still
go ahead and pay for a lawyer. I didn’t have the money to hire a
lawyer and pay the court fees.

“That’s your
problem, not mine.”

“You are a tough
lady,” I said.

Jane smiled and told me
to enjoy this wonderful lunch and atmosphere. I reluctantly admitted
that the food and ambiance were great at the Tavern on the Green.
Jane proposed a toast because we had a blast in the Big Apple.

The waiter left the
bill presentation folder near my seat, and Jane asked where he was
from. He replied that he used to be a family doctor in Venezuela,
then walked away. Jane paid $190 for our lunch and gave the waiter a
$500 tip. When the waiter returned with the credit card slip in the
folder, he thanked us a lot for the tip because he was a refugee who
needed money to support his two children. Jane gave him another $200
in cash. The waiter thanked Jane multiple times before leaving our
table.

As we walked toward
Central Park, Jane explained that the government of Venezuela made 98
percent of the population poor in the name of equality instead of
adopting a policy where everybody had an opportunity to succeed based
on their skills, perseverance, and experience. I asked who the
wealthy two percent were. They were the loyal party officials who
lived luxurious lives in Venezuela because they stole money from the
government.

I told Jane that a
friend of mine got a D on his test in his junior high school English
class. The student protested his grade because he had studied hard
and tried his best. He deserved at least a B grade. The teacher
explained that if you’re last in a foot race, it doesn’t matter
how hard you practiced; even if you tried your best during the race,
you’re still last. Jane replied that the bottom line in
professional jobs like engineers, doctors, lawyers, plumbers, and
handymen is that results count, and everybody has to find their
strengths and talents.

As we walked across the
grass in Central Park holding hands, I explained that this English
high school teacher also taught me a life lesson. Jane wanted to find
out what it was. At the end of the third-quarter grading period, the
teacher asked all his students to write a paper explaining their
deserved grades and why. I wrote that I earned a “C”, even though
I wanted to get a “B”. Another student who got Ds on his tests
and never did his homework wrote that he should get an “A”
because of class participation. When we received our quarterly report
cards, I got a “C”, while the other student got an “A”. I
complained bitterly to the English teacher, but he showed me the
paper that I had written to justify my “C” and the other
student’s paper to justify his “A.” The high school teacher
told me I should always promote myself and let others tear me down.
He told me to remember this life lesson. Jane explained that this
teacher went beyond just the mechanics of the English language and
taught his students essential life lessons.

We walked around
Central Park and rented a rowboat at the Loeb Boathouse. In the
evening, as we ate in the hotel’s exquisite restaurant, Jane asked
when we would visit the Guggenheim Museum. I replied that I didn’t
know because the Big Apple has many attractions. She said she would
be upset if we didn’t visit the museum. I told her that we still
had two days left in the Big Apple. Back in our hotel suite, Jane
continued to work at the executive desk area on the new drug while I
stayed in the bedroom with the door closed to develop my mobile app.

At around 10:00 p.m., I
happily smiled because we finally took a shower together. Afterward,
we had some more fun in bed. As we lay next to each other, Jane told
me that men hit on her all the time, but she didn’t want to sleep
with everybody. I was glad that she didn’t sleep around, and I
kissed her. Jane returned my kiss passionately, and we fell asleep in
each other’s arms.

On Friday evening, we
went to a Broadway musical. I was glad that I had brought my old dark
blue interview suit and red tie, but I was surprised that I was one
of the few men wearing a suit and tie to a Broadway theater. Of
course, Jane had bought box-seat theater tickets online in our city
because she had never seen a live Broadway show in New York City.
However, she had read about Broadway shows like Hamilton on
different websites over the years.

We liked the musical,
The Music Man, even though some critics had given it a
negative review. As a taxi drove us back to our hotel, Jane remarked
that she liked how the con salesman and the established librarian
fell in love. Did Jane imply that I was the con salesman and she was
the established librarian with a lot of spending money that she got
from somewhere? I decided to keep my mouth shut. Instead, I remarked
that the con guy inspired the high school students to love and play
music on their different instruments. She agreed that the musical’s
ending was lovely.

Jane looked hot that
night in her new evening gown, sapphire earrings, a large platinum
diamond necklace, and the Valentino Garavani high-heeled shoes.

The next morning, as we
packed our suitcases to leave the hotel, Jane wore her tight blue
designer jeans with a red blouse and high-heeled shoes that sparkled
with small, scattered diamonds. I wore my regular blue jeans and a
blue-striped cotton shirt.

Seeing her $63,460
Hermes Kelly purse lying on the couch, I asked Jane if she had gotten
an enormous divorce settlement from a wealthy ex-husband. Jane
replied that she had ten rich ex-husbands from around the world.

“Are you making fun
of me?”

“A dumb question gets
a silly answer,” Jane quickly replied.

I changed subjects and
told her I had enjoyed our walk at Fort Tryon Park the previous
morning. Jane had also enjoyed our walk because she never expected to
see hills and forests in Manhattan, since she had always associated
Manhattan with tall skyscrapers.

As I rolled my carry-on
suitcase to the front door of our hotel suite, she asked me why I was
staring at her. I replied that I was crazy about her cheerful face.
Jane blushed. I quickly walked past our suitcases and kissed her. She
returned my kiss. As I grabbed her firm rear end with both hands,
Jane touched my pants between my legs and remarked that my tool was
working.

We had insane fun on
the couch in our hotel suite and missed our checkout time by 95
minutes. The front desk didn’t care because it was a five-star
hotel.

We ate lunch at the
hotel restaurant while we waited for Mr. Ricci, the taxi driver, to
arrive. During our lunch, Jane reminded me again of the Guggenheim
Museum. I replied that she should not worry because we still had over
half a day left in the Big Apple. She replied that she would be
furious if we didn’t see the Guggenheim Museum.

“I know, I know.”

“I don’t want to
see the Guggenheim Museum in a rush because we ran out of time,”
Jane warned me.

“I understand.”

When we left the hotel,
I saw Mr. Ricci standing on the sidewalk beside his taxi with the
on-call light turned off. When he saw me, he waved. But when he saw
Jane, he immediately ran toward us to take our suitcases and then
lifted them into the trunk of his taxi. The driver knew who had the
money.

Jane promised to give
Mr. Ricci a nice tip if he showed us New York City for the next seven
hours.

“No problem,” the
taxi driver replied again.

We stopped at an ATM,
and Jane withdrew $600 from one card and $400 from another. She gave
the taxi driver $1,000 in cash. The driver showed us from his taxi
the Rockefeller Center, Washington Square Park, Madison Square
Garden, Bryant Park, and Grand Central Terminal. The taxi driver
waited while we went up to the top of the Empire State Building to
get a splendid view of New York City.

Mr. Ricci had to wait
for us for at least ninety minutes at the Guggenheim Museum because
of the lengthy line in front of the elevator. But we enjoyed seeing
the paintings and sculptures as we leisurely walked down the spiral
stairway. I was glad that Jane finally saw the Guggenheim Museum.

The driver drove across
the famous Brooklyn Bridge, which was sold many times in scam sales
in the 18th century and became the ultimate in gullibility or
salesmanship.

When Mr. Ricci dropped
us off at JFK Airport, he asked us to call him if we ever came back
to New York City, and he could show us many more attractions,
including the beaches. Jane assured him that we would keep his
business card.

We ate a sandwich with
coffee at the airport and flew home on Saturday night.

.


Chapter
27:

Royal
Fox Theater

We landed early Sunday
morning, and Jane accepted my offer to drive her home because she had
taken a limousine to the airport the past Monday. She didn’t want
to leave her new Porsche in the airport parking lot for several days.

When we arrived at her
condo around 6:00 a.m., Jane invited me to stay at her condo because
she didn’t want me to have an accident while I drove back to my
apartment after our long trip. Of course, I agreed, but I wondered if
I would sleep with her in the primary bedroom instead of her guest
bedroom.

I was thrilled when I
followed Jane upstairs to her bedrooms for the first time, and she
finally showed me her primary bedroom. It had a king-size bed with
nightstands on both sides, a dressing table with a large mirror on
top, and another dressing table with many drawers. It also had a
small stereo system next to the second dressing table, a speaker
hanging from the wall, a 36-inch TV screen attached to the wall
across from her bed, and two windows looking out to trees in a small
park. Her walk-in closet had many dresses, dress pants, shirts,
purses, and shoes.

A door on the right
side led to a bathroom with a large triangle bathtub, a shower, two
sinks, and a toilet with a door and a small window. Her condo had a
full bathroom for each of her three bedrooms and a half bathroom next
to the living and recreational rooms.

We slept like bears in
her primary bedroom until noon on Sunday. When we took a shower
together, my manhood became strong. I grabbed Jane’s hand and led
her to the bed because we would be more comfortable there. Jane must
have enjoyed my spontaneous decision as a man because she didn’t
complain that we were still wet and soapy on her king-sized bed.
Afterward, I helped her change the bed sheets. We quickly ate our
breakfast in her kitchen because Jane had to rush to her office to
catch up on her work.

As I drove back to my
apartment alone on Sunday early afternoon, I felt ecstatic because
Jane had become my girlfriend on our trip to the Big Apple. She had a
cheerful face, an athletic body with the right curves, and she didn’t
hesitate to spend money to have a great time. I just didn’t
understand why I was so lucky to have met her.

Jane called me on
Monday evening and invited me to see the play Hamlet on
Saturday night at the Royal Fox Theater in the art district of our
city. Of course, I accepted.

She called me on
Tuesday and Wednesday nights, and I called her on Thursday and Friday
nights. We discussed our trip to the Big Apple and American novels we
had read in high school, such as The Great Gatsby, The Adventures
of Tom Sawyer, The Grapes of Wrath, The Jungle, and The Old
Man and the Sea.

As I lay alone on my
bed in my small bedroom around midnight on Friday, I didn’t
understand why Jane liked The Grapes of Wrath and The
Jungle because these novels dealt with the struggles of poor
folks, but she was super rich. Did Jane understand poverty because
her parents were poor? If her parents were poor, I had to find out
quickly how Jane had become a multimillionaire in her mid-twenties
because the private investigator had warned me that I could get mixed
up with cold-blooded, violent criminals.

I drove to Jane’s
condo in my 20-year-old Toyota Corolla to pick her up on Saturday
evening. When Jane opened the door, I noticed that she was wearing
the evening gown she had bought at the fashion show in New York City.

Jane asked if I was
disappointed that she was wearing the same dress. I figured she
must’ve seen my disappointed look, but I replied that she looked
like a movie star on the red carpet at the Oscars. Jane kissed me,
and I returned her kiss. We let nature take its course on the couch
in her living room because we hadn’t seen each other for five days.

It was a new experience
for me because I could partially see the city through the two large
windows, but nobody saw us in the unlit living room because of the
distance and elevation.

Forty minutes later, we
left her condo and waited in the hallway for the elevator. Jane said
she liked my dark blue suit and red tie, but my socks didn’t match.
One sock was black, and the other one was blue. I was in a rush to
get to her condo on time.

“We’re a couple
without a schedule,” Jane remarked as she smiled at me.

“We enjoy life,
moment to moment,” I added.

As we walked toward her
car in the condo’s garage, Jane asked if I knew how to drive a
stick shift. I told her I had driven an old stick-shift Nissan in
graduate school, so she asked if I wanted to drive her Porsche.

“No problem,” I
replied like the taxi driver.

Even though Jane was an
intelligent, educated multimillionaire woman, I figured that she
still held traditional values because she wanted her man to drive the
Porsche. We were about ten minutes late, but still enjoyed the play
in our wide box seats in the balcony section.


Chapter
28:

Joe’s
Place

After the theater, I
suggested walking half a block to have a snack at Joe’s Place. When
we entered the restaurant, we didn’t see any tables available. Jane
asked why it was packed so late at night. I informed her that a large
movie theater was across the street, and a dance studio was one block
away. The studio taught or held dance parties for salsa, Latin,
tango, swing, and line dancing. Jane asked how I knew about the dance
studio. I took swing lessons at the studio two years ago and
suggested we go swing dancing on a weekend because it is a lot of fun
and great exercise. Jane replied that it would be fun, even though
she didn’t know the steps yet. I could show her the dance steps.

Joe’s Place was a
well-lit restaurant with recessed lighting and a flat white ceiling.
Several large abstract paintings hung on the light gray walls, but I
heard no music. It had a counter where you could order and pick up
your food.

On the far-right-hand
side were seven long tables with eight chairs on each side. Young
people sat at six tables, while older folks sat at one table. I
recognized an older couple from the theater. The square tables in the
front were all occupied. Jane noticed an empty table with two chairs
next to a window on the left side and sat down at the table to hold
our spot. I approached the counter and ordered a piece of lemon cake
for me and a black forest cake for Jane.

I carried two cups of
coffee with cream and sugar back to our table. Jane asked what I had
thought about the play. I liked that the theater director didn’t
try to modernize Hamlet and change its meaning. Jane agreed
and remarked that Hamlet’s indecision caused his downfall.

A woman sitting at the
table next to us told Jane that she loved her dress. Jane informed
her that she had bought it at a fashion show in New York City. The
older lady asked if Jane had to pay a huge markup to buy a dress at a
fashion show. Jane remarked that she liked dresses with elegance and
grace, and money wasn’t a problem. The older lady turned around
again to face her husband; they both appeared to be in their fifties.
They began to talk loudly about their planned vacation to Hawaii next
week.

The worker at the
counter called my number. I picked up our two cake pieces and
returned them to our table. As Jane began eating her black forest
cake, I told her I would make a lot of money in the real estate
business, as Tariq did. Who was Tariq? He was a fellow graduate
student at Carnegie Mellon University in Pennsylvania.

Jane asked if Tariq had
written a computer software program for real estate agents. I told
her no because Tariq had bought a large, abandoned, and trash-filled
parking lot in a drug-infested neighborhood in Washington, D.C., for
$10,000. His relatives and friends thought it was a foolish
investment because Tariq still had to pay property taxes on his
abandoned parking lot. Three years later, Tariq sold his abandoned
parking lot for over 1.5 million dollars because the neighborhood had
become fashionable.

Jane asked if I had
kept in touch with Tariq. I told her I had only stayed connected via
email with Sebastian Harlin, a mutual friend.

Jane asked why I was
talking about Tariq.

I said, “We could
buy—”

Jane interrupted me and
told me that she wouldn’t buy anything, so I said I would write a
mobile app to find abandoned houses that we could fix up. Jane
angrily replied that she wasn’t a real estate developer but a
chemical engineer developing new drugs to help people with medical
issues.

I told her we could
make millions of dollars in the real estate business, like Tariq did,
if we bought empty lots in dangerous neighborhoods. Jane remained
silent. I asked what the problem was, but she said that we should go
home. We hadn’t finished our cake and coffee, but she told me it
didn’t matter.

She drove the Porsche
back to her condo, and we walked in silence to the elevator in the
condo’s garage.

As Jane pushed the
lobby button in the elevator, I asked why she was so angry, but she
remained silent. When the elevator door opened, she told me to go
home to my apartment in Vista Gardens. I left the elevator, turned
around, and waved to her, but she coldly stared at me as the doors
closed. Jane went to her luxury condo alone.

As I drove back to my
apartment on Sunday around 1:15 a.m. by myself, I didn’t understand
why Jane had become so angry when I had suggested a terrific
opportunity where we could make millions of dollars. I just didn’t
understand why Jane was so shortsighted and didn’t see the big
picture.


Chapter
29:

Phone
Call

Jane didn’t call me
on Monday and Tuesday. On Wednesday evening, I wondered if I should
call Jane and sweet-talk her. I picked up the phone to let her know
that I didn’t need her millions, but I didn’t call her. I was
concerned that I would say the wrong things about money, and she
would become angrier. Let her cool off, and she would call me on
Thursday or Friday.

On Thursday evening, I
read an online article about Martha Stewart, the billionaire
businesswoman who went to jail for insider stock trading. Martha
declined to appeal her unfair conviction to help her company’s
share price. After several months, the authorities released Martha
from prison, and the shareholders applauded her like a hero at their
next meeting because the price of her company’s shares had
quadrupled while she was in jail.

Did Jane accidentally
get involved in an insider stock trading scam because she worked for
a minor drug company with a lot of venture capital money slushing
around? According to Google, illegal insider trading occurs when a
person sells or buys a company’s stock, bond, or options based on
significant nonpublic information about the company. However, I
dismissed my thoughts about insider stock trading because Jane always
talked about developing new drugs to help patients.

With no calls from Jane
by Friday evening, I wondered if I should call her and find out how
she was doing. But I decided against it because I didn’t want to
grovel in front of my multimillionaire girlfriend or ex-girlfriend.

Jane called me on
Saturday at 1:00 a.m. and asked if she had woken me up. When I
answered that I couldn’t sleep, she wanted to know why.

I was still trying to
figure out why she was angry with me. Jane explained that it would be
best for our relationship if I became rich with my skills and hard
work because I was proud. I asked why she didn’t want to become a
real estate business partner because it would strengthen our feelings
for each other. Jane didn’t answer my question but asked if I
thought she was stupid. I told her she was intelligent and clever,
but Jane believed I wanted her money to fund my real estate
adventures.

“I don’t need your
millions because I’m developing a new mobile app in the medical
field,” I informed Jane.

But I had told her at
Joe’s Café that I would develop a new real estate mobile app to
find cheap properties like abandoned lots, houses, and townhouses
that we could renovate. I would create the real estate app after I
had finished my new medical mobile app, and I would give her a free
copy of my real estate app if she wanted it. Jane admitted that she
was confused about all these mobile apps that I planned to develop.

“I’ll make millions
of dollars from my new medical mobile app,” I said confidently.

“You always see the
glass full, even when it’s 80 percent empty,” she replied.

“I’m happy if the
glass is one percent full because the glass isn’t empty.”

Jane liked my
optimistic remark and invited me for dinner at her condo that day. I
happily accepted her invitation and promised to arrive by 7:00 p.m.
sharp.


Chapter
30:

Billiard
Game

When Jane opened her
door on Saturday night, I gave her a single, beautiful rose because
of my limited budget. She thanked me, and we walked into her kitchen,
where she poured water into a vase for the rose.

Standing next to the
kitchen table, I embraced Jane and kissed her. She returned my kiss
with passion. We had intense fun on the kitchen chair, even though
she kept her red skirt and half of her bra on and I kept my blue
jeans on. I didn’t create a mess as a man because Jane had given me
a Trojan condom. She got up from the kitchen chair and said we
shouldn’t fight anymore.

“I feel great,” I
replied while sitting on the chair.

“You men only think
about sex.”

“I have no choice.
You have a gorgeous body.”

“Make the salad,”
Jane ordered, smiling.

I sliced two tomatoes,
one cucumber, half an onion, and several pieces of lettuce while Jane
cooked chicken and rice. She tried to open a jar of beets but was
unsuccessful. I tried to open it but also failed. Jane gave me a
small cloth to grip the jar’s top cover better, but I still failed.
I suggested getting a wrench, so we got an adjustable wrench from a
bag in her recreation room. However, I could not open the wrench wide
enough to get a good grip on the jar’s cover. Jane recommended
grabbing the jar’s cover from the top with the wrench. I followed
her suggestion and slowly opened the cover of the jar.

As Jane grabbed several
beets from inside the jar with a fork, I told her she needed a strong
man as I raised my right arm and flexed. However, she reminded me
that she was the one who had recommended that I should grab the jar
cover from the top with the wrench. But I had suggested getting the
wrench. Jane said we were a great team working together. I embraced
her, and we kissed.

Jane had bought a new
dining table that sat two people and placed the table next to one of
the living room windows. We ate our dinner of chicken breast, rice,
and salad on her new table by candlelight and saw the city’s lights
below us through the large window. I told her the chicken and rice
were delicious and that she was a great cook. Jane liked the tomato
and cucumber salad that I had prepared.

I asked where she had
learned to cook, and she said she loved to cook because it reminded
her of her grandmother, who had taught her. Her grandmother had died
eight years ago after battling kidney and gastrointestinal issues for
two years. I offered my condolences and sympathy. Jane visited her
grandparents’ gravestone once or twice a year. When I mentioned it
was terrific, Jane smiled.

Did Jane often visit
her grandparents’ graves because she had inherited millions of
dollars from them? I asked if her grandparents were rich. She asked
me to find out on Google if she had missed a trust fund worth
hundreds of millions of dollars from her grandparents. Would I get a
50 percent cut if I found a missing inheritance trust fund? Jane told
me my cut would depend on how much money I would recover from her
lost inheritance. I changed subjects and told her I liked the small
dining table next to the window. She admitted I was right about her
dining table being too big for two people.

After our dinner, we
had ice cream and lemon cake. Jane asked if I knew how to play
billiards. I had played pool at different corporate events, so after
we had cleaned up, we played a game in her rec room.

I hadn’t asked Jane
to play strip chess at our previous lunch at her condo because it was
too early in our relationship, but everything had changed. So, I
suggested making our game more interesting by playing strip pool.
Jane smiled and said that I would be playing naked soon. What would
happen if I were naked and she dropped another ball in a pocket? Jane
explained that I would have to do whatever she asked me to do. Would
I have to do naked jumping jacks? Jane smiled and said that she would
have a major surprise for me, but I said I would have a surprise for
her because she would get naked first.

We started a new
billiard game and laughed and kissed whenever one of us took a piece
of our clothes off because the other player had hit a ball into one
of the pockets.

After I had dropped
another ball into a pocket, Jane took off her bra while still wearing
her pink silk string panties; I was still wearing my white cotton
briefs. I kissed her, and we started fooling around on her pool
table. We never finished the game.


Chapter
31:

Sunday
Morning

Around midnight, we
walked upstairs to her primary bedroom, and I lay down next to Jane
on her bed. She wore her silk nightgown with no panties or bra, while
I wore my unbuttoned, red-striped shirt without any underwear.

“Why didn’t you
call me last week to clear up our misunderstanding?” she casually
asked.

“I was busy working
on my medical mobile app.”

“You don’t care
about my millions?”

“Your Porsche is fun
to drive, but not my style,” I casually replied.

“What do you like
about me?”

“Your spontaneous
spirit.”

“I love you,” Jane
said as she kissed me.

I returned her kiss,
but we didn’t make love again because I was exhausted. Twice within
a few hours turned out to be enough for me, even though Jane was a
sex kitten. But she told me not to worry about it, and we fell asleep
in each other’s arms and slept like koala bears.

I woke up around 9:00
the following morning and kissed Jane on her cheeks and mouth. She
woke up, and we made passionate love. I figured my sleep had
rejuvenated me.

An hour later, Jane
turned on a switch to protect her balcony from the morning sunshine
with a sturdy cloth tarp. We ate breakfast in the shade and enjoyed
the slightly warm morning breeze.

I had an apple, a
banana, and bread with honey, while Jane ate a bowl of cereal with
milk and bread with Laughing Cow light cream cheese. We also both had
scrambled eggs and coffee. I suggested exploring Green Field, a free
state park near our city. Jane liked my idea of going hiking because
the weather was warm and sunny.

I rushed back to my
apartment to change clothes, and on the way back, I paid for our
carryout lunch from Chipotle. As we ate lunch around 1:15 p.m. at her
kitchen table, Jane told me I could leave some extra clothes in a
dresser drawer in her bedroom. I agreed.

Later in the afternoon,
we left her condo to go to Green Field Park. As we stood inside the
elevator, Jane pushed the lobby button.

“Is your Porsche
parked on the street?” I asked.

“You don’t like my
new Porsche.”

I explained that we
should drive her car because the Porsche was an excellent fit for her
Bentley sunglasses and gold bracelet with small, scattered diamonds.
When the elevator doors opened at the lobby level, Jane pushed the
garage button.

We walked on the blue
trail, climbing several small hills covered with trees and bushes.
There was some thunder in the distance, but we kept on walking,
hoping that it would not come in our direction. We walked across two
bridges that crossed small creeks and saw several squirrels, birds,
and two deer in the forest.

Suddenly, the
thunderstorm reached us. We quickly found a place underneath a huge
tree that protected us from the downpour. I kissed her, and she
passionately returned my kiss. We made love underneath the tree
during the thunderstorm, keeping most of our clothes on. As we walked
back to our car in the light rain, we laughed and felt giddy, even
though our clothes were wet. I dried my clothes in her condo and
drove back to my apartment because Monday was a working day for us.


Chapter
32:

Charlotte
Goffin

On Monday around 1
a.m., I was alone in my apartment, so I searched for Jane’s
grandparents and other relatives on Google to see if they were rich.
Jane had implied Saturday night that my cut would be huge if I found
an unclaimed multimillion-dollar trust fund. But I didn’t find
anything that indicated that her grandparents were multimillionaires.
They owned a small restaurant next to several small stores in a
shopping center but retired when the landlord sold the land to a real
estate developer. Maybe Jane was right, and her grandparents weren’t
wealthy.

But how did Jane become
a multimillionaire in her mid-twenties? She didn’t gamble in the
stock market because she never talked about stocks or bonds. She
didn’t invest in real estate because she had angrily told me at
Joe’s Place that she wasn’t a real estate developer. She didn’t
have her own company because she had told me in New York City that
she planned to own her own pharmaceutical company in a few years.

I searched on Google to
see how women in their early twenties became multimillionaires. I
found that female singers, actresses, social media celebrity stars,
and athletes like tennis players or gymnasts became rich, but not
chemical engineers.

Finally, I read an
article about Charlotte Goffin, who had lost her appeal before the
Colorado Supreme Court to prevent her extradition to Arizona from
Colorado. She had hired one of the best criminal lawyers in Colorado
to defend her.

The prosecutor alleged
that a jury had convicted Charlotte of shooting her boyfriend to
death in a rage of jealousy 36 years earlier when she was eighteen.
Two years later, she escaped from the Arizona State Prison Complex in
Perryville, married Mr. Luca Clark, a multimillionaire IT
entrepreneur in Denver, Colorado, and had four children. She also
volunteered for nonprofit groups like food banks, environmental
groups, and art organizations.

Thirty-six years later,
she became a volunteer coach for her youngest daughter’s Tiger
soccer team. A few weeks later, the authorities in Colorado arrested
her because the soccer officials had sent her name for a background
check. There was no statute of limitation on a homicide conviction in
Arizona.

Mr. Clark, her husband,
said in the article that he would start an online petition begging
the governor of Arizona to show compassion and pardon his wife or
commute her sentence because she had lived an exemplary life for 36
years, and her four children loved her and needed her.

Thinking about this
online article, I wondered if Jane had married a rich, older man who
had suddenly died. Did Jane kill him to get his money as his wife?
Was I sleeping with a cold-blooded murderer?

If Jane were a criminal
gold digger, she would be sleeping with a multimillionaire or
billionaire in his 80s or 90s and not with a young mobile app
developer with no money or assets but only debt.

I lay down on my bed
but couldn’t sleep. Thinking about Jane, I realized that I hadn’t
gotten into any trouble so far because of her millions. But what
about tomorrow, next week, or next month? If her money were dirty, I
could face an ugly situation at any time. I finally closed my eyes,
trying to fall asleep. After an hour, I finally fell asleep because I
was tired.


Chapter
33:

Credit
Cards

I went to see Doctor
Aria Yecheskel, an excellent optometrist, in the middle of June. I
paid $160 for the eye exam with my Chase Ink credit card, and the
doctor prescribed new distance eyeglasses for me. Likewise, I walked
over to the optician’s table inside her office and bought one of
the cheapest pairs of new frames and lenses, costing $320.

I gave them my credit
card, but the transaction was rejected, probably because I exceeded
this billing cycle’s limit. I gave them my second credit card, a
Credit One Bank Platinum, but it was also rejected. Finally, I gave
them my Petal 1 Visa Credit Card, and the transaction was approved.

I was glad I could buy
a new pair of glasses, but I realized I had to work hard, fast, and
smart to finish my medical mobile app. My business loan was rapidly
disappearing because I used it to pay my credit card debts and my
rent. I could always try to get a new corporate business loan from
some finance company, but I decided to focus on finishing my new
medical mobile app instead.


Chapter
34:

Fourth
of July

Jane and I worked
around 50 hours a week in June, but we still called and texted each
other daily and saw each other on weekends.

We took a break on the
afternoon of July 4th and drove to Bell Gordon Park, next to the
river, to watch the fireworks. It took me at least 40 minutes to find
a parking space on a residential street, and we had to walk over a
mile. We didn’t care because we held hands or walked arm-in-arm.
When I lowered my arm to touch her hips, Jane pulled my arm up to her
waist.

Jane wore her white,
hot pants with a light, sleeveless gray shirt that showed her gray
bra on the back. I wore cut-off blue jeans and my light-blue striped
cotton shirt because the temperature was still in the high eighties.

Families and young
people packed the park. We found a small open area far away from the
river and near a small patch of woods. We put down our blanket; on
Jane’s side were three young guys in their twenties, while I was
next to a family with three kids.

One of the guys, who
looked to be the strongest, told Jane he liked her hot pants and legs
as the other two guys watched him. Even though I knew that he could
beat the crap out of me, I angrily yelled that he should mind his own
business. He replied that I should say it to his face and not hide
behind a girl like a coward.

Jane quietly but
forcefully told me to ignore him, and I followed Jane’s advice. The
strong guy remarked that I was like a poodle who obeyed his master.
Jane grabbed my right hand and sternly ordered me to remain calm. I
looked away and watched two middle-school-aged boys and a girl
playing a game on their cell phones. The three guys started to laugh
among themselves. Jane and I laid down on our backs and ignored them.
The three young guys stopped laughing and started talking about a
topless bar downtown. Their male hormones reached a new high in the
hot weather.

As Jane and I stared at
the blue sky with some stray clouds, I told Jane that I had read an
excellent online article about Doctor Ignaz Semmelweis. Jane
mentioned that she had never heard of him. I explained that Dr.
Semmelweis was a rural Hungarian doctor who had moved to Vienna in
1846 to work as a resident doctor at the General Hospital, a
well-known hospital in Vienna, the capital of the Hapsburg Empire.
Semmelweis thought it was a terrific opportunity for him because he
felt like a doctor moving from the rural parts of Kansas to the
Washington, D.C. metropolitan area.

Jane told me that the
half-moon looked beautiful. I agreed and continued to tell Jane that
Semmelweis became deeply concerned because many rich mothers and/or
their babies died during delivery at the hospital, where many
well-known, educated doctors worked. However, mothers who delivered
with midwives back in rural Hungary had a much lower mortality rate.
He remembered that the midwives always washed their hands and used
clean towels and bedsheets, but this wasn’t the case with the
doctors at this prominent hospital in Vienna, Austria, in 1846. In
fact, many doctors treated sick and dying patients with diseases like
puerperal fever before they delivered babies.

Semmelweis concluded
from his observations that cleanliness was critical for the health of
the mothers and their babies. However, he lacked a scientific
explanation for his keen observation in 1846 because Louis Pasteur,
Joseph Lister, and others did not develop the germ theory of disease
until the 1860s and 1870s.

Jane asked what Dr.
Semmelweis did with his logical conclusion. He wrote a memo to the
director of the General Hospital in which he explained his
observations. He proposed that all doctors must wash their hands with
soap or a chlorine solution before treating pregnant women.
Furthermore, he also recommended that the hospital always use clean
towels and sheets for pregnant women and newborn babies.

Jane remarked that his
memo made a lot of sense. I told her that the established doctors
with many university degrees were outraged that a rural doctor with
no university degree dared to tell them how to do their jobs. The
accountants and hospital administrators became concerned about the
added cost of providing clean towels and bedsheets to every pregnant
woman and baby. The hospital director reluctantly fired Dr.
Semmelweis because he thought they should explore Dr. Semmelweis’s
proposal further. But he caved to the pressure. In response, Dr.
Semmelweis wrote many letters to doctors, politicians, and
journalists, accusing the medical establishment of killing pregnant
women and their babies.

A leading doctor in the
medical establishment wrote the document that committed Dr.
Semmelweis to a mental institution in Vienna, stating that he had
exhibited unusual behavior due to third-stage syphilis contracted
from prostitutes. The Hapsburg authorities eagerly supported
committing Ignaz to a mental institution in Vienna.

The guards severely
beat Ignaz and mocked him with dirty towels and bed sheets. Two weeks
later, Doctor Ignaz Semmelweis died in the mental institution.

Jane replied that she
wouldn’t like to share his fate. However, the Austrian government
issued commemorative coins for Semmelweis in 2008 in celebration of
his 200th birthday. Jane said that the commemorative coins that Ignaz
received two hundred years later didn’t help him in the insane
asylum.

Google honored Doctor
Ignaz Semmelweis with a Doodle animation on March 20, 2020, in the
early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, for pioneering the practice of
handwashing, which is why I had researched him.

Jane remarked that I
was always learning about new products, events, and people, and I
told her I was an active guy with a bubbling mind.

Jane wasn’t sure how
the COVID-19 pandemic began in Wuhan. I replied that much evidence
pointed the finger at the Wuhan Institute of Virology (WIV) lab.

What evidence? One is
that the Chinese Communist Party didn’t find a live animal that
tested positive for the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus
(SARS-CoV-2) that could have been the source of COVID-19. SARS-CoV-2
is the scientific name for the virus, while COVID-19 is the disease
caused by the virus.

Another piece of
evidence is that the Communist Party covered up information about the
patients who went to the hospital with flu-like symptoms in Wuhan in
the fall of 2019. The open question is, did these patients work at
the lab? An expert team from the World Health Organization visited
China in 2021 to probe the origins of COVID-19, but the Communist
Party didn’t allow access to the raw data about the origin of
COVID-19.

The third piece of
evidence is that U.S. embassy employees visited the Wuhan lab several
times and sent two diplomatic memoranda back to Washington warning
about inadequate safety procedures at the lab. The lab was conducting
risky studies on bats and experimental viruses. Who were these
embassy employees? According to Google on my iPhone, the U.S.
delegation to the Wuhan lab was led by Jamison Fouss, the consul
general in Wuhan, and Rick Switzer, the U.S. embassy’s counselor
for environment, science, technology, and health.

These U.S. embassy
officials visited the Wuhan lab because Doctor Anthony Fauci provided
NIH government money to the WIV lab via the Eco Health Alliance,
whose president was Peter Daszak. Lawrence Tabak, the deputy director
of NIH, admitted in a letter in November 2021 that U.S. taxpayers
gave $600,000 to the WIV lab.

Jane explained that Dr.
Fauci and his fellow scientists believed that the virus jumped from
animals because pandemics typically start with animal spillovers.
This was the case with SARS, the earlier respiratory outbreak in
China in 2002 that scientists traced back to horseshoe bats.
Moreover, a significant percentage of early SARS-CoV-2 infections
were clustered around the Huanan food market, where wild animals were
sold and butchered in unsanitary conditions. I replied that we would
never figure out the origin of the virus because Xi Jinping’s
Communist Party would never allow a transparent and independent
investigation.

Jane thought that the
public’s attention had moved on, and journalists were talking about
rising food, rent, and house prices, abortion rights, wars and
conflicts in the Mideast, the women’s protest in Iran, and Putin’s
invasion of Ukraine.

I asked about her views
on abortion. She was against late-term abortion unless it was a
matter of life and death for the mother. But she was pro-choice in
the first six months because the government should not complicate the
economic situations of women, especially teenagers, if an unfortunate
accident somehow occurred. Most ordinary young men could quickly run
away and not face the consequences of a pregnancy.

I quietly said that if
women take the pill or insert an IUD, it will make sex more
spontaneous and prevent pregnancy in ninety-nine percent of cases.
Jane strongly disagreed with me and said that condoms are the best
birth control method because they have the least impact on a woman’s
health. It is time for men to do their fair share of birth control.

“I guess we’ll
continue to use condoms even if they can break or slip off,” I
quietly replied, but the folks around us were busy doing their own
thing.

“In that case, I can
take the morning after pill or Plan B. But let’s not talk about
birth control here,” she quietly responded.

I agreed. Several
minutes later, the city launched the fireworks next to the river at
precisely 9:15 p.m. We watched and applauded the fireworks for 30
minutes.

After the show, our
Porsche slowly crawled forward because Oak Tree Drive, a single-lane
residual street, had two consecutive traffic lights. Jane mentioned
that the Chinese invented fireworks over 2,000 years ago, and they
used fireworks to celebrate the most notable events in life, like
births, weddings, deaths, and holidays. I replied that I was happy
that our city had several Chinese restaurants because I loved Chinese
food, especially chicken with broccoli, fried rice, spring rolls, and
hot and sour soup.

Two hours later, we
arrived at her condo’s garage, and Jane told me that I should go
home because she was tired. I asked in an irritated voice what the
problem was. Jane shared with me that I could stay at her condo if I
promised that next year, we would watch the fireworks from her
balcony to avoid all the traffic.

Of course, I agreed,
and we celebrated the Fourth of July holiday on her king-size bed.


Chapter
35:

July

We continued to text or
call each other every day in July. On weekends, we went out to a
movie, restaurant, theater, or concert, walked on the boardwalk next
to the river, or explored a new park or neighborhood. On Friday and
Saturday nights, we slept together in her condo. We never ate dinner
or slept in my small apartment at Vista Gardens.

Of course, Jane paid
for the different events because I was still developing my new mobile
app. However, I researched where to go on weekends because Jane was
always busy at her job during the workweek, while I worked at my own
pace and hours because I had my own company. I usually worked on my
mobile app until two or three in the morning, when I slept alone in
my apartment from Sunday through Thursday nights.

When Jane invited me
for dinner at her condo during the workweek, she usually asked me to
pick up some food from a restaurant on my way over. Of course, Jane
paid for our carryout dinner because I still had no money.
Occasionally, she cooked our main dish in her kitchen while I
prepared the salad. Sometimes, I suggested coming to her condo during
the workweek, and she usually agreed to see me.

On a Tuesday in
mid-July, I worked on my medical mobile app in my apartment around
1:30 a.m. During a brief break to eat some vanilla ice cream, I
watched a documentary on my TV screen about Bernie Madoff. The court
convicted him of fraud for running a Ponzi scheme that involved high
returns to the first investors from money invested by later
investors. Did Jane become rich with a Ponzi scheme? Would aggressive
FBI agents interview me about Jane’s involvement in a Ponzi scheme?

I remembered hearing
something about Michael Milken and his brother on my radio several
months ago. Did they also run a Ponzi scheme? I read on Google that
Milken was an American financier who had played a key role in
developing high yield but risky bonds, or “junk bonds”. According
to Wikipedia, Milken pleaded guilty to securities and tax violations
in 1990. The federal government also indicted his brother, Lowell,
but the government dropped all charges against his brother as part of
the plea deal with Michael.

If Jane refused to
cooperate with the authorities, would the federal government indict
me on some esoteric or obsolete law because they wanted Jane to crack
and plead guilty? I remembered that Tonya Harding, the mediocre
figure skater, had pleaded guilty to conspiracy to hinder
prosecution.

I searched on Google
for information about the conspiracy to hinder prosecution. After a
few minutes, I found an article that said that many high-profile
defendants were charged with 18 U.S. Code 1001, commonly known as
making false statements to a law enforcement agency like the FBI.
According to this article, some of the following citizens were
convicted for lying to the FBI: Ponzi mastermind Bernie Madoff,
ex-Illinois Governor Rod Blagojevich, onetime vice presidential
advisor Scooter Libby, former Enron Chief Executive Jeffrey Skilling,
and National Security Advisor Jonathan Flynn.

I figured that if a
jury convicted these high-profile folks for lying to the FBI, it
would be easy for a young, aggressive prosecutor to convince a jury
to find me guilty of violating some obscure law or lying to the FBI
because I was a penniless nobody.

It would be a terrible
change in my life, going from having fun with a gorgeous, lively,
wealthy woman to being forced to satisfy the sexual demands of Big
Bob in prison. I’d have to find out quickly if Jane’s money was
dirty.


Chapter
36:

Green
Plate Restaurant

On Wednesday night in
mid-July, I called Jane and invited her to dinner on Friday night at
Green Plate, an American restaurant. Jane happily accepted my
invitation.

The restaurant was in
Robstown, near many restaurants, boutique shops, a large movie
theater, a live theater, and two small parks with fountains. It took
us about 20 minutes to drive up to the sixth floor in the parking
garage because of heavy traffic. The wide sidewalk was crowded with
families, young couples, and groups of young women and men because
the weather was warm, around the low 80s.

The restaurant was
packed, with several people waiting for tables on the sidewalk. We
gave our names to the hostess because this restaurant didn’t take
reservations. We walked to the bar because our wait would be around
30 minutes. I ordered two piña coladas that Jane paid for and then
gave the bartender a $50 cash tip. The restaurant was well lit, with
at least 50 or 60 square tables. The manager put several tables
together to accommodate ten or more people. There was no music, and
several large windows looked onto two sidewalks because the
restaurant was located on a street corner. The kitchen and restrooms
were in the back.

We sat at the bar, and
I put my hand on Jane’s right leg, which wasn’t covered by her
red skirt, but she pushed my hand away, telling me that this was a
public place. She asked how I liked her new haircut. I replied that
it looked great with her earrings. Jane asked why I hadn’t noticed
it before. I replied that her short skirt, wide black belt, and
high-heeled shoes made me crazy. But she reminded me that we were in
a restaurant and asked if I had heard if the city planned to expand
the park next to the river. I had read on the local neighborhood
bulletin board that the city planned to buy the empty lots and patch
of forest at the end of the park. Jane mentioned we could take the
river cruise next weekend and visit Upper Gates, which had many
boutiques and antique shops. I agreed. Thirty-five minutes later, the
hostess seated us at a table in the middle of the restaurant.

Jane ordered the
grilled swordfish; I ordered grilled chicken with salad. Jane also
ordered fried calamari and crab-and-artichoke dip as appetizers. I
ordered Maryland crab soup and a bottle of the French wine, Pinot
Noir, to go with our dinner. Jane shared her fried calamari
appetizer, and I offered her a spoonful of my soup. Jane picked up
her wine glass for a toast as her face and eyes lit up.

“What’s happening
to us?” Jane asked as we gently clinked our wine glasses.

“We understand each
other.”

“How do you see our
future together?” Jane asked me.

“Oh, I tacked at
least 20 photos of you and us on my living room, bedroom, and kitchen
walls.”

Jane was embarrassed
because she hadn’t displayed any photos of us or me in her condo,
but she said she would do it that night.

I asked the waitress
for the dessert menu when we finished our food. Jane ordered the Key
lime pie, and I ordered the blueberry bread pudding with ice cream.
Of course, I also ordered two regular cups of coffee. We shared our
desserts, and I asked the attractive waitress for the check.

When the waitress gave
me the bill presentation folder, Jane asked if she was a student. The
waitress replied that she was studying electrical engineering at John
Stawarski College. After the waitress had left, I pushed the folder
toward Jane’s plate. After Jane left her credit card inside the
folder, I pulled the bill presentation folder close to my plate and
opened it. She paid the $175 restaurant bill and added a $150 tip.
The young, pretty waitress picked up the folder close to my dessert
plate. When she returned, she smiled, thanked me, and left our dining
table. Jane signed the credit card slip without saying anything.

After dinner, we went
to her condo, and I helped Jane decide which cell phone photos of us
and me to display in her living room. She printed out the selected
photos in color. Of course, we had our usual hanky-panky on her bed
on Friday night. When we lay beside each other in our pajamas, Jane
asked if I had seen her blue blouse. I replied that I had borrowed
it. Jane asked what was going on. I had put her blue blouse on my
bedroom chair so she would always have a virtual presence in my
apartment.

I asked where in the
bedroom she planned to put the photos of us. Looking around, Jane
said she would put them on her dresser. I agreed and asked if she
would display two photos. Jane looked at me quizzically but replied
that it was okay with her.

On Saturday morning, we
went shopping at the Art Creative Center to buy several picture
frames for the photos she would display in her condo.

As we returned to her
car in the Wood Spirit Shopping Center, Jane wanted to go to my
apartment at Vista Gardens to read the article about Couchbase, a
distributed NoSQL cloud database. I had mentioned it to her on the
phone the previous Wednesday. I replied that I could send her the
hyperlink, but Jane accused me of hiding something in my apartment.

I drove her Porsche to
Vista Gardens. Jane thought my apartment looked romantic with all the
photos of her and us on my walls and her blue blouse on my bedroom
chair. I remarked that I had told her the truth.

Jane could see that I
loved her, and she’d leave her red string panties and bra with a
small diamond on the chair in my bedroom the next day. I had left my
underwear in her dresser and my dark blue suit in her walk-in closet
last week. I agreed with her plan.

Jane asked if I wanted
to go hot-air ballooning in the afternoon because it was windy. I
agreed and asked about the Couchbase article. Jane asked me to bring
it with me so she could read it in her condo.

We had a delicious
dinner with appetizers, soup, desserts, and tea at the Han Gong
restaurant on Saturday night. Of course, Jane paid for our dinner,
but I drove the Porsche back to her penthouse, where we had
passionate love in her luxurious bedroom. As we lay next to each
other on her king-size bed, I felt like the luckiest guy in the
entire world. I never had such a beautiful and cheerful girlfriend as
Jane. Hopefully, I will not lose her because of a misunderstanding
like we had at Joe’s Café. Jane wanted to know what I was
thinking. I asked if she wanted to attend the outdoor concert on
Friday night. She liked my idea.


Chapter
37:

Bitcoins

On Monday night, I was
alone in my apartment, working on my medical mobile app. I included a
button on my app that provided a hyperlink to Road Warrior Route
Planner, which helps people find the fastest route to an urgent care
center based on the current traffic conditions. Of course, I had a
dropdown where an app user could select other maps like Google Maps,
Apple Maps, and Waze.

After three hours, I
took a short break and ate some popcorn. I read an article on
Yahoo.com about risqué dresses worn by celebrities like Paige
Spiranac and how Xi’s Communist Party threatened the democratically
elected government in Taiwan with military and political maneuvers.

I also noticed an
article about the tax implications of bitcoin transactions. Bitcoin
is a digital currency (also called cryptocurrency) that can be stored
in a digital wallet application on a laptop or smartphone. A person
can also buy or sell bitcoins on a website like Coinbase.

The article said that
the IRS struggled to determine how much money people made when
trading in bitcoins. Did Jane get rich with bitcoins because she was
smart and energetic? But she didn’t want me to know about her
millions because she hadn’t reported her bitcoin income to the IRS.

I called Jane on
Tuesday night and asked her about bitcoins. She replied that she
heard about them but had never bought them because the value of a
bitcoin could change by hundreds of dollars within one hour.

I told her that the IRS
could be lenient with a person’s unreported bitcoin income because
bitcoin income was something new.

Jane angrily asked why
I was wasting her time discussing shady bitcoin investors. I thought
she might be interested in this information because she was rich, but
Jane said she was busy and hung up.

I didn’t understand
why Jane had become upset again because I just wanted to know if she
had gotten rich with bitcoins.

I called her back, but
she didn’t answer. I decided to call her the next day because she
should have cooled off by then. After our misunderstanding at Joe’s
Café several months ago, I waited until Jane had called me. But this
time, I wanted to clear up our misunderstanding quickly because I had
become attached to her.

I continued to focus on
my medical mobile app to avoid corporate bankruptcy and to avoid
becoming homeless. I didn’t want to beg Jane to move into her condo
because I lived in a car or tent. And if Jane were angry with me, she
wouldn’t let me move into her penthouse anyway. I worked until 4:00
a.m.


Chapter
38:

Torino

I called Jane on
Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday nights, but she didn’t pick up her
phone. I left voicemails, but she didn’t return my calls. Had Jane
broken up with me? Or was she busy developing her new drug for
multiple sclerosis? I didn’t know what to do because I didn’t
know what was on Jane’s mind.

On Friday around 10
p.m., Jane finally answered and asked what I wanted. I informed her
that we had missed the Friday night concert because she . . .

“Do you want me to
hang up my phone again?” Jane angrily interrupted me.

“I understand you are
busy researching the new drug.”

“What’s up?” she
asked.

I explained that I had
gotten carried away with bitcoins last week because Isaac Haig, a
former colleague at General Electric, had made millions of dollars
trading in bitcoins several years ago. Isaac quit his job on the spot
and sent a postcard to his former colleagues from Sun Bay Beach in
Puerto Rico. Jane asked if Isaac was a software developer. No,
because Isaac worked on the quality assurance team, where salaries
were much lower than in many other IT positions.

Jane asked why I had
called her on Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday nights. I realized
that Jane didn’t answer my phone calls because she wanted to find
out if I would keep calling her. But I said I wanted to clarify my
remarks about bitcoins quickly.

“You didn’t call me
after our misunderstanding at Joe’s café. What changed?” Jane
asked.

I would feel silly
talking about our feelings. Therefore, I explained that I had planned
to invest in bitcoins several years before, but I never pulled the
trigger because I kept watching the price for weeks to catch the
lowest point.

Jane didn’t
understand my reply but was glad we had cleared the air again. I
agreed and invited Jane for dinner the following night at Torino. She
happily accepted.

I parked the Porsche in
a paid garage two blocks from the restaurant, which was located on
the boardwalk next to the river. Jane wore a short red skirt with a
narrow black belt, a green blouse, and an anklet with small shining
objects attached to a gold chain. I asked if the objects on her
anklet were diamonds, and she said yes. I remembered Marilyn Monroe’s
song, Diamonds Are a Girl’s Best Friend, from the movie
Gentlemen Prefer Blondes. I wore my regular blue jeans and my
red-green striped cotton shirt.

We observed the
abstract Garbage Sculpture by Charlie Vinn at the beginning of the
boardwalk. It was fifty feet tall and consisted of a rigid,
four-pointed frame adorned with aluminum cans, old tires, metal
pieces, and plastic bags. I remarked that the four frames stood for
north, south, east, and west, while Jane believed the sculpture
represented the pollution in our rivers, lakes, and oceans.

I grabbed Jane’s hand
as we walked around the restaurant’s crowded bar area on the
boardwalk level and climbed the outdoor steps to the large deck with
over two dozen square tables and large, folded patio umbrellas.

We waited near the
entrance because all the tables were taken. After five minutes, a
couple left a table beside the deck barrier. Immediately, we grabbed
this table because we couldn’t see any hostess. I noticed two
couples eating inside the air-conditioned restaurant because the
temperature was in the mid-eighties.

Jane ordered the crispy
zucchini as an appetizer, while I ordered the minestrone soup and
tossed salad. I ordered the chicken marsala for the main dish, while
Jane had the Alaskan cod. I also ordered a bottle of the Italian
white wine, Marcassin Estate Chardonnay, priced at $550. Jane tasted
a sip of the wine and accepted the bottle. I figured that $550 was
pocket change for Jane because she had paid thousands of dollars for
her purse, sunglasses, and evening dress.

Jane enjoyed seeing the
boats on the river, the small island across from us, and the Harry
Truman Art and Musical Center, a modern building down the river. I
was glad she liked the view.

While I ate my soup,
Jane began to eat her appetizer and asked how I had found this
restaurant. My colleagues at IBM had a farewell lunch for Steve
Schmidt there because of the magnificent view and tasty food. Was
Steve another software developer?

Steve Schmidt was the
top software developer on a Department of Homeland
Security/Transportation Security Administration (DHS/TSA) government
contract. But General Dynamics made him a fantastic job offer because
he was an expert in several IT web technologies, including React.js,
Angular, RESTful web services, and Apache Cassandra.

Jane asked about
RESTful web services and React.js. I asked why she was interested in
IT terms because she was a chemical engineer. She replied that she
always liked to learn about recent technology, as I did. I explained
that RESTful web services use HTTP commands to read, create, update,
or delete resources in another software application or system. An
HTTP command (or request) is an action performed on a resource
identified by a given URL. React.js is a free JavaScript library that
a developer can use to quickly develop reusable user interface
components such as checkboxes, drop-down lists, buttons, and text
fields.

Jane asked how long I
had worked for IBM. I didn’t work for IBM as an employee. My
company, Secure Fast Inc., had a contract with NewGen Technologies,
which had a contract with IBM to provide IBM with software developers
because IBM was the prime contractor on the TSA government contract.
Of course, my contract with NewGen Technologies was terminated
automatically and immediately if the prime contractor (IBM) fired me.

Jane asked why I
decided not to be an employee of NewGen Technologies and get all the
standard employee benefits, including vacation, holidays, medical
insurance, and the 401K employer matching contributions. I explained
that I had planned to bid on other government contracts and hire
smart, young kids to work for me on those new contracts. Jane asked
what other contracts I had signed. I signed zero contracts because
IBM fired me after four months.

“What happened?”
Jane inquired.

I had a technical
disagreement with Vishnu Acree, the deputy program manager, at a
daily morning scrum meeting on resolving an IT issue for a legacy
software web application. The next morning at the scrum meeting,
Vishnu took me off my regular tasks and assigned me to a special
project. Two days later, James Rank, the program manager, called me
into his office and fired me on the spot.

“You’re giving me
an opportunity to find a better job with more money,” I told my
boss.

“What was his
response to your audacious reply to being fired on the spot?”

James became confused
and told me to leave his office immediately.

As we began eating our
dinner, Jane suggested hiking in the Rocky Mountains for a week
because we had enjoyed our hiking trips in the local parks.

“I don’t have money
for a trip because I had no mobile app sales for the last five
months,” I informed Jane.

“Don’t worry about
money. Just relax and have a great time,” Jane replied.

I felt uncomfortable
that Jane would pay for our trip, but it would be foolish of me to
turn down her invitation and make her angry. Therefore, I replied
that I was excited about our trip together.

Jane raised her wine
glass and proposed a toast to our upcoming trip to the Rocky
Mountains.

The waitress came and
asked if we wanted anything else; I asked her to bring the dessert
menu. Jane ordered the New York-style cheesecake, while I ordered the
apple pie with ice cream and café espresso for both of us. We shared
our desserts.

I asked for the check,
and a few minutes later, the attractive waitress gave me the bill
presentation folder. After the waitress left our table, I discreetly
slipped the folder over to Jane, but she pushed the folder back to me
because I had invited her.

I looked at our $774
dinner bill, including the $550 bottle of wine, and told Jane that I
would have to wash dishes in this restaurant for many nights to pay
for our dinner. I was over my head in debt as I moved my right hand
back and forth above my head.

Jane said she had a
better idea. We could suddenly get up and run away as fast as we
could. When I asked about her high-heeled shoes, Jane took them off
and gave them to me. I warned her that we could slip as we ran down
the stairs. She replied that the stairway wasn’t steep, and once we
reached the crowded bar area downstairs, we could quickly disappear
among the many young people. When I told her it wasn’t a good idea,
Jane told me to have some courage and to run at the count of three. I
couldn’t believe what she had just said.

Jane began to count.
“One, two—”

I stood up, but then
Jane informed me that she had changed her mind because we didn’t
want to get into any trouble before our trip.

“I assumed you wanted
an adventure,” I said.

“We’ll have many
adventures in the Rockies.”

As I sat down again, I
explained that I would make millions with my lottery tickets next
month because I had written a mobile app to select my numbers based
on a unique algorithm. She replied that she’d tear our dinner check
into small pieces and eat each piece if I won the lottery jackpot.

Jane asked me to give
her the bill folder, and I pushed it over to her. She paid for our
$774 dinner with her credit card, and the waitress picked up the bill
presentation folder near Jane’s dessert plate. When the waitress
returned her credit card, she gratefully thanked Jane. I assumed that
Jane must have given her a huge tip.

However, the pretty,
young waitress smiled at me, nodding her head. Did the waitress think
I was a penniless young man dating a rich, generous young woman? I
put the dinner bill in my pants pocket, just in case Jane would have
to eat it.


Chapter
39:

Rocky
Mountains - Big Meadow Lake

A week later, in late
July, we flew to Denver, Colorado, and rented a luxury RV. We hiked
steep trails covered with trees, shrubs, and rocks and enjoyed scenic
views from the mountaintops.

We drove around the
Rocky Mountains for several days, hiking in Utah and returning to
Colorado. At a rest area one evening, Jane received a call from one
of her subordinates about developing their new drug for multiple
sclerosis. Jane asked me to leave our RV, and I watched a small
stream for over an hour.

The next day, early in
the afternoon, we drove down Route 92, a major state mountain road in
Colorado, to see the Black Canyon in Gunnison National Forest, which
offered scenic views of steep canyons. Suddenly, I stopped the RV in
the emergency lane because I saw a small wooden sign pointing to Big
Meadow Lake. I wondered if we should explore this lake, and Jane
replied that we had come to the Rocky Mountains for some adventures.

I turned the RV around
and drove down the narrow road. We passed meadows with tall grass and
forests with many tall trees and thick bushes, but we didn’t see
any houses or cars. After 15 miles, we reached Big Meadow Lake and
parked the RV in the meadow next to the forest. Trees, bushes, and
some cliffs surrounded the lake on three sides.

We still didn’t see
another car or person. I asked what would happen if crazy hillbillies
attacked us out here in the middle of nowhere, like in the novel,
“Deliverance”. Jane replied that the four suburban guys outwitted
the two hillbillies in the book.

“Sure, because one of
the guys was an expert in archery.”

Jane said that she had
three pepper sprays and told me to relax and enjoy the mountain lake
that was ours this afternoon.

We swam in the
medium-sized, clean lake, played tag, splashed each other, and
happily laughed. Jane suggested swimming to the cliff on the other
side of the lake. I reached the cliff first because I was a faster
swimmer. She asked me to swim underwater to see how deep the lake
was, but I couldn’t reach the bottom because it was deep.

Jane looked beautiful
in her red polka-dot string bikini as she dove and somersaulted from
the cliff about fourteen feet above the deep lake. She repeated her
dives several times with minor variations. I jumped in with my feet
first, even though I patiently listened to Jane’s diving tips.

As we swam back, I
suddenly swam underwater and pulled the strings on her bikini. After
a short struggle with her kicking legs, I removed her bikini bottoms.
Jane became upset but calmed down when I allowed her to remove my
swimming trunks. She asked me to take off her bikini top, exposing
her firm, round breasts. We swam back to the shore, naked. I carried
our bathing suits with me, and when we reached the shoreline, we had
an exciting time in the shallow water.

We put on some summer
clothes and napped in each other’s arms, lying side by side on our
blanket. When we woke up about an hour later, we cooked and ate our
dinner in the RV. Afterward, we collected twigs and branches in the
forest and built a small fire in the meadow near the lake. Sitting on
a log before the fire, we watched the moon illuminate the lake. We
put marshmallows on long sticks and cooked them over the fire. I ate
the marshmallows from Jane’s stick while she ate from mine. We
watched several tree branches burning in the fire as birds and
insects sang and chirped in the surrounding forest.

I put my arm around
Jane’s hip, but she didn’t put her arm around me. I withdrew my
arm and asked what was wrong. Jane looked at me and asked if I would
ever lie to her. I had never hidden my money issues from her, but her
question had nothing to do with my financial situation.

I asked if she was
hiding something from me. Jane wondered if I would be angry if she
told me what was bothering her. Would Jane finally tell me how she
had become rich? I replied no, and she told me she had been engaged
to a real estate developer a year before. I remained silent and
stared at the fire because I hadn’t expected this response. Or
maybe I was upset that she had previously been engaged to another
man.

Jane must have
interpreted my silence as anger because she quickly clarified that
she was no longer engaged because the scumbag had cheated on her the
day before their wedding.

Continuing to look at
the burning logs, I asked how she had found out. Jacob Brown, one of
his groomsmen, informed her that her fiancé had missed his bachelor
party held at Jacob’s house the day before because he had slept
with Sally, one of his many ex-girlfriends. The groomsman revealed
this information right before the rehearsal dinner held the night
before the wedding. I asked if she had ever seen Sally.

Sally looked like a
whore at the rehearsal dinner. She wore a black silk blouse that
showed the outline of her breasts, a short miniskirt, and a cheap
flashing diamond necklace that she must have gotten from the scumbag
for spreading her legs.

I asked what she wore
to the rehearsal dinner. Jane wore her tight blue skirt with a wide
black belt, a white blouse, and a gold necklace with a sparkling
five-carat diamond. She must have looked sexy but classy; she replied
that her style combined sensuality with elegance.

When I asked about
Sally’s age, Jane replied that she was a nineteen-year-old piece of
trash. It occurred to me that it would be difficult for a young man
to resist such an aggressive sex bomb, but I kept my thoughts to
myself because I didn’t want to add fuel to the fire.

Instead, I asked if her
ex-fiancé was rich. The sleazebag owned two casinos, four resorts,
an 85-foot yacht, and a private jet. They met when he contacted her
on the online dating service Match.com. Jane was ready to move to
Dallas, Texas, to be with him, and she would support her colleagues
via Zoom until she found another job in Dallas.

The rehearsal dinner
was held in a large conference room at the Marriott Hotel, and each
round table had six chairs, a dozen roses in a vase, and a
complimentary bottle of red wine. The wedding ceremony would be held
at the Top Hill Mansion.

Jane had asked Dylan,
another groomsman, about the bachelor party right before the start of
the dinner. He confirmed that her fiancé had missed the bachelor
party, but quickly added that he had been busy making last-minute
preparations for the wedding ceremony.

I asked Jane how she
had confronted her fiancé about his infidelity. Jane stood up in the
middle of the rehearsal dinner and tapped her glass with a knife
several times. After about 20 seconds, the hotel ballroom became
quiet, and the sixty guests, including Sally and an online
entertainment journalist, looked at her, waiting for her to say
something.

Jane turned toward her
fiancé, who sat on her left side, and loudly asked with a serious
glance, “Did you have sex with Sally last night?”

I remarked that the
wedding guests must have been shocked because they expected. . . Jane
interrupted me and angrily said that the dirtbag took advantage of
her sincere but naive romantic feelings because she had always
studied and worked over the years. But he liked her cooking.

It occurred to me that
the rich playboy liked Jane’s cooking, but he also wanted to have
sex with a hot teenager because Jane was in her mid-twenties. Of
course, I kept my thoughts to myself because Jane was upset about her
betrayal.

Her fiancé reacted by
ordering her to apologize and sit down because he had been busy
making last-minute preparations for the wedding the night before.

“You can keep your
$400,000 garbage!” Jane yelled as she threw her diamond engagement
ring toward her fiancé’s dinner plate.

It occurred to me that
Sally, the sexy teenager, would eagerly wear the “$400,000 garbage”
on her finger, but again, I kept my thoughts to myself. Instead, I
asked how she knew how much her diamond engagement ring cost. The
dirtbag had bragged about it.

I asked how he
responded to her rejection of his money in front of all the wedding
guests. The lying jerk just stared at the engagement ring and didn’t
know what to say as the online journalist quickly took several
photos. However, his father, who was also a real estate developer,
stood up and asked if there was a doctor in the room because Jane was
suffering from paranoia. I finally understood why Jane was hesitant
to get close to another man. Her fiancé had cheated on her and lied
about it.

Jane ignored his vile
dad and walked out of the large party room with her head held high as
Jane’s relatives and friends applauded her because they thought
that the scumbag was greedy and selfish. Her father also quickly left
the conference room and consoled Jane as they aimlessly walked the
city streets at night.

I asked if any of her
family or friends got into a physical fight with her ex-fiancé or
his family and friends. Jane interrupted me and told me not to ask
any more questions.

I promised Jane that I
would always be honest with her. Immediately, she pushed me to the
ground. We passionately kissed each other as we lay on the grass
before the fire and had intimate fun under the bright stars and moon.
Sitting near a tree, a raccoon watched us and probably wondered what
we were doing. I never found out when the raccoon had left the tree
because I was busy making Jane happy. The fresh mountain air made me
a vigorous man.

We slept in the RV
because of the bears, mountain lions, and other wildlife. The
following morning, we started the fire again and prepared our
breakfast of eggs, bacon, and tea over the fire. Jane liked that I
didn’t call her empty romantic names like honey, sweetheart,
darling, and love as the slimeball always used to do.


Chapter
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Rocky
Mountains - National Park

We left Big Meadow Lake
and continued our trip to Gunnison National Park. We stopped at a
scenic overlook area packed with cars, campers, and RVs. Sitting on
the grass in front of our RV, we enjoyed the majestic Black Canyon
from a distance. We saw the steep and narrow cliffs, but we couldn’t
see the creek flowing at the bottom of the canyon because of the
distance.

I told Jane that I also
wanted to tell her something, but I didn’t know how to say it. She
asked if it had anything to do with her, and I said no. Jane gave me
a disappointed look, and I wondered if she had expected me to say
some useless romantic words, but I was wrong because she asked what
was on my mind.

School officials had
transferred me to the special education class in the third grade. I
never found out why, but I always assumed I must have done terribly
on a standardized assessment exam given at the beginning of the
school year in late September. Jane asked how that was possible
because I was smart. I ended up sitting next to Diane, the prettiest
and smartest girl in the class because the teacher had rearranged the
chairs for the assessment exam. I tried to get Diane’s attention
during the exam as the other boys surreptitiously egged me on, but
Diane didn’t pay any attention to me and just focused on the exam.

Jane asked if I had
rebelled in the special education class. I felt terrible, especially
during recess, because all my former classmates, including Diane, saw
me staying with the special education students, who had to play in a
reserved playground area.

Jane asked if my
parents had protested. I didn’t say anything to my parents. Maybe I
was too ashamed. Jane said that the school officials must notify the
parents in this situation, but I replied that my parents never told
me that the school officials had informed them.

A week later, a school
counselor came to the special education class and took me to his
office, where he asked me several questions. I must have answered
them reasonably because he took me back to the regular class at once.
Did you become friends with Diane?

“No, because she
never showed any interest in me.”

Jane said that this
happens to many girls when they like a specific boy. I asked if she
liked an elementary school boy who didn’t care for her. Jane liked
William in high school, but he paid no attention to her because he
was chasing the blonde cheerleaders.

“William probably
thought I was a geeky high school girl who got straight A’s in
advanced classes.”

I told Jane I visited
my old elementary school several years ago when I returned home to
New Jersey from Washington D.C. for the summer months. I wanted to
shake the school counselor’s hand and let him know that I had just
received my BS degree in math, but he no longer worked there. The
school officials didn’t know where he went, and the current
counselor had only worked at the elementary school for five years.

“If the school
counselor is dead, I would leave many flowers on his grave site, but
I don’t know where he is buried,” I said as I began to cry.

“The counselor helped
you a lot.”

“He saved me! He
saved me! He saved me!” I continued to cry.

I put my head over my
bent knees so as not to show the other tourists that I was crying.
Jane put her arms around me and told me that I had earned a Master of
Science degree in computer science and that everything was fine now.

I wiped away my tears
and stared at Black Canyon. I informed her that another school
counselor had called me into his office when I was a senior in high
school. Jane asked what the problem was this time. I explained that
the school counselor was trying to find out why I had received Bs and
Cs in my regular non-honors classes when I had an SAT verbal score of
740 out of 800 and an SAT math score of 780 out of 800. The counselor
wanted to find out where our high school had failed me.

I was bored by the many
silly assignments the educational officials and consultants required,
so I only did the minimum amount of work to pass my classes. Jane
said that many high school students, especially boys, felt the same
way, but they didn’t get an SAT score of 1,520 out of 1,600 points.
I replied that the high school teachers usually ignored me when I
asked them a question outside their daily lesson plans.

Jane asked if I had
taken a special course to prepare for the SAT. I replied in the
negative because my parents didn’t care about the SAT exam or my
schoolwork. My father traveled a lot because of his job, and my
mother focused on cooking dinner for my sister, me, our friends, and
some neighborhood kids who loved her cooking. My mother was also a
chauffeur, taking us to different school activities, such as taking
my sister to dance lessons and me to soccer practice. However, I
loved to solve math puzzles and write software programs in my spare
time.

Jane asked how I did in
college. I did much better in college and graduate school because the
professors always answered my questions, and, in turn, they often
asked me tough questions that I sometimes struggled to answer. Jane
remarked that I had found my match in college.

We left the overlook
area and stopped at two other overlook areas. Two days later, we
returned to Denver and flew back home.


Chapter
41:

Medical
Center Info

Jane and I worked over
50 hours weekly for the next three weeks, but we saw each other on
weekends.

On August 18, I
finished my medical mobile app called Medical Center Info and
uploaded my new software to online stores like the App Store, Google
Play, and GetJar. I worked five days to advertise my new mobile app
on Google, Facebook, and medical websites like WebMD, Mayo Clinic,
and Healthline.

I crossed my fingers
that my new medical app would be more successful than my earlier
mobile apps. My first three mobile apps had many bugs and only a few
sales. My fourth mobile app about subletting apartments and houses
had more sales when I released it ten months ago. But nobody bought
it anymore because I had run out of money and interest in advertising
it.


Chapter
42:

Labor
Day – Mariott Hotel

Late afternoon on a
Wednesday in the last week of August, we drove to the center of North
Chase, where we had coffee at Ben & Mark. I invited Jane to
Virginia Beach over the Labor Day weekend as she drank her
Frappuccino. She replied that she would love to go to the beach with
me and could pay for our trip.

However, I informed
Jane that I would pay for our trip. She asked if I had hit the
lottery jackpot and if she would have to eat our restaurant bill in
small pieces.

“The sales of my new
medical app are going through the roof!” I happily informed her.

Jane smiled and said
she had always known that one of my mobile apps would become a
tremendous success. I would prepay for our suite at the Marriott
Hotel, where we could see the beach from our living room balcony.
Jane would leave her credit cards home because they weren’t needed
on this trip.

We arrived at Norfolk
International Airport on Friday afternoon, where I picked up my
reserved Ford Mustang Convertible from Enterprise. As I drove to the
Marriott in Virginia Beach, Jane looked sexy with her sunglasses and
brown hair flying in the wind. She remarked that our trip to Virginia
Beach was quite different from our trip to New York City, where we
took the subway to Hotel 35.

At a red light on
Pacific Avenue in Virginia Beach, a young male teenager with three
other guys in a convertible Chevy greeted Jane and said that he liked
her sunglasses and red blouse. Sitting in our convertible with the
roof open, Jane put her hand on my right knee and told the teenagers
she already had a strong man. The young man asked if she could handle
four young bucks at Peabody’s Nightclub.

Jane replied that she
didn’t play around with immature boys. The traffic light turned
green, and two young men gave her the finger as they drove away.

As I drove through the
intersection, I told Jane I liked her response. She touched my pants
between my legs, so I stopped at a parking meter to passionately kiss
her. She returned my kiss.

“Take me. Take me,”
Jane urged.

I sped to the Marriott,
going through two yellow traffic lights, weaving in and out of
traffic lanes, and then parked in a metered spot without paying the
fee. I was an energetic man on the king-size bed in our suite.

Forty minutes later, I
noticed a traffic ticket on my windshield. We moved our car to the
hotel garage and wheeled our suitcases upstairs. Early in the evening
around 6:00 p.m., we ate dinner at Orion’s Roof restaurant in the
hotel. Jane ordered California sushi rolls while I got the chicken
pad Thai. We also ordered miso soup and a Caesar salad. I ordered the
Leap Chardonnay wine from Napa Valley, California. We enjoyed the
view of the beach, the ocean, and the food. During our dinner, Jane
lifted her wine glass and proposed a toast to my mobile app success.
I nodded and smiled. After we had eaten our dessert of ice cream and
an apple pie, I paid the $245 restaurant bill that included the wine
and tip.

Later in the evening,
we walked on the boardwalk, holding hands and listening to several
street musicians. Jane asked why I hadn’t brought my trumpet. I
wasn’t ready to become a street musician because I was busy with my
medical mobile app.

The next day, we swam
in the ocean and laughed as small waves hit us in the face and body.
I swam around and underneath Jane several times.

Jane looked stunning in
her blue bikini as she waterskied on one ski back and forth near the
beach, creating several prominent S figures. Suddenly, Jane turned
her head toward me and quickly waved at me with her left hand while
holding on to the handle with her right. I waved back with both arms
as I stood near the shoreline.

I enjoyed waterskiing
but fell right away several times. It was my first time.

In the afternoon, we
sat on our towels on the beach and watched two young boys put wet
sand into their buckets with small shovels near the shoreline.

Jane thought it would
be fun to build a sandcastle with children. I replied that I had
built sandcastles when I was young, and asked where she had learned
to waterski. Jane had waterskied and dived from springboards in her
spare time while working as a waitress at the San Diego Mission Bay
Resort. She had this summer waitress job for three years when she was
a student at Pomona College in California.

After her first year,
she worked as a waterski and diving instructor during the day and as
a waitress in the evenings, Thursday through Sunday, because of the
tips. I asked if she continued to waterski and dive at Stanford
University. Jane replied that she did it for fun when she went to a
beach or a pool because she was busy working as a senior research
associate for a chemistry professor at Stanford University over the
summer months.


Chapter
43:

Labor
Day - Seafood Restaurant

Several hours later, we
drove to Captain George’s Seafood Restaurant, a large standalone
building on Laskin Road, Virginia Beach, with an almost full parking
lot. The restaurant offered a buffet dinner for $49.99 per person.
Jane picked broiled salmon, while I got a chicken breast. We also
picked up two cups of New England clam chowder soup, steamed rice,
and tossed garden salads.

As we ate our soups,
Jane told me she was here for me if I wanted to talk about my
parents. I realized there was no point in keeping my parents’ lives
secret because Jane had become my steady girlfriend.

My father, Logan, had
died the prior year in a car accident. Jane offered her condolences
for my terrible loss. My father was a freelance journalist who wrote
about court decisions and other news related to business and
politics, which appeared in various online and printed publications
in the United States. He often traveled to get information for a news
story and had fallen asleep as he drove on Interstate 95 in North
Carolina.

Jane said that my
father’s sudden death must have been terrible for my mother. My
mother wore black dresses for four months and mostly sat in her
kitchen, staring at the white walls. Jane asked if my mother felt
better now. I had straightened out my mother’s inheritance issues
because my father had shown me their financial and life insurance
accounts. My sister found a real estate agent who sold the house
where we had grown up in North Brunswick, New Jersey. I felt uneasy
when the real estate agent sold our house, but I understood my
mother’s decision to move on with her life and start over again.
Since my parents had paid off their 30-year mortgage, my mother
received over one million dollars in cash from her house sale.

Jane thought it was
wonderful that my parents had been married for so many years. My
mother married when she was eighteen and never went to college. She
worked as a bookkeeper to pay for their living expenses while my
father studied law. My father also had a part-time journalist job at
the Trenton Gazette, a local newspaper that partially
paid for his Rutgers Law School.

As we began to eat our
main dishes, Jane asked where my mother lived now. My mother, Margit,
bought a two-bedroom condominium in Hollywood, Florida, with a large
living room and a small study room. My sister helped my mother with
the purchase; her condo was just one block away from the beach. My
mother had been thinking about moving to Florida, the Sunshine State,
for several years, but my father had grown accustomed to their Cape
Cod house with its two-acre backyard in North Brunswick.

My sister also
encouraged my mother to move on with her life because she was only 56
years old, but I had mixed feelings about my mother seeing another
man. Jane remarked that my mother was a young widow, but she
understood my mixed feelings.

My mother loved
Florida. She walked on the beach early in the morning to feel the
ocean breeze and went swimming in the ocean for an hour before lunch.
She joined a bridge club and played in the afternoon three times a
week. Not only that, but she also joined a local hiking club and went
on hiking trips once a week. My mother also did part-time bookkeeping
for a convenience store in another condominium building. She had
given up her job as a bookkeeper when she became pregnant.

Jane asked if my mother
had to work in her mid-fifties to pay for her living expenses. I told
her she didn’t because my father was frugal and invested his money
in CDs and U.S. Treasury bills that paid interest. My mother also
received a half-million-dollar check from my dad’s life insurance
policy.

I continued to tell
Jane that my mother and sister were close, especially when my mother
fell in her bathtub and broke her hip two years ago when she was
fifty-three years old. My mother’s surgery at New Brunswick
Regional Hospital was successful; afterward, she transferred to
Kessler Rehabilitation Center to learn how to walk again, but she
refused to walk. It was a big problem, especially when she had to go
to the bathroom. After six weeks, the doctors, nurses, and my father
were at a loss for what to do next.

Several days later, a
nurse told my mother that her daughter had just checked in at the
receptionist’s desk and would see her in a few minutes. Without
thinking, my mother jumped out of her bed, grabbed the walker, and
started walking toward the hallway door to see her daughter quickly
because my sister would walk down the long hospital hallway. The
nurse was amazed that my mother could walk again. She and the other
nurses thought it was a miracle. Two weeks later, the rehabilitation
center released my mother because she could walk without a walker or
cane. Jane wondered if she could help her mother in the same way if
her mother got injured.

We finished eating our
food and returned to the buffet line to pick up our dessert. Jane got
strawberry shortcake, while I got banana pudding. When Jane asked if
I would like to go to the go-kart racetrack the following day, I
agreed.

I paid the $108.95
dinner bill and left a $40 tip for the folks who cleaned our table.
As we walked to our rented Mustang in the parking lot, Jane told me
that she had always known I would pay for our dinner at a fancy
restaurant one day. I told her I was making good money on my medical
mobile app, but I had no idea how she had become a multimillionaire.

“Don’t ruin our
wonderful vacation by talking about money,” Jane told me.

I didn’t like Jane’s
reply, but I consoled myself because we would return home in a few
days, and I could ask about her money again. Hopefully, I will not
have a horrible surprise about her millions in the coming days.

The next day, Jane
drove aggressively at the go-kart races at Motor World and passed me
at the curves on the Road Racer Track and the Adult Speed Track. But
I won the mini-golf game while we were there, despite my average
score. Did Jane let me win at mini golf to smooth my deflated male
ego because I had lost the go-kart races? The following day, we had a
wonderful time going down the many slides at Water Country in
Williamsburg, Virginia.

We posed for a photo on
Tuesday evening at a small outdoor photo center on Atlantic Avenue.
The photographer had sample costumes and a small area behind a
curtain for changing clothes. Jane tried on several dresses, but I
didn’t like them. I tried on several shirts and pants, but she
disliked them. A young girl who was a friend of the photographer
recommended various costumes and how to pose for our photos. Several
strangers stopped to watch us and commented on our costumes and
poses.

Thirty-five minutes
later, I pretended to be a fierce pirate wearing a tricorn hat with a
skull head and a plastic pistol in my waistband. I held a sharp sword
in my right hand that I pointed toward Jane’s chest as if I were
going to kidnap her.

Jane dressed up like an
innocent señorita, wearing a black, off-the-shoulder flamenco dress
and holding a folded Spanish fan that touched the pirate’s sword to
push it away from her bosom.

I gave a $100 tip to
the female photographer and her friend, both of whom told us that
they were sophomores at William and Mary College.

Jane loved our photos,
and she was hot in our hotel room that night. We flew back home early
Wednesday afternoon because Jane had to finish some lab tasks at
work.


Chapter
44:

Swing
Dancing

We went swing dancing
on Saturday night at Echo Place, which was a standalone building in
Green Fields. This national park also had a carousel and several
buildings for art, music, photography, and literature classes. They
also held beginner and intermediate foreign language classes,
including Spanish, French, and Chinese.

Echo Place had a large
ballroom with a wooden floor that could hold around seven hundred
people, and there was a stage for the live band at one end. The other
three sides had majestic promenades with long benches separated from
the ballroom by arches and columns.

Jane quickly learned
the basic swing steps, and we clicked as we danced to the big band
music of Jive Aces from London, Great Britain. Swing dancing also
stimulated our hormones, and we left the dance around 11:00 p.m. (or
one hour before closing) to dance on her bed with our bodies closely
touching each other.

As we lay naked on her
bed, I asked how she got rich. Jane remarked that I always picked the
wrong time to talk about money, but I asked why she never wanted to
talk about her millions. When Jane explained that our economic system
rewards investors who take risks, I asked if she had made millions in
the stock market on short sales.

“How would you define
a short-sale transaction?” she asked.

A short sale is a
transaction where an investor sells borrowed securities, like stock,
at the current market rate. However, the investor must return an
equal number of shares within a defined period in the near future. If
the share price goes up, the investor will lose a lot of money
because the investor will have to repurchase the shares at a higher
price to return the borrowed shares. Of course, if the share price
goes down, the investor would make a lot of money.

Jane thanked me for the
clear explanation and said it is risky to gamble that the stock price
will go down within a short, specified time. I asked if she had
invested any money in the stock market. Jane had bought shares in
stock and bond mutual fund companies.

I explained that mutual
funds were conservative investments where you wouldn’t make
millions of dollars. Jane agreed because the prices of mutual funds
fluctuated a lot less than the shares of a specific company. I added
that one advantage of a mutual fund is that if a company goes
bankrupt, it doesn’t matter because the mutual fund owns shares of
many companies. A significant disadvantage of mutual funds is that
you must pay taxes on the capital gain distribution, even if the
mutual fund’s share price has decreased during a tax year.

Jane remarked that we
had talked enough about money for a Saturday night and asked if I
would like to go swing dancing next Saturday again. When I replied
that we had clicked on the dance floor, Jane kissed me. I returned
her kiss passionately, and somehow we had more fun, even though we
had made love just thirty minutes before.

Afterward, Jane rolled
over and fell asleep while I observed the tree branches in the small
park on the other side of her condominium. I wondered what Jane meant
when she explained that society financially rewards folks who take
risks. I remembered reading that John Maynard Keynes made a lot of
money in the currency exchange markets, which were risky investments
because international political events could affect them. Mr. Keynes
also wrote the famous economic book, The General Theory of
Employment, Interest and Money, where he recommended policies to
deal with the Great Depression in the 1930s.

I wondered if Jane made
big bucks in international currency exchanges because she was a
risk-taker with a quick mind. She resisted discussing her millions
because she hid her income from the IRS with complex tax transactions
in tax havens. I decided to talk to her about tax-haven countries
tomorrow. I rolled over and finally fell asleep because I was tired.


Chapter
45:

Tax
Havens

We ate Sunday breakfast
on her large, covered balcony and enjoyed the fantastic view of the
city and the hills in the distance. Jane ate her Honey Nut Cheerios
while I ate my apple and banana. I told her I had read about tax
havens like the Cayman Islands and Liechtenstein, but Jane
interrupted me and angrily asked if I was implying that she was
hiding her money from the IRS. I admitted that I was. She liked my
honest answer and explained that Mr. Jack Wan, an experienced and
knowledgeable CPA, did her taxes. However, Jane instructed her CPA
not to use fancy tax schemes to lower her taxes because she
wanted to sleep soundly at night and focus on developing new drugs to
help patients suffering from diseases.

I changed the subject
and suggested taking a boat ride to Ray Hood because the temperature
would be in the mid-seventies; Jane liked my idea. We enjoyed seeing
the artists as they created paintings, sculptures, and videos at the
Art Center, which used to be a large and abandoned WWII weapon
manufacturing factory. I paid for our lunch at Fish Wharf, a
four-star restaurant. We walked around Foundation Park late in the
afternoon and caught the last boat back to the city.

But we had no fun on
Sunday evening because Jane planned to go to work around 7:00 a.m. to
prepare for the 9 a.m. weekly in-person staff meetings on Mondays,
although she allowed her staff to dial in on Zoom in exceptional
cases. I drove back to my apartment at Vista Gardens on Sunday
evening alone.


Chapter
46:

Corporate
Espionage

On a late Sunday
morning in mid-October, Jane left her condo to go to her office, and
I drove back to my apartment. After several hours, I finished testing
my fixes for five minor bugs that users reported via the Help command
displayed on my Medical Center Info mobile app. I also developed an
enhancement that allowed an urgent care center to update its web page
to show the education and experience of its doctors and nurses. Of
course, my enhancement included a login process that involved a
two-step verification process where my mobile app would send a code
to a user’s cell phone or email address. I worked on this
enhancement and the fixes for the software issues over fifty hours
per week, starting after our Labor Day vacation in Virginia Beach.

I uploaded the new
release of my medical mobile app to the online stores and removed the
previous version. Afterward, I surfed Vudu, a video streaming
service, to see which movie I should watch because I wanted to relax
and take it easy. Duplicity caught my eye because of Julia
Roberts and Clive Owen. I watched the trailer and realized that it
was a movie about corporate espionage. Could Jane be involved in
corporate espionage to pay for her luxurious lifestyle?

While I was searching
the Internet, I was intrigued by one case detailed in a YouTube
video: The CEO of Four Pillars paid a scientist at Avery Dennison a
huge sum of money to steal the trade secret behind Avery’s strong
adhesive products. But the CEO and his daughter were arrested,
convicted, and sent to jail because they had violated the Economic
Espionage Act of 1996, which made it a federal felony to steal
another company’s trade secret. They also had to pay $40 million in
damages to Avery in a civil lawsuit in 1999. The CEO of Four Pillars
was the main instigator of corporate espionage, but he also involved
his daughter. I wondered if I would end up like the CEO’s daughter
because Jane was my girlfriend.

I decided to follow
Jane on a Saturday or Sunday to see if she drove to Vandane’s
office. If she drove to another corporate office, my suspicion would
be confirmed that Jane was guilty of corporate espionage by selling
Vandane’s research on their new drug for multiple sclerosis to
another startup company.

Jane told me she had to
go to work on a Sunday in late October, around 9:00 a.m. Like a
detective, I secretly followed her from a distance in my old Corolla
but lost her Porsche on Route 843 because of a red light. I drove
past Vandane’s office building in Rockstone, a suburban hi-tech
center, and saw Jane’s Porsche parked in the nearly empty parking
lot, although several other cars were parked next to hers. Jane’s
colleagues?

As I drove back to my
apartment, I felt like an idiot because I had secretly followed Jane
to her work. But I was concerned about my safety if Jane had criminal
secrets from her past. Or maybe I was wrong about Jane; she had
earned millions with her engineering skills. But why was she so
secretive about her money? I still hadn’t figured Jane out after
all these months.

Hopefully, she would
accidentally tell me how she got rich in the upcoming weeks and
remove this albatross that hung over our passionate romance.


Chapter
47:

Halloween
Night

I drove to Jane’s
condo on Halloween evening to pick her up. She wore a boxer girl
costume with a black underwire camisole, matching shorts, and a black
and pink robe, complete with a pink sash and black boxing gloves.
“Boxer Girl” was written on the top of her shorts. She also wore
black Diablo wrestling boxing shoes. Jane looked fierce but sexy. I
wore new dress pants, a new blue and red striped shirt, and a sea
captain sailor hat.

As I drove through a
residential neighborhood to get to Route 145, I saw two large dragons
on the front lawn at Carnegie Drive, blowing smoke and spewing
make-believe flames. A middle-aged couple was working on another
large object that was lit up.

I stopped the Porsche
and asked Jane if we should talk to the couple; she agreed. As I
stepped out of our car, I noticed two other monsters making
threatening sounds as they moved their huge arms every five seconds.
A young boy and girl played tag on the front lawn and porch, while an
older boy and a girl threw a football.

I asked the middle-aged
couple if they were working on a sea monster. The curvy woman replied
that it was a carnivorous plant, but the display for the flying
insects didn’t work.

The middle-aged man
told us that they had displayed these decorations at the local
elementary school for their fall PTA festival the weekend before. He
had volunteered for this PTA event because his youngest son and
daughter attended the elementary school. Jane thought that was
wonderful.

When the man asked us
to attend the fall festival the following year, Jane promised to go
because she loved children. I asked where the elementary school was
located. The man wrote down the elementary school’s name on the
back of his business card. His name was Brian Fisher, and he owned a
company that made custom furniture. I gave him my business card in
case he wanted to create a mobile app for his business because,
according to his card, he already had a website.

The woman liked Jane’s
costume. As Jane pretended to hit my right cheek with her boxing
glove, I told her that Jane was a tough cookie. The woman replied
that men didn’t know how tough women were when they gave birth to
babies. Her husband said he also worked as a handyman to support his
family.

The woman told us we
were a lovely couple. Jane replied that we love each other a lot,
while I added that we always have a wonderful time together. The
husband asked his wife to hold the bar for the flying insects because
he had to screw it into the main display. We said goodbye and left.
It took me forty minutes to find a parking space on a residential
street next to a small park.

Jane and I walked down
the sidewalk on W Street, the center of the art district in our city.
We held hands as we passed restaurants, boutique stores, ice cream
shops, and nightclubs. We saw and praised other costumes, and several
folks commented on Jane’s costume and took a photo of us. I asked
Jane if we should go back to her condo, and she agreed.

As I drove the Porsche
on 87th Street, Jane said that we should return to the art district
next Halloween. I replied that I would love to see all the new
costumes next year. We enjoyed wrestling on the bed in her penthouse
on Halloween night.


Chapter
48:

Thanksgiving
Day - Dinner

We cooked and ate
dinner at Jane’s condo on a Saturday evening in mid-November. Jane
invited me to her parents’ Thanksgiving Day dinner, and I gladly
accepted her invitation.

I would finally see if
her parents lived in a mansion in a wealthy zip code. Her parents’
millions would explain Jane’s lavish lifestyle. Of course, we
fooled around on her king-sized bed after our Saturday dinner before
falling asleep.

On Monday evening, I
called my mother from my apartment to tell her I couldn’t attend
her Thanksgiving dinner in Florida. My mother understood my situation
and said my sister would visit her in Florida. Furthermore, my mother
mentioned that my sister would have an audition in New York City with
the Martha Graham Dance Company, a world-famous modern dance company,
on the Tuesday after Thanksgiving weekend.

When I picked Jane up
at her condo early Thursday morning, she wore a green dress with a
black belt around her waist but no jewelry. Standing in the hallway,
I asked what was happening since she wasn’t wearing any jewelry.
Her mom didn’t want Jane to wear any diamonds for the Thanksgiving
celebration because she believed Thanksgiving wasn’t a fashion show
but a relaxed family gathering to enjoy delicious food around the
dinner table. I respected her mom because she had the courage to
stick with her traditional values.

According to Jane, her
mom was a typical, humble, down-to-earth Midwestern woman who
believed that you should always live modestly, even if you had big,
fat financial accounts. I asked if my new sports jacket would be okay
because I finally had some money to buy fashionable clothes. My
jacket was fine because it didn’t look too expensive.

We arrived at Portland
International Airport in Oregon at 11:15 a.m. on Thanksgiving Day
because Jane had to perform more tests in the lab at her office on
Wednesday evening. I paid extra for our reserved Tesla car from
Enterprise Rent-a-Car at the airport because we wanted to see how it
felt to drive an electric car that would help the environment. Of
course, we didn’t know what raw materials the power plant used to
generate electricity.

I drove to Eugene City
for over two hours without any problems. Her parents lived in a
modest, four-bedroom Cape Cod house in a working-class neighborhood.
I realized that Jane’s parents weren’t wealthy.

Or did Jane’s parents
hide their wealth, since Jane had told me that morning at her condo
that her mom believed in living modestly, even if she and her husband
had big, fat financial accounts?

Jane was secretive
about her money, and her mother hid their wealth. I had to get to the
bottom of all this money and wealth before getting into any trouble.

She introduced me to
her relatives as a mobile app developer who worked for his own
company, Secure Fast Inc. Liam, Jane’s middle brother, remarked
that he was considering setting up his own company and asked me what
kind of company I had.

I had an S-corporation.
Why? The tax laws recognized all my income from my S-corporation as
personal income. I would have to pay corporate taxes and taxes on my
personal dividend income if I owned a regular corporation.

Liam asked why I had
chosen an S-corporation over a 1099. I could have chosen the 1099 tax
form used by many freelancers, independent contractors, and other
self-employed workers. Liam remarked that he used the 1099, which is
simple to file.

I explained to Liam
that I could collect unemployment insurance if my S-corporation laid
me off as an employee because my company lost a contract. Liam
replied that he didn’t have this benefit with a 1099.

I asked him where he
worked. Liam lectured at the University of Oregon at Portland and at
Linfield University at McMinnville, Oregon, and was a licensed
electrical engineer. Liam was engaged to Monica, a young, slim, and
attractive social worker. They planned to marry in three months and
lived near Portland, Oregon. Monica wore a blue skirt with a red
blouse, and Liam wore casual clothes: a cotton gray shirt and casual
blue dress pants.

Jane’s mom, Anne,
took a break from cooking to greet me. I gave her a dozen red roses.
Anne thanked me gratefully and put the vase with my roses on the
coffee table in the living room. She was a slim and slightly short
woman wearing a red dress with a black belt.

Anne asked Jane to come
and help her out in the kitchen. When Jane willingly followed her, I
realized that Jane still had to help her mom cook the dinner, even
though she had become a multimillionaire who could easily hire a
cook.

I talked to Jane’s
other relatives as they stood around in the living room. Jane’s
eldest brother, Jim, was a licensed civil engineer who worked for the
Illinois state government. He was married to Abbey, a curvy woman of
medium height. She wore a red dress that showed some cleavage, while
Jim wore a gray suit with a white shirt but no tie. Their three young
boys ran around in the living and dining rooms as Abbey returned to
the kitchen to help prepare the dinner.

Her father, Oliver, was
a lean man who wore blue dress pants and a white shirt with gray
polka dots. He was a waiter at 1789, a four-star French restaurant.
Oliver explained that the French Revolution began when the
revolutionaries successfully stormed the Bastille, a state prison in
Paris, on July 14, 1789. I replied that I had learned something new
about French history. Oliver loved telling people the significance of
1789 because most people didn’t know it.

I understood now why
Jane had always left huge tips: her father worked for tips at a
restaurant.

I walked over to the
window to see their backyard. It was a medium-sized yard with a shed
near their back neighbor, and some bushes and trees delineated the
property line. I noticed Abbey standing outside on the patio in front
of the glass sliding door to the dining room area. Could she tell me
how Jane had become rich?

I walked over to Abbey
and greeted her. She told me she was taking a break from cooking the
turkey and making the stuffing. I told Abbey that I was a mobile app
developer. She was a piano teacher, an artistic painter, and a mother
caring for three boys, aged 7, 5, and 3. I informed her that I liked
her painting at Jane’s condo.

“Jane talks about you
all the time,” Abbey remarked.

“We had a great time
swing dancing on Saturday nights.”

Abbey replied that she
wasn’t talking about swing dancing. I told her we also enjoyed
Virginia Beach over Labor Day weekend.

“I’m sure you had a
lot of fun with Jane because she looks pretty in her bikini,” Abbey
sarcastically remarked.

“I also like her
sense of humor.”

Abbey asked me in a
serious tone about our future plans. I planned to take Jane to the
National Symphony Orchestra performance in two weeks because they
were visiting our city from Washington, D.C. Abbey told me to stop
playing a cat-and-mouse game with her because she often talked to
Jane. I didn’t know what she was talking about.

Looking straight at me
like a strict schoolteacher, Abbey asked me when I would propose to
Jane.

“What? I never
thought about that!”

“Jane is a serious
and attractive single woman who loves to cook, but she will not
wait for long,” Abbey warned me.

I quickly left the
patio and walked back to the living room. I was angry with Jane’s
sister-in-law because she had put her nose into our affairs.

I saw an elderly couple
sitting on the love seat between the coffee table and the bay window.
Sitting down next to them in a nearby chair, I introduced myself. Mr.
and Mrs. Sherman weren’t part of Jane’s family but lived next
door. Jane’s parents had invited them because their children lived
far away and couldn’t visit them that year for Thanksgiving.

Mr. Sam Sherman told me
that their elder son, Scott, had an excellent job as a senior manager
at Lloyds Banking Group in London, Great Britain. He married Grace, a
Nigerian woman who worked as a financial analyst for the World Bank
in London. They had two children and lived in a three-story
townhouse.

Mrs. Emma Sherman
informed me that their younger son, Gary, lived in Taipei, Taiwan,
with his pretty Chinese wife, Meiying. I asked how they had met. She
explained that they were students at the University of Oregon. After
Gary had graduated, he worked as an environmental engineer in
Portland. Two years later, Meiying graduated from the business school
with a major in accounting and returned to Taiwan because her student
visa had expired and her professional visa hadn’t arrived. Four
weeks later, Gary traveled to Taipei, Taiwan, and married Meiying.

Three weeks after their
marriage, they opened an independent hamburger place close to Ming
Chuan University, a private school that was also accredited in the
U.S. Their small hamburger joint, called Gary & Meiying, became
popular with students and professors because of their unique
milkshakes and because her son loved to talk to students and
professors.

I asked if they opened
more hamburger places. She replied that after five months, they
opened another hamburger place close to National Taiwan University
and currently own four small hamburger joints close to universities.
They had three children and lived in a single-family house close to
Taipei.

Sam remarked that he
didn’t understand how a couple with college degrees could end up
flipping hamburgers. However, his wife explained that her son and
daughter-in-law realized they could make more money selling delicious
hamburgers, tasty kosher hot dogs, exquisite French fries, and unique
milkshakes than working as salaried employees.

Anne, Jane’s mother,
walked into the living room and announced that dinner was ready.

I sat between Jane and
Liam. Jane sat next to her mother, who sat at the head of the table.
Monica sat next to Liam and the Sherman folks across from me. Jane’s
dad was at the other end of the table, and Jim, Jane’s eldest
brother, sat next to his dad and Mr. Sherman. We were a little bit
squeezed in, but it didn’t matter because everybody was friendly
and cheerful. Abbey ate in the kitchen with her three small boys at
the round kitchen table. Jane’s parents’ dining table was much
smaller than Jane’s huge one in her condo, which could easily hold
ten people.

Before we ate, Oliver
gave a short speech. He thanked everybody for coming to their
traditional family Thanksgiving dinner and said that he was grateful
that we had food on the table and were in good health. His eldest
son, Jim, added that he, his father, and his brother had continued
their Thanksgiving tradition of helping the local food bank that
morning because many good people were struggling to put food on their
tables. Liam’s fiancée had also worked at the food bank this year.

Oliver cut part of the
turkey into small slices. We ate a traditional Thanksgiving meal:
roast turkey, stuffing, gravy, corn, rice, mashed and sweet potatoes,
salad, dinner rolls, and cranberry sauce. We drank Budweiser and
Coca-Cola.

Jim remarked that the
food was excellent. Anne said that Abbey and she got up at 7:00 in
the morning to cook the turkey and prepare the stuffing, gravy, and
mashed potatoes. Jane had prepared the salad with tomatoes,
cucumbers, onions, lettuce, and parsley. Monica had set up the dining
room table, and Emma, the elderly lady, had baked two apple pies.

Oliver, Liam, Sam, and
I praised the delicious food, especially the turkey, stuffing, gravy,
sweet potatoes, and salad.

Anne asked Liam if he
still felt safe in Portland because she had seen on TV that homicides
had increased by 238% in the past three years because the new
district attorney didn’t prosecute many violent criminals. He felt
he was a social worker who believed that poverty caused crime. Liam
replied that Fox News exaggerated the violent crimes and lawlessness
in Portland because most streets and stores in Portland were safe.

Monica added that they
had moved last week to West Linn (a suburb of Portland) because of
the availability of high-quality daycare centers. Ann excitedly asked
Monica if she was pregnant. Monica and Liam firmly denied that she
was pregnant, and Monica explained that the biggest issue in West
Linn last month was that teenagers had spray-painted several traffic
signs. Many folks had posted comments about this incident on
Nextdoor.com, a neighborhood bulletin board. Anne said that made her
feel much better.

Suddenly, Abbey’s
7-year-old son jumped from his chair and grabbed a big truck from the
kitchen floor. Immediately, his two younger siblings tried to take
the truck away from him, even though two other big trucks were
nearby. The 7-year-old ran into the hallway and the living room,
followed by his two siblings. Abbey yelled at them to stop running,
but the three boys ignored their mother. A few seconds later, Abbey
ran after them and tried to take the truck away from her 7-year-old
son in the living room, but he pressed it tightly against his chest.
Finally, Abbey promised to give them ice cream for dessert. Her son
dropped the truck onto the living room floor and ran back to the
kitchen. Immediately, his two siblings followed him, not caring about
the toy truck anymore. Sitting on their kitchen chairs, her three
kids impatiently waited for their mother to give them ice cream.

Jim remarked that Abbey
knows how to handle kids because she was an art and music teacher at
Woodson Elementary School before they had children. After the boys
had finished their ice cream, Abbey asked her husband to play with
them. Jim got up and played the children’s fishing game with his
sons in the living room. Abbey sat on her husband’s chair and
joined us at the table.

Abbey asked me how my
family was doing. I didn’t want to mention my father, so I replied
that I had attended my uncle’s wedding two years ago. Jane
complained that I had never told her about this wedding. My uncle was
seventy-seven years old, and his wife was sixty-six.

Monica, Liam’s
fiancée, asked where my uncle got married. I told everybody that
they got married at sunset on the beach near the shoreline on
Treasure Island, Florida. The minister who married them talked about
true love and hope from the Book of Corinthians as several birds flew
overhead. Two young mothers, who were wedding guests, held their
crying babies in their arms.

“What a romantic
wedding!” Monica exclaimed.

Anne asked if I knew
how my uncle had met his wife. I explained that my uncle was a
widower because his first wife died from breast cancer after battling
the disease for seven years. Her doctor had performed a mastectomy,
and she cursed the doctor for five years. Anne remarked that it must
have been difficult for my uncle and his wife as she fought her
breast cancer for such a long time.

I agreed and explained
that my uncle had looked for a new wife for three years because he
wanted a healthy woman who was at least 25 years younger. Abbey said
that a 77-year-old man needs deep pockets to get a lady who is 25
years younger.

I told everybody that
my uncle was a retired senior executive official in the federal
government, but not a businessman who owned several companies. After
my uncle had another failed relationship, he walked on the beach near
the shoreline on Treasure Island in frustration and sadness. His
future wife also walked on the beach in the opposite direction. As
they walked toward each other, some birds quickly ran away from the
shoreline and toward the dry sand, while other birds flew just over
the small waves. My uncle smiled at his future wife, who said the
birds looked cute. My uncle replied that he could easily outrun the
sandpipers because he was on the senior soccer team. The woman
informed my uncle that she was on the senior triathlon team.

“Fate brought them
together because the birds separated as they walked toward each
other,” Monica remarked.

They introduced
themselves. My uncle’s name was Matthew, and hers was Sophia. They
sat on the beach and talked about staying fit and active as small
waves hit the sand in front of them. After 30 minutes, they watched
the sunset together, and three weeks later, they married.

When Jane remarked that
they married quickly, I explained that people in their late seventies
were in a hurry because they didn’t have much time left to finish
all their plans.

Monica asked if they
were married on the beach where they had met. I replied in the
affirmative. Monica remarked that their wedding ceremony was better
than those she had seen in romantic movies.

I told her that my
uncle took his new wife to Venice, Italy, for their honeymoon because
they were in love like teenagers. Emma Sherman looked at her husband
and asked if they could go to Venice for their anniversary, but he
remarked that Social Security didn’t pay enough to go there.


Chapter
49:

Thanksgiving
Day - Dessert

Anne asked Abbey, Emma,
Monica, and Jane to carry the dirty dishes back to the kitchen to
make room for dessert. Still seated at the table, Sam Sherman said
the Minnesota Vikings would win the Super Bowl that season because
they had a dynamic offensive team. Oliver disagreed and believed the
Philadelphia Eagles would win because they had a solid defense.

Anne, Abbey, and Emma
brought ice cream and two apple pies, while Jane and Monica brought
coffee and tea. We ate dessert.

Liam mentioned that he
was happy that my uncle and his wife were healthy. Unfortunately, his
uncle, Asher, lay in a bed at the University Hospital in Portland
with a distorted face and multiple tubes attached to his body.

Anne explained to
Monica and me that her brother, Asher, was a freelance carpenter who
had been in excellent health in his early sixties, but he’d
suddenly had a stroke.

I asked where it
happened. Asher’s neighbor had gone to his house one Monday
afternoon to return his electric saw. Asher didn’t answer his front
or side doors, even though his pickup truck was parked in the
driveway. The neighbor looked through the living room window and saw
Asher lying on the floor. Immediately, he called the police, who
broke the door lock; an ambulance rushed her brother to the hospital.
Unfortunately, Asher often cursed the doctors and nurses in the
hospital because of all the injections they gave him and the painful
medical tests and surgeries they performed on him.

Oliver wondered who
would pay for Asher’s hospital stay and future rehabilitation. Anne
explained that her brother was a frugal bachelor with money in the
bank. Oliver remarked that medical costs could quickly escalate
because Asher had always complained that his medical insurance policy
was full of loopholes, like Swiss cheese, even though his monthly
premium was over $1,200. I asked about his medical insurance. Oliver
replied that it was Obamacare (or the Affordable Care Act). Jane
offered to pay for her uncle’s medical expenses. Anne thanked Jane
for the offer but replied that it would not be necessary at that
time.

Monica pointed out that
Asher could apply for Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI)
even though there could be a lengthy approval and waiting period due
to the backlog. Anne remarked that her brother would be reluctant to
apply for SSDI because he was proud and stubborn. Monica explained
that Medicaid would kick in if her brother ran out of money for his
medical bills. Anne remarked that, hopefully, Medicaid would not be
necessary because many doctors didn’t accept Medicaid patients.
Monica added that Medicare would cover Liam’s uncle’s medical
expenses when he turned sixty-five. Anne replied that her brother
would be eligible in three years because Asher was only sixty-two.

I remarked that I had a
remarkable story about a family doctor. Anne said she’d love to
hear it, and all eyes turned toward me. Mr. Bob Wisner, a distant
cousin of mine in his early fifties, had gone to Dr. Dimitris
Karagiannis, his family doctor, for a physical checkup. Three days
later, the doctor’s office called Bob early in the morning and
asked him to come to the office that afternoon because two blood
tests showed a serious health issue that needed immediate attention.

As Bob sat on the
examination table in the doctor’s office around 3:00 p.m., Dr.
Karagiannis informed Bob that he suffered from severe anemia, a lack
of red blood cells. He must go to the Regional Southern Hospital
tonight for additional testing and treatment, but Bob didn’t like
the idea of going to a hospital. The doctor informed Bob that he
would not live longer than two months if he didn’t go to the
hospital that night.

Bob ignored his
doctor’s warning and refused to go to the hospital. One year later,
Dr. Karagiannis died. Eight years later, Bob was still kicking and
running his three furniture stores.

Oliver remarked that he
loved my story about Bob Wisner because he avoided going to doctors
and hospitals unless there was a serious medical emergency. Anne
explained that doctors often find minor medical problems during a
physical checkup that they can easily fix before the medical
condition becomes a major issue.

Jane asked how Bob had
handled his severe anemia. He scheduled an appointment with Dr.
Michael Weinstein, a gastroenterologist, who performed a colonoscopy
and found that Bob’s anemia was caused by celiac disease. Dr.
Weinstein recommended that Bob go to the MOM’s grocery store down
the road and buy gluten-free bread instead of regular wheat bread,
which was poison for his body.

Jane explained that if
you had celiac disease, you were allergic to wheat, which is found in
bread and other food items. Bob followed Dr. Weinstein’s advice and
bought gluten-free blueberry muffins at MOM’s Organic Market store
as a substitute for wheat bread. Food by George, a small bakery in
New Jersey, manufactured gluten-free muffins, and a pack of six
muffins cost $6.00. After two years, the blood tests showed that
Bob’s anemia had disappeared.

Jane asked if Bob had
gotten an iron dextran injection in those two years, and I said yes.
Jim looked up from playing with his kids on the living room floor and
asked what an iron dextran injection was. Jane explained that doctors
use this injection to treat iron-deficiency anemia, or a
lower-than-normal number of red blood cells when patients can’t be
treated with oral iron supplements due to their digestive system.

“My sister really
knows her chemical engineering field,” Jim remarked.

Jane happily smiled and
slightly nodded at the compliment from her older brother. I remarked
that I had read a romantic story on Google about the owner of Food by
George. Monica said she would love to hear it, and all eyes turned
toward me again. I explained that the owner of Food by George used to
be a young, hotshot Wall Street guy who made millions of dollars in
the mid-1980s. He married a sexy and dynamic lady, an office
assistant, who went to college at night to get her BA in business
administration. Two years into their marriage, George found out that
his wife had celiac disease. He left his Wall Street job and opened a
small bakery to make gluten-free bread and other food items for his
wife and other folks who suffered from celiac disease; very few food
manufacturers produced and sold gluten-free food items in the late
1980s.

Everybody agreed that
my story was charming and an expression of true love, but Liam
remarked that Food by George was the kind of small business that Wall
Street had always ignored. Multinational corporate banks and Wall
Street loved big corporations that polluted our groundwater, rivers,
lakes, and air, exploited the workers with low pay and unsafe working
conditions, and deceived consumers with misleading and inaccurate
advertisements. However, the CEOs got millions of dollars in
compensation because their corrupt policies reduced corporate
expenses. Monica informed us that Liam liked Senator Bernie Sanders.

Jane replied that Wall
Street also funded startup companies that invented new products and
services and paid their technical staff very well.

Liam explained that,
according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, 70 percent of workers in
restaurant chains, department stores, and hotels were paid around
$20,000 a year because they were part-time workers with no benefits.
This money was not sufficient to pay for the rent, utility
bills, food, and health insurance for their families. However, the
average compensation of the CEOs of these large companies in the
service industry was around eighteen million dollars per year.

Jim stopped playing
with his kids, even though they loudly protested. As he walked to the
dining room table, he explained that we were lucky that our parents
had aggressively encouraged us to study hard and become engineers. Of
course, we didn’t appreciate our parents’ encouragement in middle
and high school. Oliver and Anne looked at each other and smiled.
Abbey got up and played a children’s game with the kids because
they were running around wildly. Jim joined us at the dinner table
again.

Jane explained that
many small restaurants and retail stores are squeezed because of
rising rent and utility bills, and some of them also must pay
excessive franchise fees; therefore, they struggle to pay their
employees a living wage. These businesses should set up
profit-sharing plans to reduce employee turnover. The restaurant 1789
had a generous profit-sharing plan, and our dad benefited from it
because the restaurant had many good years.

I read a remarkable
story about the role of private companies in our economy. Jane told
me she would love to hear it. Several years ago, I wrote a letter to
my county council member, Ms. Emily Stanton, complaining that a lot
of trash and litter had accumulated at a busy bus stop on Georgetown
Road. The representative wrote in her response letter that the county
budget was tight, and they didn’t have the money to buy a trash
can. Oliver, Jane’s father, laughed and thought it was ridiculous
that a county government couldn’t pay for a $50 trash can when they
paid millions of dollars to many consultants for all kinds of useless
studies.

I continued to explain
that Emily Stanton also informed me in her letter that she had
convinced The Household Retail Good store down the highway to donate
a trash can and empty it weekly as a community service project. She
concluded her letter by stating that the free market is the best
solution to this community issue.

Liam asked how long
this retail store performed this community service, since it must
have affected their bottom line. Two years later, I noticed that the
store had closed, and nobody emptied the trash can at the busy bus
stop for several months. Several residents complained to county
government officials, who replied that this trash can wasn’t on
their list for trash pickup. However, the county executive office
added this trash can to their pickup list for health and safety
reasons because the trash had overflowed onto the sidewalk and the
busy four-lane highway. Jim asked how I knew all the details about
this trash can; I had read about it on the online community bulletin
board.

Jane explained that
council member, Emily Stanton, didn’t understand the free market
because a free market means that a willing buyer and seller
voluntarily exchange products. A free market promotes political and
civil freedom because everybody can choose what to produce or
consume. However, most local governments supply the necessary public
services for the common good, such as public schools, trash
collection, clean and safe drinking water, reliable electricity, and
physical security. Of course, a local government could decide if they
want to provide these essential services directly or via competitive
third-party bids.

The TV in the living
room showed several Native American Indians demonstrating against
Thanksgiving. Anne and Abbey became confused and didn’t understand
what was going on. Liam explained that we were celebrating the
stupidity of the Native Indians in Massachusetts on Thanksgiving Day
because they fed the pilgrims, the white colonists who subsequently
massacred and stole their land. Jane replied that families got
together on Thanksgiving Day, regardless of race, ethnic background,
or religion, to celebrate their family ties and catch up on the
latest family news around the dinner table.

I told everybody I had
a fascinating story about Relay Anywhere, but Anne cut me off and
said that we had talked enough about corporations, wages, and the
meaning of Thanksgiving. Immediately, Oliver asked about the price of
a Starscope Monocular. Mr. Sherman asked what it was. Oliver
explained that it was a pocket-size telescope that you could attach
to an iPhone or Android phone to take photos like a camera with zoom
lens. Jim replied that he had seen the Starscope Monocular for sale
for $47.99. Jane’s family began to talk about electric gadgets,
rugs, and furniture pieces that would be on sale over Thanksgiving
weekend.

There was no major
controversy about the Black Friday sales. Half an hour later, Oliver,
Sam, and Jim walked over to the living room, where they watched the
football game between the New England Patriots and Minnesota Vikings
on NBC. Anne, Monica, and Liam continued sitting at the dining table,
discussing their plans for the upcoming wedding, while Abbey played
monopoly with her three children.

Jane and I walked
outside to the patio, and I called my mom and sister via my iPhone’s
FaceTime. I wished them a happy Thanksgiving and introduced Jane as a
chemical engineer who developed new drugs to help patients. My mom
invited Jane to visit her in Hollywood, Florida, because her condo
was one block away from the beach and she had two spare bedrooms.
Jane looked at me, and when I nodded, she replied that we would be
happy to visit her in Florida.

When we returned to the
dining room, Jane, Anne, Emma, Monica, Liam, and I carried the
dessert plates, forks, coffee mugs, teacups, and glasses to the
kitchen. The ladies put the dishes and glasses in the dishwasher and
washed the pots and pans while discussing different grocery and
department stores. Liam and I sat down at the dinner table,
discussing how to restructure the current corporate economic model.

Several hours later, we
said goodbye to Mr. and Mrs. Sherman, Liam, and Monica. I asked Jane
if she had learned how to play the piano on the small Everett piano
that was pushed against the wall in the living room. She said yes but
didn’t play anything for me.

Jane and I drove to the
Hyatt Place Hotel an hour later because Jane wanted an office space.
Her brother Jim, his wife, and their three kids stayed at her
parents’ house.


Chapter
50:

Scrabble
Junior

On Friday morning
around eight o’clock, Jane walked over to the office area in our
hotel room with her laptop. She worked on several issues that had
come up during the development of the new drug for multiple
sclerosis.

I closed our bedroom
door and went back to sleep because I had worked hard the previous
night to make Jane a happy woman. An hour later, I looked out the
bedroom window and watched the cars driving down Oakway Road.

I didn’t understand
why Jane implied that her parents had hefty bank accounts, since her
mother was a registrar at the municipal court and her dad was a
waiter at the restaurant, 1789. If her parents were
multimillionaires, why did they work at these service jobs with
limited pay? To hide their wealth? I wondered if Jane had meant that
if her parents had substantial financial accounts, they would still
live modestly. But I was still clueless about Jane’s money and
wealth, even though I had known her for over seven months and she was
my steady girlfriend.

At a quarter to 10:00
a.m., Jane asked me to go downstairs and get our breakfast. She ate
her bagel with cream cheese while making calculations on her laptop.
I studied a tutorial on my laptop on our king-size bed explaining how
to use DataDog, a software product that helps developers quickly find
slow responses and bugs in mobile app code. I was planning to use
DataDog in my next mobile app, although I didn’t know yet what my
next app would do.

We visited her parents
for lunch and dinner on Friday and Saturday because Jane wanted to
see her three nephews, who were charming young boys. Jane and I
enjoyed playing Monopoly Junior, Scrabble Junior, Trouble, Alphabet
LEGO, Ship of Treasures, and Hero Quest with her three nephews.

Jane had bought
Scrabble Junior at Toy’s Castle the prior week and gave it to
Abbey, who told us that her two older boys would enjoy playing this
educational game. Her parents supplied the other five children’s
games.

I felt like we were
playing with the kids as a husband-and-wife team. We said goodbye to
everybody on Saturday evening and flew home late Sunday morning.


Chapter
51:

Engagement
Ring

On Monday night, I was
alone in the small living room of my apartment at Vista Gardens,
eating my fish filet with French fries and apple pie from McDonald’s.

Thinking about Jane, I
felt something inside me whenever I saw her. Was it her cheerful
face, spontaneous humor, or lively spirit? I didn’t know. I
wondered if Abbey was right that I should propose to Jane.

Searching for an
engagement ring online, I found several with prices ranging from $50
to $2,000. Looking at the online photos, I couldn’t judge the
brilliance and beauty of the diamonds; therefore, I searched for the
locations of several retail jewelry stores.

The next morning, I
drove to the Blue Mall, where Mervin Diamonds and Diamond City
Jewelers were located. But I didn’t find a sparkling diamond ring
at a reasonable price. A salesman at Diamond City Jewelers
recommended Papadopoulos Jewelry because the owner knew several major
importers and was a diamond expert.

Papadopoulos Jewelry
was a narrow store in a small urban mall located next to several
buildings with offices for lawyers, doctors, and CPAs. Papadopoulos
Jewelry advertised on its front window that the store also repaired
and adjusted rings, necklaces, and earrings.

A young, pretty
saleswoman with “Marianna” on her name tag showed me several
diamond rings between $1,000 and $3,000, but I didn’t like them
because they didn’t shine brightly. Looking around the store, I saw
a large painting of a beach and boardwalk hanging on the wall.
Marianna explained that the painting displayed the lively boardwalk
in Loutraki, Greece because the owner was a Greek immigrant.

Finally, I noticed a
sparkling diamond engagement ring in a locked showcase. As I observed
this ring through the thick glass, protected by several horizontal
iron bars, I fell in love with its flashy brilliance. When I asked
for the price, the pretty saleswoman wrote down the tag number and
disappeared behind a green curtain. When Marianna returned, she told
me the price was $22,636.

Why was this small
diamond engagement ring so expensive? She said the owner would
explain it to me, and disappeared behind the green curtain again. A
medium-height man with a slight stomach and wearing a casual gray
shirt and blue pants appeared from behind the curtain. He greeted me
as the owner, Mr. Papadopoulos.

As we stood next to the
jewelry showcase, Mr. Papadopoulos explained that it wasn’t only
the size that set the price of a diamond ring. The other factors were
the cut, color, and clarity. Mr. Papadopoulos showed me a document
from the Gemological Institute of America (GIA), showing that the GIA
had certified that this 2.3-carat Blue Nile diamond ring had an Ideal
cut, I color, and VVSI clarity. According to the document, the GIA
used scientific methods to grade diamonds.

A young man in a suit
and tie walked into the store, and Marianna asked if she could help
him. The young man told her he wanted to buy a beautiful necklace for
his girlfriend’s birthday.

When I asked about the
Ideal cut, Mr. Papadopoulos explained that the cut is how a diamond
interacts with light to sparkle with brilliance. The grade cut for
this diamond engagement ring is the second-highest grade, meaning it
has a glittering glow. He emphasized that diamonds with the highest
cut grade—Astor Ideal—were expensive.

What about VVSI
clarity? According to Mr. Papadopoulos, VVSI clarity means that this
diamond has very few imperfections because it is the second-highest
grade. He showed me a chart of the different diamond grades, and the
highest grade is FL-IF, but those diamonds cost a lot of money.

I wondered about the
“I” color. Mr. Papadopoulos replied that the “I” diamond
color means the diamond is nearly colorless. The most expensive
diamond color value is the D-F color (or colorless with an icy look),
but those cost an arm and a leg.

I knew a carat is a
size measurement, but I asked what it precisely refers to. Mr.
Papadopoulos explained that a carat (ct.) is the unique unit of
weight measurement used exclusively to weigh gemstones and diamonds.

Mr. Papadopoulos
explained that a five- or six-carat diamond engagement ring of this
quality would cost over $200,000. The other customer bought a
necklace and left the store.

I asked to take a
closer look at this ring. Mr. Papadopoulos locked the front door,
unlocked the steel-enforced showcase, and handed me the engagement
ring. Observing the ring’s glow and glitter, I understood why it
was so expensive. Of course, I didn’t have $200,000 to buy a large
diamond ring of the same quality. But I remembered that Jane had
rejected a $400,000 engagement ring at her rehearsal dinner.

I asked Mr.
Papadopoulos if he could give me a discount, but he said I should go
to a Target store for a cheap engagement ring.

I tried to convince Mr.
Papadopoulos to give me a loan and showed him my profitable mobile
app on my iPhone. But Mr. Papadopoulos, the elderly Greek immigrant,
didn’t care about computers. He told me he would accept only a
debit card for this exquisite engagement ring.

“End of story!”

I left the jewelry
store in frustration because I didn’t have the money to buy this
beautiful diamond engagement ring. Furthermore, I used the money I
had made from my Medical Center Info app to pay off my three credit
cards and my business loan because I had made $85,000 from the middle
of August to the end of November.

I could buy Jane’s
engagement ring the following month because I expected to receive
around $26,000 from my medical app in December due to the holidays.

As I walked down the
sidewalk toward my car, I decided to ask Jane how she got rich before
I proposed to her with the $22,636 diamond ring. If she still gave me
a vague or cryptic answer, I would have to break up with her because
her dirty money would destroy me.

Driving down Route 89,
I realized I couldn’t break up with Jane because we had such a
wonderful time together. Hopefully, she would give me a straight
answer about her money, and I would no longer worry if her millions
were dirty.


Chapter
52:

IT
Tutorials

On Thursday evening,
around 8:00 p.m., I didn’t call Jane because she was still busy at
work. Jane usually attended a Zumba class at the Golden Gym on
Thursday evenings to stay fit and trim, but she had been working this
week from dawn until late into the evening. She told me there were
some problems at work but didn’t give me any details.

I browsed different
websites to get ideas for my next app but found nothing inspiring. As
I continued my search, I noticed an advertisement for a Django online
class displayed on the Google sidebar. Django was a Python web
framework that enabled a computer programmer to develop secure and
maintainable websites quickly. Python is a computer programming
language used to build websites, automate software tasks, and analyze
data. The Django online class was available on Udemy, an online
learning platform for professional adults and students interested in
IT, math, and accounting.

It hit me that I could
develop new online tutorials to teach folks how to write mobile apps.
I visited the Udemy website and noticed it already had several
introductory mobile app tutorials for around $20. I decided to write
an intermediate-level tutorial on how to write fancy apps with a fast
response time. Furthermore, I could post my online tutorials on Udemy
and my website. Many whiz kids would love my tutorials because they
were eager to write apps for fun. I could also make some money by
posting paid advertisements on my website. The tutorial on my website
would have to be free because whiz kids wanted free online lessons.


Chapter
53:

Shattered
Dreams

Jane continued to work
over 60 hours in the first two weeks of December. She apologized that
she couldn’t attend the National Symphony Orchestra performance as
planned, but she paid me the $450 I had spent. I didn’t mind that
we didn’t go because I had bought those tickets to make Jane happy.

On Saturday night,
while we were in her luxurious living room, I asked Jane how she got
rich, but she replied that she was too stressed to think about
anything. Jane went upstairs and fell asleep right away.

I had trouble falling
asleep beside her because I felt frustrated as a healthy young man on
a Saturday night. I didn’t understand what was going on because
this hadn’t happened since we returned from New York City.

On Sunday around 6:00
a.m., Jane’s alarm clock woke me up. I kissed her on the mouth and
touched her feminine treasures, but my manhood didn’t work because
Jane was acting ice-cold. Twenty minutes later, she left to go to her
office. I returned to my apartment an hour later to work on my new IT
tutorials.

I called her from my
apartment on Monday night around 9:00 p.m., but Jane informed me that
she was still at work. Furthermore, I asked if I could come over to
her condo, but Jane said she would hit the sack at once and get up at
6:00 a.m. She wished me good night and ended our phone call.

I wondered if Jane was
using her work as an excuse to cover up a real problem that she was
having with her dirty money, like meeting drug dealers or agents of a
foreign government. I called her Tuesday morning around 11:00 a.m.,
but Jane told me she didn’t have the time to talk to me.

“When can I talk to
you?”

“Maybe on Thursday,”
Jane replied.

On Thursday morning
around 10:30, Jane invited me to lunch at Peter’s Rich Deli, a
sandwich shop close to her office. She wanted to take a break from
her stressful job.

Peter’s Rich Deli had
a long counter where a person could order a sandwich and pick up a
prepared salad or a fruit, like an apple or an orange. The cashier
was at the end of the counter, and a small wall separated the counter
from the square dining tables. On top of the wall were several
rectangular wooden flowerpots with terrarium plants. There were two
columns of tables and about ten rows. The deli had three large
windows and white walls, but no music.

I ordered a ham and
cheese sandwich with tomatoes and mustard, and Jane ordered a tuna
sandwich. Jane also ordered a cup of coffee, while I got a glass of
water. We paid separately for our own lunch, and sat down at a table
at the far end of the restaurant because professional office workers
occupied the other tables.

As I ate my sandwich,
Jane told me that Liam and Monica had invited us to their wedding on
February 24th in West Linn, Oregon. I opened the envelope and saw
that their wedding invitation card was elaborate and romantic. I
would be happy to go to her brother’s wedding. Jane said her family
loved my colorful stories at Thanksgiving dinner, and her mother
appreciated the twelve beautiful roses that I gave her. I replied
that her family had received me with open arms.

After Jane had finished
eating her sandwich, she asked what happened at my sister’s
audition with the Martha Graham Dance Company in New York City after
the Thanksgiving Day weekend. The dance company selected Lilla, my
sister, from over 120 dancers who had auditioned. Jane remarked that
my sister must be an excellent dancer. I had seen my sister dance at
a college performance two years before; she was by far the best
dancer because all her movements were elegant and precise, and her
face radiated energy and happiness.

Jane asked if my sister
had kept up with the other senior dancers at this well-known dance
company. Lilla got a huge break because the dance director gave her a
significant supporting role in sold-out dance concerts, and my sister
would start on Wednesday the following week. A female dancer had
given notice that her last performance would be on Tuesday.

Jane asked how it was
possible for Lilla, a recently hired dancer, to get a significant
supporting role. When I talked to my mother over our cell phones last
Thursday, she speculated that the dance director wanted to shake
things up because he liked Lilla’s crazy and dynamic energy as a
beautiful 19-year-old dancer.

Jane asked about
Lilla’s experience as a dancer. My sister started taking dance
lessons twice a week after school when she was seven. The University
of Arizona School of Dance in Tucson accepted my sister. But she
dropped out at the end of her freshman year to look for dance
opportunities in New York City, where she danced as a background
dancer in video and TV advertisements and in two musicals.

Jane remarked that my
sister was a gung-ho risk-taker like I was. But it didn’t end well
for my sister. Why, what happened? Lilla did not do a specific dance
movement accurately on Friday morning. According to my mother, the
movement involved raising her left leg vertically, bending the leg
behind her, and grabbing it with her hand. The choreographer yelled
at Lilla to try harder and do it perfectly because this dance step
was required near the end of the performance.

According to my mother
in our phone conversation, two talented senior female dancers who
weren’t selected for this major supporting role showed everybody,
including the choreographer, that they could do this movement without
any issues during a break.

The choreographer
talked to the dance director, who then spoke to the team doctor. He
suggested that Lilla could have a backbone issue and scheduled my
sister’s appointment with Dr. Boyd, an orthopedist, for Friday
afternoon. My sister signed a form at the doctor’s office that
allowed Dr. Boyd to send the results of his examination to the team
doctor and the dance director.

On Saturday morning,
the dance director and the team doctor informed my sister in the
director’s office that she would never be able to raise her left
leg correctly and grab it with her hand because Dr. Boyd had found a
small tear in her tendons in her back. Lilla begged the director to
give her another chance because she had practiced this dance movement
the night before. The director gave Lilla one more chance, but she
fell while trying to execute this dance movement on the stage in
front of all the other dancers, including the choreographer.

The dance director
asked my sister to come to his office, where he fired her on the
spot. Jane asked if my sister had a contract with the dance company
covering her injury. I didn’t know anything about my sister’s
contract, but I assumed it had a clause that her contract could be
terminated at any time for any reason, like my IT contracts.

Jane asked how my
sister had handled being fired so suddenly from the Martha Graham
Dance Company. According to my mother, on our second phone call on
Saturday afternoon, my sister cried bitterly because Doctor Robert
Koch, an orthopedist, had assured everybody three years earlier that
Lilla had fully recovered from her skiing accident. Jane remarked
that my sister had the determination and focus, but her body had
failed her at a critical moment.

My mother cursed
herself on our phone call because she had allowed her daughter to go
to Utah for a one-week, deep-snow skiing trip for 16- and
17-year-olds. She never imagined that her daughter would have a
severe skiing accident on this trip.

Jane said she felt
sorry for my sister and mother and suggested I visit Lilla in New
York City to cheer her up while she was busy at work.

When I asked Jane why
she was so busy suddenly, she asked if I knew chemical engineering. I
told her no, and Jane informed me that she didn’t have the time to
teach me graduate chemistry courses. I asked if she had lost big
bucks in the stock market or if something else was going on. She
replied that my question didn’t make any sense.

“Do you still want to
see me?”

“Of course, I love
you!” Jane replied.

I replied that we
hardly talked or saw each other anymore. Jane said that we could go
to a Caribbean Island in January.

I would give her tips
on how to swim faster in the ocean, and Jane thought that would be
wonderful and asked me to research different Caribbean islands. I
promised to do it right away.

We quickly left the
sandwich place because Jane had to run back to work.


Chapter
54:

Caribbean
Trip

As I sat in my
apartment thinking about our upcoming trip to a Caribbean Island, I
imagined that we would sit in lounge chairs under palm trees with our
tequila drinks next to us and admire the clear blue ocean and the
ships on the horizon. Would Jane let her guard down in this romantic
setting and finally tell me how she had become a multimillionaire in
her mid-twenties as a single woman?

I eagerly searched
Google for the most romantic Caribbean destinations for a young
couple in January. The results were St. Kitts and Nevis, Antigua, St.
Thomas, St. Maarten, Aruba, and Grenada.

I remembered reading
several years ago that our Army, including the Delta Force, our Navy,
including the Navy SEALs, and our Air Force had won a smashing
victory in 1983 against the Grenadian Army, consisting of several
hundred disorganized soldiers and a few dozen Cuban advisors. Grenada
didn’t have a navy or an air force.

I wondered if
Grenadians still resented wealthy U.S. tourists like Jane because
President Ronald Reagan had ordered the U.S. military to invade
Grenada in October 1983. I didn’t want ruthless gangs to take
advantage of this resentment against Americans and kidnap Jane for
money because she wore expensive jewelry and drove a fancy rented
sports car while most Grenadians were dirt poor.

Reading more about
Grenada, I found out that the economy was doing fine, and the
Grenadian people welcomed rich tourists, including Americans, who
spent money in Grenada. I realized that Grenada was a major U.S.
foreign policy success compared with China, North Korea, Vietnam,
Iran, Afghanistan, Iraq, Syria, and Putin’s Russia.

The next morning, I
emailed Jane, suggesting that we should go to Costa Rica because we
could swim in the Atlantic Ocean in the morning and the Pacific Ocean
in the afternoon. We could eat fish from the Atlantic Ocean in an
oceanside restaurant for lunch and eat fish from the Pacific Ocean in
another oceanside restaurant for dinner.

Jane asked in her reply
email how we would get from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean in one
day, since Costa Rica was a mountainous country with narrow, two-lane
highways. I replied that we could hire a pilot to fly us in a small,
rented private airplane. Jane thought that sounded exciting.

Several hours later,
around midnight, Jane asked me to send her links to rent a beautiful
villa in Costa Rica for a week because she was still working in the
lab at her office. She would pay for our trip because she had invited
me to a Caribbean Island, even though Costa Rica wasn’t a Caribbean
Island but a Latin American country.

On Sunday afternoon, I
sent Jane an email that contained links for several villas with
splendid views of the Pacific or Atlantic Oceans, costing over $1,000
per night.

Around 5:30 a.m. on
Tuesday, Jane replied to my email, saying she had selected two
different villas with a five-minute walk to the beach. We would stay
on the Atlantic side of Costa Rica for three nights and on the
Pacific side for four. She had booked the villas for the last week of
January. We would also rent a car. The total price for both villas
was $12,900, including taxes and fees for seven nights. I realized
that the rent for our vacation houses in Costa Rica was a bargain
because Jane had paid $13,065 for our suite at the Pierre Hotel in
New York City.

I was disappointed
about visiting Costa Rica in the last week of January. If her
millions were dirty, hopefully, I would not get into trouble before
our trip to Costa Rica.


Chapter
55:

Euler
Hermes

The following week, I
received a letter from Euler Hermes, a debt collection agency. They
threatened to confiscate my corporate and personal bank accounts
within five business days.

Euler Hermes had a
contract with the IRS to collect unpaid taxes. The IRS rejected my
deductions to my S-corporations three years ago. I manually completed
my corporate and personal federal and state tax forms. Ms. Pei Chu,
an independent CPA, refused to do my taxes if I included my planned
corporate deductions like business entertainment expenses (movie and
theater tickets, takeout lunches, and dinners) and business expenses
such as rent, gas, and car maintenance. I figured that I was a tiny
fish, and the IRS wouldn’t care about my corporate deductions. But
I was wrong.

In response to my
letters to the IRS, I received computer-generated letters for two
years that denied my corporate expenses. I called the IRS help desk,
but they put me on hold for over two hours several times. When I
finally reached an IRS representative, we didn’t understand each
other.

I applied these
deductions to my S-corporation income from four years ago (or for the
previous tax year) because I made $115 per hour on my Secure Fast
Inc. contract with Netra All Solutions, which had a subcontract with
Tech Computing. In turn, Tech Computing was the prime contractor on a
U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) project.

Three weeks after IBM
had terminated my employment, I began to work on the CBP government
project. I sent James from IBM an email thanking him for firing me
because my new job paid me $12.50 more per hour and gave me an
opportunity to learn about Angular. But James didn’t reply to my
email.

Angular was a software
tool like React.js that allowed software developers to build web
applications quickly. Four years ago, my gross annual income was
$239,200 (an hourly rate of $115 x 2,080 working hours) while I
worked on the CBP contract. My income included many expenses I had to
pay because I owned my own company. However, regular employees
wouldn’t have to pay for them because employers pay these benefits
to their employees. I owned Secure Fast Inc. (the employer), but I
was also an employee of Secure Fast Inc.

These expenses included
the following:

1) employer payroll
taxes, which consisted of Social Security and Medicare

2) all the health
insurance premiums (Affordable Care Act)

3) the required monthly
corporate insurance premium for lawsuits against my company as
required by Netra All Solutions

4) unemployment
insurance

5) retirement payments
for my Sep-IRA account

6) benefits like
holidays and vacation days

If you add all these
items up, you must deduct $20 per hour from my hourly rate.
Therefore, my spending money was about $95 per hour, or $197,600 per
year four years ago. I achieved this salary level because of my DHS
public trust security clearance and my unique IT skills in databases,
server programming and front-end work.

I worked on the CBP
project without any problems for over a year. Around 1:00 p.m. on a
Tuesday in early December, Samir Shahen, the founder and CEO of Netra
All Solutions, walked up to me at the table where I worked.

I tried to impress my
boss by showing him my new Angular code on my laptop, but Samir
interrupted and ordered me to stay away from the government-issued
laptop because he had to escort me out right then. Shaking my head in
disbelief, I asked him what was going on. Samir explained that the
program manager of Tech Computing had ordered him ten minutes ago to
escort me out immediately.

When I asked Samir why,
he said it was probably a huge misunderstanding, and he would
straighten everything out within two weeks. Samir also told me that
if I found a great new opportunity within two weeks, I should take
it, but he was sure that I would be back within two weeks after he
had talked to several government officials.

Samir escorted me to
the office of a government human resources person, who asked for my
CBP badge. When I showed her my badge, she ripped it from my hands.
She asked if I had all my belongings with me. When I replied in the
affirmative, the government official told me to follow her.

She opened an exit
door, and I walked into the hallway on the fourth floor of a standard
office building. Immediately, the government official stepped back
into the office suite and shut the heavy exit door. Standing in the
hallway, I had no idea what was happening. I couldn’t even use the
hallway bathroom anymore because the bathroom door needed my CBP
badge.

As I waited for the
elevator, Rannon Davidson, my lead, approached me and asked if I was
leaving early that day because I had my briefcase with me. Rannon was
a sharp and helpful software developer whose college major was
aerospace engineering.

I replied that Tech
Computing had terminated my contract that afternoon, and I no longer
worked at CBP. Rannon, another subcontractor, laughed because he
thought it was a joke, but I told him I was dead serious.

He asked if I had
checked all my software changes into Git (the source control
software) so that another developer could quickly pick up my software
modifications. I told him no because I was immediately escorted out.
With a nervous voice, Rannon asked who would finish my new report web
page because the deadline for the next release was in two weeks. I
replied that I had no idea.

The next afternoon, I
updated my résumé in my den, which I used as my office. Four years
ago, I rented a one-bedroom apartment with a den, a huge living room,
and a balcony. Rannon called me and asked several questions about the
report web page code. I answered his questions free of charge for the
next two days because I liked him.

After two weeks, I
called Samir, my former boss, but he hadn’t had any luck with the
government officials. He asked if anything had happened at a
government meeting. I told him I sometimes asked critical technical
questions in meetings, but I never became personal or cursed at
anyone.

Samir informed me that
he didn’t know what happened because he had no access to my
government files, including my security clearance files. But he would
give me an excellent reference because I had explained to Rannon what
I had done on the report web application.

I never found out what
was written in my security clearance government file because my boss
and I had no access to it.

After five weeks, I
found another job as an employee with SAIC on a Department of Defense
(DoD) government contract. I took a $60,000 pay cut at my new job
with SAIC because it wasn’t fun to go to job interviews while I was
unemployed; I didn’t mind going to interviews when I already had a
job. However, my pay cut wasn’t that bad because I received the
standard employee benefits at SAIC.

After two weeks, SAIC
fired me on the spot. My boss, Dave Harding, informed me that I would
have difficulty getting the DOD Top Secret clearance required for
this position because of my security problems at CBP.

When I asked Dave about
my security issues at CBP, he replied that I knew perfectly well
about my security violations at CBP. When I explained how I was fired
at CBP, Dave gave me the email address for their COTR, the government
employee handling the federal government contract. She will provide
me with all the details. I sent several emails to the COTR, but she
never replied.

I called several law
offices, but their legal fees were outrageous. One lawyer, who worked
for himself and had reasonable fees, told me that my lawsuit would
take years and might cost me thousands of dollars. He asked me if I
wanted to work under the direction of Tech Computing again. I said no
and followed the lawyer’s advice to forget about a lawsuit and find
another IT job as quickly as possible.

I worked for
FreeLanceJobs as an independent freelance developer on short-term web
application and server programming code projects. Several weeks
later, I also picked up a remote job supporting the website for a
local chapter of the Chios Society, a nonprofit organization.

The previous webmaster,
Tom Seufert, told me he didn’t have the time to maintain this
website because his wife recently had a second baby. I met Tom when
we worked together on the IBM/TSA contract; he had moonlighted on
other contracts. I improved Chios’s website, including search
engine optimization (SEO), which promotes a website in search engines
like Google.

Furthermore, I used the
local chapter of the Chios Society as a reference to support other
nonprofit websites like Crest Trail, the local food bank, and the
Park Expansion Committee. These small, nonprofit groups didn’t have
a lot of money and expected people to volunteer for their causes, so
I turned over the maintenance of these websites to volunteers.

Initially, I liked
working for FreeLanceJobs because I could work on different tasks and
projects. However, after several months, I changed my mind because
they charged me a high fee for my sweat and blood on rushed projects.

Therefore, I studied,
wrote, and sold mobile apps where I could decide my schedule.
However, my savings disappeared after a year because my first three
apps were disasters, but I still had to pay my living expenses like
rent, utilities, food, clothes, and a car. I moved from my
one-bedroom apartment with a large den and balcony in North Moore,
where I paid $1,750 monthly for rent, to my one-bedroom apartment in
Vista Gardens, where I paid only $650. I continued to survive
financially because of my three credit cards and business loans until
my Medical Center Info became a highly profitable app.

Looking up, I stared at
a poster of a scenic beach in Kalamata, Greece, that I had randomly
picked from a magazine and attached to the white walls in my living
room with a thumbtack.

I searched Kalamata on
Google and read that it was an ocean resort town dominated by
family-owned hotels, restaurants, cafés, and stores. A night
watchman owned the hotel, a waiter owned the restaurant, and a
cashier owned the grocery store. According to the online article, you
could order your lunch at an open-air beach restaurant. When you
returned from your swim in the ocean, the server would bring your
food. You would eat lunch outside on the beach in the shade with a
beautiful view of the ocean and peninsula. Jane would love to eat the
fresh sardelles or branzini fish caught in the morning, and I would
eat the delicious chicken souvlaki with French fries. Of course, we
would also order Greek tomato salads with the famous Kalamata olives.
After lunch, we would relax in lounge chairs near the shoreline and
drink Greek coffee.

If we became bored at
the beach, we could visit the Frankish Castle, built in 1205 on the
top of a hill. Or we could go to the farmer’s market, where over
one hundred farmers and many artists sold their products directly to
the public. I planned to tell Jane about Kalamata, and we could go to
this vacation paradise next summer.

My thoughts returned to
my immediate IRS problem.

I angrily wrote a check
for $12,980 to the IRS because I didn’t have the money or time to
challenge them in the federal courts as Fortune 500 companies do. My
IRS payment doubled because of the daily interest rate and late
penalty fees. Hopefully, I will have the money for Jane’s
engagement ring in January.


Chapter
56:

Graphic
Designer

I flew to New York City
over Christmas to visit my sister, who shared a one-bedroom apartment
in Greenwich Village with a female college student who played the
guitar and violin and attended the Juilliard School of Music. They
alternated every week between sleeping in the bedroom or living room.

My sister Lilla had
decided to stop dancing temporarily because she had lost confidence
in her abilities due to a small tear in the tendons in her back.

Her new focus was
finding a computer graphic designer job to pay for her living
expenses. Lilla diligently learned graphic design software like Adobe
Illustrator, Corel Draw, and Inkscape (free software). She bought and
downloaded these software packages, quickly learned them via online
tutorials, and tested them on her website.

I flew home after one
night because of my sister’s cramped housing situation.


Chapter
57:

New
Year’s Eve

I drove to Jane’s
condo around 7:30 p.m. on December 31. She wore an off-the-shoulder
cocktail skater dress and a new necklace with many small diamonds on
a gold chain. I was wearing a new gray suit with a new red tie.

As we waited for the
elevator, I pulled up my pants legs and showed Jane that I was
wearing matching blue socks. She didn’t care, so I reminded her
that she had criticized me for wearing different socks when we went
to the Royal Fox Theater last spring.

Jane informed me that
the diamonds on her necklace were fake because she was wearing a
cheap necklace from Dollar Budget. I didn’t believe her because her
sparkling diamond necklace looked better than the certified South Sea
pearl necklace she had worn at the airport last March.

Jane told me I had
successfully passed the necklace jewelry test because she wore a
necklace with fifteen carats of graduated brilliant-cut round
diamonds set in an enduring eighteen-karat gold chain.

Her diamond necklace
was another reminder that she was loaded with money. I ignored the
mystery about her millions because Jane looked sensual in her clothes
and necklace, and I hadn’t seen her recently.

“You look fabulous,”
I said as I put my hands on Jane’s shoulders and kissed her for the
first time in three weeks.

She passionately
returned my kiss. The elevator door opened, but we ignored it. I
kissed her right shoulder and the upper part of her chest.

“No! No! Not here!”
Jane yelled.

She quickly opened her
condo door as I lifted her short dress and pushed my hip against her
purple string panties that partially covered her firm rear end. We
had passionate fun on the Persian rug in her living room on the last
day of the year.

As we lay naked on the
rug, Jane asked what I was staring at; I was looking at her
chandelier. Jane liked the chandelier because it created an air of
mystery that made her living room look graceful. I complimented her
elegant taste and told her I had missed her lively spirit. Jane
informed me that December had been tough for her, but she felt much
better now because we were joking and laughing again.

I asked how she had
resolved the big issues that she had been working on for the last
four weeks. Jane didn’t answer my question but talked about going
to Times Square next year for New Year’s Eve. Why didn’t Jane
answer my question? What was she hiding from me?

Jane suggested taking
showers in different bathrooms because we were running late.

Ninety minutes later,
around 9:30 p.m., we left her condo. As I drove the Porsche to the
Taylor Hotel and Resort, Jane asked if I liked her new perfume; I
replied that it smelled great. She asked why I hadn’t mentioned it
if it smelled great. I replied that I was focused on driving her
Porsche. Jane didn’t believe me, but I quickly told her she looked
sexy in her cocktail skater dress. She liked my compliment.

The Taylor Hotel and
Resort had two buildings. One building, about fifteen floors high,
was the hotel, while the other building was a five-story convention
center. Taylor Hotel and Resort was near the river but outside the
city limits. It had a boardwalk with lampposts, ten river piers for
private and tourist boats, and an open grassy area with a wooden
stage near the shoreline for outdoor events like concerts. Next to
the stage, there was a large sculpture of a sleeping woman lit by a
blue light and partially covered by the artificial sand beside the
river.

The convention center
had many small boutique shops and restaurants on the first floor but
closed for New Year’s Eve. When we exited the elevator on the third
floor, we saw two people sitting at a small table down the hall in
front of a large, closed door. I assumed that it was the New
Amsterdam Center where the New Year’s Eve party was held.

An older lady scanned
the QR (Quick Response) code on my iPhone and told us that Table 34
was near the wall on the right side. I randomly picked Table 34 when
I bought the tickets online.

We walked into the New
Amsterdam Center around 10:25 p.m. A bar was located at the end of a
long hallway, and a middle-aged man wearing a casual blue dress
jacket without a tie was walking down the hallway holding a wine
bottle. There were several wide-open doors to the left of the hallway
leading to the noisy party room. I assumed that this room usually
served as an academic conference room. We hung our coats in the
coatroom ourselves because there was no attendant. I saw a sign for
the restrooms next to the coatroom, and farther down the hallway were
two open doors. One narrow room had a table with hors d’oeuvres,
but no one was there. Several people were in the second room as they
returned for their second round at the buffet.

We entered the noisy
party room on the left side. There must have been around five hundred
people sitting and eating at the round tables, standing around in the
party room, talking to someone, or aimlessly staring at something.
The band was on a break.

Each table had eight
chairs, eight fresh red roses in a vase, a stack of party hats, and
two small champagne bottles that came with our $699 ticket that I had
bought.

We quickly found table
number 34 and introduced ourselves to the other six people sitting
there. An elderly couple sat next to us on our left side, and another
couple with an older daughter and son sat on our right. Both couples
were finishing dinner. Jane and I went to the hors d’oeuvres room.
She took my plate back to our table while I walked to the bar and
bought a bottle of Robert Mondavi California wine for $150.

She liked the
crumb-topped clams and celery, while I ate chicken fingers and cheese
with crackers. I offered the wine to the other two couples at our
table, and they accepted. Jane and I toasted each other and the other
couples for a happy New Year.

Jane talked to the
elderly couple. The man, Bennett, was a retired software developer
who still worked as a part-time freelance developer, while his wife,
Vasileia, was a retired diplomat. She had served as a US diplomat in
several countries, including Greece, Lebanon, Russia, South Africa,
and the United Nations in New York City. Vasileia complimented Jane
on her sparkling necklace and asked where she had bought it. Jane had
bought it at the Masica & Son Jewelry store in Brooksville.
Vasileia shopped at Marshalls and TJ Maxx because they lived on their
retirement income, but they were proud of their two talented
grandchildren. Their elder grandson, Luke, who was eleven, played
cello in an advanced elite youth orchestra and took a pre-algebra
course as an after-school activity. Their younger grandson, Dennis,
was nine, played on an elite soccer team, and won several local chess
tournaments for his age group.

Jane asked how far they
lived from their grandchildren. They appreciated their luck in living
only ten miles from them.

I turned my head and
talked to the young adults sitting next to me. The adult son went to
Fred Scott Community College and considered becoming a lawyer. His
sister was a senior in high school and wanted to be a doctor.

The band started to
play again, a mixture of easy listening and swing music. It consisted
of a trumpet, a saxophone, a double bass, and a piano player. The
singer was a pretty young lady wearing a tight silver dress and
high-heeled shoes with sparkling gems.

Observing the singer, I
remembered that I wanted to find out how Jane had become rich. I
asked if she had hired a clever lawyer and made a fortune with a
lawsuit.

“Don’t ask a silly
question in the last two hours of the year. Just enjoy them.” Jane
replied.

Jane was right because
I could ask her about her money in the new year. Several young
couples began to dance in the open space in front of the band. I got
up to get my food, and Jane followed me. We saw only one other person
in the buffet room. I picked up the last chicken breast, while Jane
got one of the last pieces of salmon. We also picked up some rice,
cut carrots, bread, and butter, mainly because they were all that was
left.

As we ate, Jane asked
how my sister was doing. The dance director who had fired my sister
on the spot three weeks before had called my sister one day after I
had left. He mentioned that she could apply for a New York City grant
to teach contemporary dance and ballet to inner-city children. My
sister asked if this grant money was available right away. The dance
director replied that the major’s office had approved the
expenditure but was looking for a highly qualified teacher.

Jane asked how my
sister would find the inner-city kids. The dance director explained
to my sister that the New York City school superintendent’s office
had asked the mayor’s administration to reinstate this successful
program for elementary school children as an after-school
recreational activity. My sister responded that she would pursue this
opportunity right away. Jane asked about the previous dance teacher.
I guessed that she was not available anymore.

I continued to tell
Jane that my sister discovered that school gyms weren’t available
because of basketball practice and other activities. So she
coordinated with a local church to rent their auditorium at a fifty
percent discount rate because the church wanted to help inner-city
kids. My sister would teach the kids contemporary dance and ballet
for 90 minutes five times a week; the church was located two blocks
away from two subway stations serving different routes in New York
City. A few hours later, she applied online for the grant money and
listed the dance director as a reference. Jane asked if my sister had
gotten the grant money, but she hadn’t received it yet. What was
the holdup?

Three days later, the
New York City youth cultural director called my sister and told her
he had approved her application. He was impressed by the email from
the dance director of the Martha Graham Dance Studio, who said that
my sister was an outstanding dancer who knew how to work with
children. However, the required signed legal paperwork would take one
more week. Therefore, my sister was hopeful about getting this money
from the city.

Jane remarked that the
dance director helped my sister stay connected with dancing, even
though he had to fire her on the spot because of pressure from the
other talented dancers with seniority.

The dance floor became
filled with couples and single ladies dancing to the live band and
the sexy singer. People also danced between the round tables near the
dance floor. It was a quarter before midnight. Jane and I joined the
other couples on the crowded dance floor.

Suddenly, the music
stopped, and everybody stood still. A huge seventy-inch TV screen
showed the countdown in a park in the state capital.

“. . . Five, four,
three, two, one!”

Jane and I embraced and
kissed as people blew horns or shouted, “Happy New Year!”

Fifteen minutes later,
we held each other tightly as we danced slowly to a romantic song in
the New Year. I asked Jane if we should go to our hotel room. She
kissed me and said yes. We welcomed the new year on the king-size bed
in our suite.

I paid $620 for the
room and left a $50 tip for the housekeeper. However, I knew I had to
finish my mobile app tutorial quickly before my successful medical
app became obsolete.


Chapter
58:

Valentine’s
Day Surprise

A week later, on
January 5th, I finally had $24,534 in my personal bank account after
transferring the money from my corporate bank account and paying my
January rent. Immediately, I drove back to Papadopoulos Jewelry
because I didn’t want anybody else to buy the dazzling diamond
engagement ring.

I paid $22,636 for
Jane’s diamond engagement ring because Mr. Papadopoulos still
refused to give me a discount. He said his price was fair, as he had
explained to me last month. I didn’t care that I had only $1,898
left in my bank accounts because I expected to make at least $15,000
from my medical mobile app in January.

Mr. Papadopoulos gave
me a written statement that I could return this diamond engagement
ring for a full refund, no questions asked, until January 19. He
mumbled that you never knew the crazy things that ladies would do. I
had two weeks left to determine if Jane’s millions were dirty.

I drove down Maple
Avenue, a two-lane road with several small shopping centers. As I
waited at a red light, I saw a big sign in the window of a boutique
clothing store that advertised gifts for Valentine’s Day.

I decided to propose to
Jane on Valentine’s Day because Valentine’s Day would have a
special meaning for us for the rest of our lives. I would invite Jane
for a walk on the boardwalk on Valentine’s Day in the evening. When
we reached the small, wooded area next to the river at the end of the
boardwalk, I would kneel in front of Jane, show her the sparkling
Blue Nile diamond ring, and ask her to marry me.

“Yes, yes,” Jane
would say as she smiled.

Of course, I assumed
that she would reply in the affirmative. I heard several cars honking
their horns behind me. Looking up, I noticed that the light had
turned green. I quickly drove through the intersection and back to my
apartment at Vista Gardens.

Jane invited me to
Mozart’s The Marriage of Figaro in the opera room at the
Royal Fox Theater on Saturday night. I didn’t care much about
operas, but Jane liked this opera. Afterward, we had fun on her
king-sized bed because Jane was a happy woman. We ate breakfast in
her kitchen on Sunday morning because it was cold outside. I asked
Jane how she had made her millions because I’d like to do the same
thing.

“Don’t ruin our
wonderful weekend discussing money,” she said. “Just enjoy the
beautiful view.”

I let it go, even
though the return date for my engagement ring was in ten days.
Instead, I asked what we should do that Sunday. Jane suggested going
to Bartown, a historic district ten miles from the city. We enjoyed
walking the sidewalks and exploring the boutique stores, where I
bought Jane a T-shirt and a cowboy hat. We also walked in the park
holding hands and examined a statue of Geronimo in front of a
Western-style restaurant located next to the park. The inscription
said that Geronimo was an Apache Indian Chief who courageously fought
hundreds of U.S. soldiers from 1850 to 1886 in Arizona and New Mexico
with only a few dozen Native warriors. After we ate dinner in the
restaurant, I drove back to my apartment because Jane had to get up
early for her staff meeting on Monday mornings.

Of course, we called
each other in the evenings during the week and discussed our planned
trip to Costa Rica. I suggested we also stop in Cancún, Mexico, for
several days to see the Mayan ruins at Chichen Itza, renowned for its
towering pyramids. Jane liked my idea, but we would have to visit
Cancún another time, depending on her workload.


Chapter
59:

Relay
Anywhere Inc.

I called on Thursday
afternoon and suggested coming to her condo for dinner. She agreed if
I picked up some food on the way over. I had seven days left to find
out how Jane had become rich, or I would have to return the $22,636
engagement ring to Papadopoulos Jewelry.

I picked up and paid
for the Chinese food from the Sichuan Jin River restaurant on East
Ford Drive. Furthermore, I ordered chicken with vegetables, hot and
sour soup, and vegetable spring rolls, while Jane told me to order
cod with crispy bean and wonton soup.

After dinner, we sat on
the living room’s contemporary gray leather couch. Jane scrolled
through the Netflix display to see which movie we should watch.

I asked Jane how she
had become a multimillionaire. She ignored me and continued to scroll
through the movie selection display. I asked her again about her
millions, and this time, she replied that her money was none of my
business because we weren’t married.

I angrily yelled that
I’d had enough of her games. She asked what my problem was. I got
up from the couch and told Jane that I didn’t want to get shot
because of her drug money. She stared at me with an angry, cold look
but said nothing. I walked to the closet to get my jacket and opened
the front door. Immediately, Jane said that we could talk about her
money. My bluff worked.

I removed my jacket and
threw it on the easy chair. Jane explained that she had become
furious because of my false accusation. However, she didn’t want to
lose me because I was confused about how an engineer could earn
millions of dollars. As I sat beside her, I admitted that I had run
out of ideas about how she had become a multimillionaire. Jane said
she would give me a hint.

“Okay.”

She asked how key
employees at startup companies get rich. I explained that a startup
company often gives its employees many free shares. The employees
dream that the startup company will hold an initial public offering
(IPO) so they can sell their shares on a stock exchange.

According to Google, an
initial public offering is the process of offering shares of a
private corporation to the public for the first time. If the share
price of the startup company dramatically increases, the employees
will make millions. Jane said that was correct.

I added that most
technical folks never get rich from their free shares, but only
fantasize about it while they work over 50 hours a week on a low
salary without overtime pay.

Jane asked how this
could happen. If the startup company fails, the employees’ free
shares will be worthless. Jane remarked that the employees accept
this risk when they work for a startup company, but I told her that a
CEO can cheat the technical folks.

Jane asked how that was
possible. I was badly screwed by Relay Anywhere, an IT start-up
company that was privately owned, meaning its shares weren’t
publicly traded on any stock exchange. Private companies without
publicly traded debt or equity aren’t required to disclose their
financial statements to the public or have their financial statements
audited.

Jane told me that I had
mentioned Relay Anywhere at Thanksgiving dinner. I was surprised she
still remembered that. Jane remembered everything I had told her and
asked what happened to me at Relay Anywhere. They had given me 50,000
shares for free when they hired me because I had taken an $85,000
annual salary cut. They developed a new software, Search All, that
quickly searched SQL and NoSQL databases with intelligent algorithms.
Jane asked if it was like ChatGPT. I said no because ChatGPT is a
natural-language-processing tool driven by AI (artificial
intelligence) technology that allows you to have human-like
conversations. It can answer questions and help with tasks such as
composing emails, essays, and computer code.

However, Search All did
not compose written sentences but focused on quickly searching
databases. A user would still need to analyze the database results
with another piece of software or perform it manually.

I worked on their web
application screens because of my knowledge of JavaScript, React.js,
and RESTful services. After four months, I got another 20,000 free
shares because I had resolved a critical software issue that involved
MongoDB, a NoSQL database, and affected the development schedule.

Jane remarked that it
was great that I got 70,000 free shares after working at Relay
Anywhere for four months. But it was too good to be true.

Jane asked what
happened. One month later, the president of Relay Anywhere announced
in an internal email that NetWaves was going to buy Relay Anywhere.

All the software
developers, including myself, became excited because this meant we
would make a ton of money in three weeks when NetWaves would buy our
free Relay shares to complete the purchase of Relay Anywhere. Jane
thought I had hit the jackpot.

However, my boss, Mr.
Raymond Wong, called an emergency meeting around 11:30 a.m. four days
later. Mr. Wong also invited the operations support team to attend
this meeting. At the meeting, Mr. Wong announced that he was leaving
Relay Anywhere right after this meeting. Everybody wondered why and
what was going on.

Mr. Wong explained that
Relay Anywhere had issued two classes of stock: Class A for the
technical folks and most managers, including himself, and Class E for
the CEO and owner, Mr. Levi Buckley, and his buddies. NetWaves would
pay Class A shareholders three cents per share, while Class E
shareholders (or the CEO and his buddies) would get $9.95 per share.
The CEO of Relay Anywhere had negotiated these share prices in the
sales contract with NetWaves.

Jane thought this was
terrible because I would get only $2,100 for my $85,000 salary cut. I
got nothing because I left Relay Anywhere right after this staff
meeting, just as my boss did. I didn’t want to work for this
corrupt company for one more second.

Jane asked how the
other technical employees felt that they would only get three cents
per share. All the software developers and the operations support
folks became angry because Relay Anywhere had deceived and cheated us
with their worthless Class A shares. Some developers began to talk at
the meeting about suing Relay Anywhere for deception.

I took no legal action
because I decided to move on quickly. Jane remarked that I had made
an excellent decision because I would have become frustrated and
angry as my case dragged on in the courts for many years.

She asked how NetWaves
planned to continue to develop the new software if they made all the
software developers angry, and they resigned in protest, since they
were a small company, unlike Twitter. Mr. Wong also explained at the
meeting that NetWaves would at once stop all further development of
Relay’s Search All software. NetWaves planned to take federal and
California state tax deductions of over $3 million because they would
write off the cost of developing Relay’s Search All software as a
huge loss. The savings that NetWaves would make from these tax
deductions would cover most of the purchase price of Relay Anywhere.
A software developer asked what would happen to them if NetWaves shut
down the development of Relay’s Search All software. Mr. Wong
replied that NetWaves had promised him that all employees would be
reassigned to other projects. But don’t hold your breath on it.

Jane asked why NetWaves
had bought Relay Anywhere if they decided to kill Relay’s only
software product, Search All. An operations support person had asked
the same question at the meeting. Mr. Wong, my boss, explained that
he didn’t understand it either, but he had heard that the CEO of
Relay Anywhere had a personal and business relationship with Mr.
Edgar Drake, the CEO of NetWaves.

Jane asked if the CEO
of NetWaves got a kickback from Levi Buckley since the tax deductions
financed the purchase price of Relay Anywhere. I didn’t know, but
she still hadn’t heard the worst part.

“What could be
worse?” Jane asked.

As I was walking down
the hallway, I greeted Mr. Jacob Morelli, Relay Anywhere’s
treasurer; I had occasionally spoken with him as a colleague. He
asked if I was looking for another job, but I told him I was leaving
Relay Anywhere right then.

Jacob informed me that
NetWaves was a subsidiary of Smart Border Security, a highly
profitable company that sold drones, machine guns, grenades,
high-caliber rifles, and other small weapons worldwide. Jacob figured
that the CEO of Smart Border Security and his relatives didn’t want
to mention at their parties in California that their company was
fueling wars by selling weapons to both sides in a violent conflict
where many women and children were killed.

It would sound much
better if the CEO and his family said they owned an IT start-up
company at their parties. According to Jacob, NetWaves, the IT
subsidiary, lost money on purpose because Smart Border Security
needed losses to minimize their taxes.

Jane asked if Smart
Border Security also executed the sensitive tasks for different
intelligence agencies, like the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) or
the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA). I didn’t know, but it was a
reasonable assumption because these government agencies often use
third-party vendors to deny any official involvement in high-risk
conflicts like Ukraine.

Jane said she would
never work at NetWaves. The treasurer, Jacob, had similar feelings
because he had turned down a job offer with a twelve-million-dollar
annual compensation working as the chief financial officer (CFO) at
NetWaves. He didn’t want to work for a company that was a front for
an international arms dealer. Jane thought Jacob had a lot of
integrity.

Jacob also informed me
that he would leave Relay Anywhere the next morning and look for
another job, but he still had to wrap up some accounting transactions
as a CPA professional. Mr. Jacob Morelli gave me his business card
and told me to keep in touch because I was an excellent software
developer.

Jane asked if I ended
up working for a company where Jacob was the CFO. I told her I hadn’t
because my next contract was with NewGen, working on the DHS/TSA
government project where James Rank was the general manager and IBM
was the prime contractor.

Jane said I was unlucky
with Relay Anywhere, but her startup company, Vandane, treated her
well.


Chapter
60:

Vandane
Inc.

As we continued sitting
on her couch, I asked Jane how much money she had made from her
Vandane shares. Vandane had given her 140,000 free shares over three
years; I asked why she had received that many shares. Her team had
developed the new drugs ParkSaver and ParkSaver Plus, which helped
people with Parkinson’s disease.

I asked Jane again how
much money she had made from her free Vandane shares. She asked why I
wanted to know the details about her money, and I said we shouldn’t
have any secrets between us. Jane stared at her Kandinsky painting
and remained silent for over 30 seconds. I told her that trust is
critical in every relationship.

Finally, Jane informed
me that she had made over $6 million two years ago when she sold her
free Vandane shares on the stock market after the IPO. I remarked
that I couldn’t believe that she had made so much money because
only Wall Street gamblers make that kind of profit in such a short
time.

We walked upstairs to
her third bedroom (or large office room) and sat beside each other,
facing her laptop on her desk. Jane logged on to her Fidelity
Investment accounts and showed me her stock transaction statements.

Jane had sold her free
Vandane shares on the stock market over seven months at prices
ranging from $45.00 to $49.00 per share; she had made $6,500,500 two
years ago.

I said the CEO of
Vandane must have really liked her because he had given her so many
free shares. Jane angrily replied that she had earned her free shares
because her chemical engineering skills had played a critical role in
the success of ParkSaver and ParkSaver Plus.

If the new drugs had
failed, she would have earned only $50,000 per year for three years
while sharing two-bedroom apartments with different female roommates.
Jane added that about 85 percent of new drugs didn’t get final FDA
approval or failed in the marketplace.

I couldn’t believe
that her salary as a chemical engineer was only $50,000 a year. Jane
explained that Vandane was a small company with limited resources. At
that time, it employed three other chemists and one biologist to
research new drugs for Parkinson’s medical condition.

I understood now why
Jane had spent her money on a fancy Porsche, expensive diamond
necklaces and earrings, and a luxury condo. She had worked long and
crazy hours for three years for only $50,000 a year.

I asked Jane about
Vandane’s IPO share price. Vandane and the investment bank, John
Feroldi LLC, decided to make the IPO price $20.00 per share. Three
months after the IPO, Vandane’s share price rose over $40.00 per
share because sales for the new drugs, ParkSaver and ParkSaver Plus,
far exceeded market expectations. One benefit of ParkSaver and
ParkSaver Plus was that they had few known side effects compared to
the other drugs available for Parkinson’s disease.

I asked about the
difference between ParkSaver and ParkSaver Plus. ParkSaver Plus was a
stronger version of ParkSaver for patients with Parkinson’s at an
advanced stage. I told her it never occurred to me that she had
become a multimillionaire because of her technical skills,
perseverance, and leadership. My terrible experience at Relay
Anywhere had clouded my judgment about startup companies. Jane
understood what I was trying to tell her.

I asked if she owned
her luxury penthouse. Jane had bought her condominium with cash at a
twenty percent price reduction from the listed price.

I asked how she could
buy her penthouse with a magnificent view at a bargain price. The
previous owner owned a small mutual fund for penny stocks that ran
into serious financial difficulties.

He needed cash quickly
to avoid lawsuits from angry small investors and an SEC
investigation. I asked how she had found out that this condominium
was on sale. Zillow advertised the condominium, and she had the cash
to buy it right away without any inspections or other delays with the
twenty percent discount.

I remarked that her
condominium fees and property taxes must be high because she lives in
a luxury building. Jane explained that the dividends from her mutual
funds paid for her condominium fees and property taxes. Jane was a
cautious, but clever investor because she basically lived for free in
her penthouse.

I asked if she had made
another $6.5 million last year. Jane replied that she received stock
options worth $2.6 million because her team was still developing a
new drug for multiple sclerosis.

I remembered that an
employee stock option is a benefit that allows an employee to buy a
specific number of shares of the company’s stock at a specified
price (called the strike price) within a specific time period (known
as the exercise window).

Her financial
statements showed that Jane had sold her 15,000 employee stock option
shares on the last working day of March, June, September, and
December of the prior year and had made $2,640,000 in the stock
market.

I remarked that the
dollar value of her employee stock options depended on Vandane’s
unpredictable share price, which could change at any time for any
reason.

Jane admitted that she
sometimes felt nervous about Vandane’s share price, especially when
the price dropped to $17.00 per share on December 1 of the prior year
from $34.00 per share in August, or a 50% drop. I asked what
happened.

The major problem was
that sales of ParkSaver and ParkSaver Plus had declined by 20% last
fall because the market for this medicine had become saturated. Her
employee stock options became worthless on December 1st because it
would’ve been foolish to pay her company $20.00 per share for
15,000 stock option shares, sell them at $17.00 per share on the
stock market, and lose $45,000—or $3.00 per share.

Jane agreed and said
there was another problem. Doctor Brad Rosenberg, the chairman of
Vandane’s board of directors, called her on December 5 and told her
that Mr. Mark Stumberger had become concerned about the steep decline
of Vandane’s share price. He’d asked about Vandane’s publicly
disclosed future direction.

“Who is Mark
Stumberger?” I asked.

He was the lead manager
of the medical mutual fund New Research, which owned about 38% of
Vandane’s shares. Jane was concerned that Dr. Rosenberg would cut
his losses that December and either cancel the development of the new
drug for multiple sclerosis or outsource the development to India
since they had a lot of intelligent, ambitious, English-speaking
engineering college graduates.

I asked what had
changed in the interim since she had made $540,000 last December when
she sold her stock option shares of Vandane on the stock market.

Jane explained that
Vandane had announced to the public on December 27th that they had
submitted an Investigational New Drug (IND) application to the FDA
for their new multiple sclerosis drug.

The next day, Vandane’s
share price began to rise again. Dr. Rosenberg and the investors,
including Mr. Stumberger, were happy about Vandane’s new share
price of $36.00 per share on the last business day of the year.
Therefore, Jane and her team had earned their stock options with
their technical skills and hard work on the IND application.

I understood now why
Jane could not tell me why she had been so busy last December. If she
had informed me about the planned IND application and I had bought
Vandane shares, we both would’ve been in legal trouble because of
insider stock trading. The IND application only became public
knowledge on December 27th.


Chapter
61:

Doctor
Brad Rosenberg

Continuing our
conversation in her office, Jane said I was the first person with
whom she had shared all her financial information; even her parents
didn’t know the details of her money. I asked if she had a
financial advisor, and she said no. I pointed out that her CPA had
calculated her income for the IRS, but Jane explained that her CPA
didn’t know her wealth.

Jane said Doctor Brad
Rosenberg had founded Vandane and explained that he used to be an
excellent urology surgeon. But Dr. Rosenberg became an entrepreneur
investor when he got older, and his hands began to shake. He
convinced several multimillionaires and a billionaire, Mr. John
Hawkins, to invest in his company, Medical Advancements, which set up
and invested in medical startup companies like Vandane.

These rich people
didn’t know anything about new medical procedures, new medical
devices, or new drugs, but they trusted Robert with their money
because of his medical background.

I asked if the
billionaire investor had been a patient of Dr. Rosenberg’s. Jane
didn’t know but thought that my guess was a reasonable assumption.

I asked how many
startups Dr. Rosenberg managed and owned. Jane explained that it
constantly changed because some medical startup companies failed and
were liquidated. However, Doctor Rosenberg also invested in and
created new startup companies whenever a doctor, nurse, professor,
graduate student, craftsman, or inventor submitted an exciting new
medical idea to him.

I asked how she had
found out about Dr. Rosenberg and his Medical Advancements company.
Jane had read about him on Google in her final semester at Stanford
University while looking for a job. She had turned down two job
offers with an annual compensation of slightly over $200,000 from
Exxon and Merck & Company because she wanted the opportunity to
develop a new drug called ParkSaver and help folks with Parkinson’s
disease.

She sent her proposal
two months before graduation. Dr. Rosenberg set up Vandane to fund
her idea because Doctor Lee Park had approved her proposed analysis.
Dr. Park was the CEO of Vandane, but he was primarily an absent CEO
because he was also the CEO of other medical startup companies and
sat on the board of directors of Vandane, Medical Advancements, and
other startup companies.

I asked if Doctor Lee
Park was her direct boss. She confirmed it, but Axel Ruiz, the CPA
chief financial officer, also reported to Dr. Park. Ruiz was also
responsible for selling and manufacturing ParkSaver and ParkSaver
Plus. Mr. Ruiz also had to approve all Vandane’s financial
expenditures, including salaries and outside contractors. Jane had
often clashed with Ruiz because he mainly looked at the financial
numbers and was stingy. Dr. Park usually deferred to Mr. Ruiz’s
financial decisions and ignored Jane’s suggestions.

Jane told me that three
years ago, Mr. Ruiz, the CPA, convinced Dr. Park to lay off one
chemist on her team for budget reasons while developing ParkSaver.
However, Jane refused to fire one of her colleagues because they had
worked long hours for minimal pay at Vandane, a startup company with
limited resources. As a compromise, Dr. Park convinced the board of
directors to give the laid-off employee $5,000 in cash and to vest
the employee’s free Vandane shares as severance pay to minimize any
hard feelings.

Jane agonized for
several days over which colleague to lay off because they were
brilliant and did a fantastic job. Finally, she called a team meeting
and picked a colleague’s name from a covered box. The selected
employee was Lucy Chen, who had a Ph.D. in chemistry from Princeton
University. However, Lucy could sell her 25,000 free Vandane shares
when the company went public (or did an IPO). Two months later,
Vandane hired two more chemists because Dr. Rosenberg convinced a
multimillionaire to provide Vandane with additional venture capital
money. I asked if she had rehired Lucy Chen. No, because Lucy had
already moved on to another start-up company.

I asked Jane if she was
a member of the board of directors. Jane replied in the negative. Dr.
Brad Rosenberg was the chairman of the board, and it had five other
members: Carl Brando, an independent medical software engineer; Mr.
Patrick Hood, an IT entrepreneur investor; Dr. Lee Park, the research
director of Medical Advancements; Mr. James Muse, an entrepreneur
investor; and Mr. John May, a biotech entrepreneur investor.

Jane explained that
Vandane’s board of directors approved employee stock options and
free shares. Of course, Doctors Rosenberg and Park played significant
roles in these decisions. On the other hand, Mr. Ruiz wasn’t a
member of the board of directors, and he had no voice over stock
options and free shares for employees.

I asked Jane about the
relationship between Doctors Park and Rosenberg. Dr. Park evaluated
the new proposals on their technical merit while Dr. Rosenberg tried
to figure out how to fund them. In general, Dr. Park handled the
implementation of the new, approved medical ideas, while Dr.
Rosenberg focused on keeping the wealthy investors, especially Mr.
John Hawkins, the billionaire, accurately informed and happy. I asked
how John Hawkins made his billions; Jane didn’t know for sure, but
she had heard that John was involved in mining for raw materials like
copper, gold, silver, marble, iron, nickel, lithium, etc.

I remarked that Dr.
Rosenberg was the big cheese who would call Jane to fire her when the
board of directors decided to stop all further research at Vandane.
Jane didn’t want to get a call from Dr. Rosenberg unless the board
of directors approved her stock options or free shares.

I told her that Dr.
Rosenberg ran his business empire like the Romans, who knew about
risk and reward. If a gladiator fought poorly in the Colosseum, the
audience and the emperor would give him the thumbs down, and the
lions or other fighters would kill him. However, if a gladiator
fought bravely, the audience would give him a thumbs up, and the
gladiator would survive and even receive gold and land in some
circumstances.

Jane thought I had made
a dark comparison because the worst that could happen to her was that
she would be fired and be free to pursue better opportunities, like I
had told James Rank at IBM. I was surprised she still remembered what
I had said to James when he fired me. Jane had always enjoyed
listening to my extensive knowledge and experiences.

I asked Jane if she had
given any money to nonprofit groups to reduce her income taxes. Jane
had offered to buy her parents a big mansion in an affluent
neighborhood, but they refused because they were happy where they had
lived for 41 years. Her mother added that if Jane had money to spend,
she should give her money to help homeless children. But Jane didn’t
know anything about nonprofit groups and didn’t have the time to
research them.

I had written checks to
nonprofit groups several years ago when I had worked on government
contracts and had money to spend. Jane asked if I still remembered
some of these nonprofit groups. I have written checks to local food
banks, the local volunteer fire and ambulance service, City Year, and
environmental groups such as the National Park Foundation, Earth
Justice, the Trust for Public Land, Water Alliance, Rails-to-Trails,
and other groups. City Year was a nonprofit group that supplied free,
talented tutors to work with teachers in high-need communities.

Jane excitedly said she
never knew what we would do next, like give money to nonprofit groups
to help homeless families, schoolchildren in struggling
neighborhoods, and the environment here in the United States.

She kissed me, I
returned her kiss, and we made love on the couch in her office.


Chapter
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Chicago

An hour later, we lay
on her bed in the primary bedroom, wearing our pajamas on a Thursday
night. Jane asked if I could fly with her to Chicago the next day to
visit her brother, Jim, and his wife, Abbey. Her brother wasn’t
working on Monday because of the Martin Luther King, Jr. holiday, and
Abbey was three months pregnant with her fourth child. She was hoping
for a baby girl since she already had three boys.

Jim was lucky that
Martin Luther King, Jr. was a paid holiday for him. Jane told me her
brother had a secure, comfortable, six-figure job with great benefits
as a senior licensed civil engineer with the Illinois state
government. He supervised several contractors who evaluated future
transportation proposals in the Urban and Regional Planning
Department. Jane sometimes wondered if Jim had a better job than she
did, even though he didn’t make millions of dollars.

I couldn’t fly with
Jane to Chicago that weekend because I had a scheduled appointment
with Mr. Nick Barber, an investor, on Saturday at 2:00 p.m. at an
entrepreneur conference at our city’s Kickstart Center.

Jane asked if I could
reschedule. I told her that Mr. Barber was planning to invest over
one million dollars in my company because he had become very
enthusiastic when I had described my medical mobile app to him the
day before over Google Meet. Mr. Barber was an IT investor who was
backed by private capital money. Jane asked how I had found Mr.
Barber. Ms. Luna Anderson, his marketing advisor, had downloaded my
app and liked what she saw. Jane understood that I had to chase this
opportunity as an independent entrepreneur.

I drove Jane to the
airport on Friday afternoon. We passionately embraced and kissed each
other before the security checkpoint as passengers quickly walked
past us. I saw an older couple looking at us and smiling from the
corner of my eye. Did they remember their youth?

I told Jane I couldn’t
wait until we saw each other again on Tuesday evening. She asked me
to call her right after my appointment with the investor, and I
promised I would.

As Jane rode down the
escalator behind the first security checkpoint, we blew kisses at
each other. When she arrived at the bottom floor, she turned around,
and we wildly waved. After 30 seconds, Jane walked down the hallway
and disappeared from my view, but she returned after five seconds,
and we continued to throw kisses and to wave to each other. Finally,
Jane disappeared down the hallway.

I waited at the airport
and randomly checked the departure screen to see if her airplane had
left. After 50 minutes, her airplane took off. As I returned to my
car in the parking lot, I wondered if I should have rescheduled my
appointment with the investor and flown with Jane to Chicago. But I
needed money because I had only $1,898 left in my financial accounts
after buying Jane’s engagement ring.

The next day, I
attended the entrepreneur conference. As I drove back to my apartment
around 5:00 p.m., I called Jane, who said she had missed my
freewheeling spirit on her trip to Chicago.

I promised to pick her
up from the airport on Tuesday evening. She kissed me over the phone,
and I returned her kiss. I said that we had our first long-distance
kiss.

Jane loved my remark
and asked if I had received $1 million or more from the investor. I
explained that his assistant had informed me via a text message one
hour before the appointment that Mr. Barber couldn’t make it
because of an urgent conflict with his schedule. When I asked to
reschedule, his assistant said that he was unable to reschedule at
that time. Jane advised me to forget Mr. Barber since my medical app
was selling like crazy.

When I told her that my
sales in January had dropped to zero, Jane anxiously asked what had
happened.

Another software
developer at the conference told me that several investors were
excited about Roy Johnson, a high school whiz kid who had developed a
new medical mobile app in early December of last year.

Jane asked if the whiz
kid had copied my ideas. I had downloaded the whiz kid’s app from
the Apple online store and saw that it provided similar information
as mine; however, his mobile app was faster, had fancier graphic
displays for maps, searches, and results, and to top it off, it was
free.

Jane asked about my
next move. My new focus was to develop new online IT tutorials for
mobile app developers. She said my tutorials would succeed
tremendously, and I thanked her for the encouraging words.

Jane had to run because
Abbey had cooked a great dinner, but she asked me to call her the
next day to talk more about our trip to Costa Rica and Mexico. I
promised to call, and we hung up.

I realized that Jane
felt close to Abbey because Abbey had everything that Jane didn’t:
a marriage to a civil engineer with a stable job and three kids.

Back on my laptop, I
worked until 4:00 a.m. on my new online IT tutorials. When I woke up
on Sunday morning, I realized that Jane loved spending money on
exciting new trips. I called her and said I was thinking about
another trip before we traveled to Costa Rica and Mexico. It would be
a suitable time for Jane to go on a trip because she was waiting for
the FDA’s response to Vandane’s IND application, and Vandane’s
stock was doing great again.

I suggested we fly to
Paris, France, for an extended weekend because we had never visited
Europe. Jane loved my idea of a weekend trip to Paris like a
jet-setting couple. I informed Jane that I had no money again.

“You worry too much
about money,” Jane replied.

I explained that we
would leave on Friday afternoon and eat an early lunch in Paris on
Saturday. Afterward, we would take a short nap in our hotel suite to
get over any jet lag. In the afternoon, we would visit Montmartre,
where an artist would draw our portraits. In the evening, we would go
on a Seine River cruise to enjoy a dinner with a bottle of exquisite
French wine and hear live French songs.

Jane couldn’t wait
until we flew to Paris, and she would frame and hang our portraits in
her condominium. I continued to say that we would see the Mona Lisa
in the Louvre Museum on Sunday morning and see Paris from the Eiffel
Tower in the afternoon. On Monday morning, we would see the Notre
Dame cathedral featured prominently in the novel, The Hunchback of
Notre Dame by Victor Hugo. Late in the afternoon, we would fly back
in business class.

“We can’t fly in
business class,” Jane said.

“I will not
fly in economy class, where we’ll be packed in like sardines,” I
testily replied.

Jane said nobody liked
to travel in economy class, but it was cheap. I aggressively asked if
she had heard of the English slogan, “I am too poor to buy cheap.”

“We will fly first
class,” Jane said cheekily.

“You got me!”

“I tricked you. I
tricked you!” she happily replied.

Jane told me that she
had to run. Her brother was about to take her and his family to a
park with a playground next to Lake Michigan because the temperature
would be around 70 degrees. They wanted to take advantage of such
warm weather for a January weekend in Evanston, a suburb of Chicago.
But she would call me that night because she had a major surprise. I
was about to ask about her surprise, but Jane had already ended our
phone call.

I wondered about her
surprise. I remembered that Jane had mentioned to me the week before
that we should buy a large beach house somewhere. We talked about
Southern California or Hawaii because Jane was eager to learn how to
surf after seeing the movie North Shore. I wasn’t surprised
that Jane wanted to learn to surf because she already knew how to
dive and water ski. Why not add surfing to her list to look
sexy and adventurous?

We could also discuss
nonprofit groups that help the environment or public libraries here
in the United States. I wanted to donate some money to public
libraries because they provided opportunities to kids who fell
through the cracks, like Catherine, the high school dropout.

Or we could set up a
college scholarship fund for students who live in struggling
neighborhoods but earn a high score on objective, standardized exams
like the SAT or ACT, which measure a student’s language and math
skills. Our scholarship fund would give children a financial
incentive to learn the necessary math and language skills to survive
in our informational economy. If we are lucky, other non-profit
organizations will use our idea of a college scholarship fund to
encourage kids to learn math and language skills. Most kids just want
to play video games or watch YouTube videos unless their parents push
them to study diligently.

The previous November,
I talked over Skype to Mr. George Forkeotes, an old acquaintance who
was a professor at Glendale Community College in a well-off
neighborhood near Los Angeles. He complained that three-quarters of
his students had failed his basic foundations of algebra test in
mid-September, and he didn’t know what to do.

I had sarcastically
suggested that he should forget about tests and exams and give A’s
to the students who came to all his classes and B’s to those who
had missed a few classes. This grading system would make everybody
happy: the students, the highly paid educational consultants, the
dean, and the politicians.

He asked what kind of
engineers, professors, lawyers, doctors, and scientists we would have
in the future if we didn’t care about math and language skills in
our schools anymore. I told him not to worry because the best and
brightest folks from around the world would still come to America
because of the money and opportunity.

I kept looking at the
clock on my laptop, wondering when Jane would call me. I couldn’t
focus on my work anymore. Finally, she called me on Skype around 6:45
p.m. and said her brother’s house was a complete mess. Toys,
children’s clothes, and books were everywhere. Their three small
boys screamed, kicked, and threw balls, fought over their toys, and
ran around all the time. But the kids also yelled that their mom
should look at their drawings or see the tall towers they had built
from LEGO or magnetic blocks in the living room. Her brother and his
wife were relaxed and easy-going parents who lived in a modest
four-bedroom colonial house with a partially finished . . .

I interrupted Jane to
ask about my surprise. Jane asked if I understood what she had told
me, and I replied that her three nephews were great kids.

Jane told me we had
bonded last Thursday when she shared her financial information with
me. I was excited about giving money to nonprofit groups that would
buy land for new parks or help folks who had fallen on tough times.

Jane was silent for
about 30 seconds. I told her I couldn’t hear her anymore, even
though I could still see her on Skype.

“I feel like a
schoolgirl who sits on your lap and whispers into your ear that I
love you and miss you,” Jane said as she looked straight at me.

I became speechless and
confused because we had never mentioned romantic stuff except when we
had passionate fun.

“Do you love me?”
Jane asked me.

I reminded Jane that
she had told me on our trip to the Rocky Mountains that she didn’t
want to hear empty romantic words like sweetheart and love. Jane said
those words didn’t matter because we clicked like magnets: north
and south poles. I agreed.

Jane asked if I liked
kids. I had been a soccer coach for teenagers for two years when I
was a graduate student. Jane asked how that happened. I tutored a
high school student in math who played on a soccer team in LST, a
local community-based league. The student and his parents encouraged
me to become their coach because their regular coach had found a job
in another city, and I had played high school soccer and two years of
college soccer. Jane said I had never mentioned this to her.

I provided
opportunities to teenagers who didn’t expect it; Jane asked how I
did that. Our soccer team was losing at halftime by a score of 2 to 1
when we were playing for the championship. I told my players during
halftime that I would start the best players or the A-team in the
second half, and I expected them to shoot two goals in the next 15
minutes.

All the teenagers
anxiously waited to find out who was on the A-team. I selected Jose,
but he didn’t run onto the field. Instead, he asked if I had made a
mistake. Jose was surprised because he always made fun of me during
practice and criticized me in front of the other players. But I had
observed that Jose was an excellent soccer player.

I told him to run onto
the field quickly because the referee was waiting for him to start
the second half. Jose assisted the team with two goals within ten
minutes, and we won the championship game with a score of 3 to 2.
Jane said I knew how to handle teenagers.

I became pessimistic in
another soccer game because the other team had a solid defense and
the score was 1–0 against us with ten minutes left. Looking around,
I saw Louis, a 15-year-old, sitting alone near some trees about
fifteen feet away from the soccer field. I yelled at him to come
over, and he slowly walked toward me. I told him to hurry because I
would substitute him, and we were running out of time. Finally, Louis
ran over.

When the referee blew
the whistle for a throw-in, I substituted Louis for Tim. Tim loudly
protested as he walked off the field because he believed he was a
star player. But I reminded him that he hadn’t shot a goal for 82
minutes.

A minute later, Louis
took the ball away from an opposing player near the half-line,
dribbled past four opposing players, and shot a goal to tie the game.
I became excited and yelled at my players to shoot the winning goal
as I raised three fingers high into the air because we had three
minutes left. Louis intercepted a bad pass, but three opposing
players rushed him. He made a fantastic pass, but his teammate hit
the goalpost from inside the penalty area. The game ended with a 1:1
tie against a better team.

Jane said that I would
be a super dad if we had children. I replied that we had enjoyed
playing with her three nephews over Thanksgiving weekend.

“How do you see our
future?” Jane asked me.

“We are a close
couple who have a lot of fun together.”

“Do you believe in
marriage and children?”

“I have many issues
on my mind right now,” I replied.

“If you don’t love
me, tell me right now, and don’t play games with my feelings,”
Jane retorted with an angry glance at me via Skype.

“I’ll make a lot of
money this month because I bought shares of three mining companies
for around six cents per share last December,” I explained.

“What does that have
to do with anything?” she asked, perplexed.

I explained that if
these mining companies were to find gold in the Canadian Rocky
Mountains, I would be part of a modern gold rush and make millions.

“Forget about money.
We’re always happy to see each other,” Jane interrupted me.

“It’s easy for you
to say that money doesn’t matter because you have millions.”

“My diamonds,
Porsche, and condo are meaningless unless I can share them with you,”
Jane replied.

I told her that if I
made a lot of money from this modern gold rush, I would buy many
Vandane shares.

Frustrated, Jane asked,
“Why are you talking about money and stocks and not about our
feelings?”

I explained that if I
were to buy a lot of Vandane shares, she would be working for my
dividends and share price, and I would be her boss at Vandane, like
Mark Stumberger, the investor.

“Are you jealous of
Mark?” Jane asked in a coy voice on Skype.

“It was just a crazy
thought that had occurred to me.”

“Are you going to
fire me because I’m spending too much time with you on weekends,
and I’m not working hard for your share price?” Jane asked.

“Our time together is
more valuable than my share price,” I told Jane.

“Your tongue always
knows how to make my heart fall for you,” she replied.

“I would passionately
kiss you if you were here and not in Chicago.”

Jane told me she could
have easily paid for my plane ticket to Chicago on Saturday night
after my investment conference, but I didn’t say anything about
coming to Chicago to see her.

“I’ll cook some
salmon, your favorite fish, for dinner when you return on Tuesday
evening,” I promised Jane.

Jane couldn’t wait
until we ate dinner together again. I heard Anne say something in the
background. Jane had to help Anne cook dinner because everybody was
hungry, so she ended our phone call.

Sitting at my dining
room table in my small, dusty living room, I remembered that Abbey
had told me at Thanksgiving dinner that Jane always talked about me.
I wondered if Abbey had encouraged Jane to tell me how she felt about
me and see what would happen. Unfortunately, Abbey didn’t know I
planned to propose to Jane next to the river on Valentine’s Day,
which was only a few weeks away.

Thinking about married
life, I wondered if I would feel like a worthless gigolo who got a
$500 weekly allowance from a rich woman.

I dismissed my thoughts
about being a gigolo because I was a struggling entrepreneur. I
looked back at my laptop and continued to work on my IT tutorials
until 5:00 a.m. because I had to make some money quickly.

Jane called me at 9:45
a.m. on Monday and woke me up. She excitedly said I didn’t have to
worry about money anymore because we would have joint checking and
financial accounts. She trusted me with her money because my dream
was to become a successful entrepreneur with my creative ideas.

I replied that I would
share my money with her if I became successful because I also trusted
her. Jane said we are a couple who trust each other with our money,
and I was glad we had no financial conflicts.

Jane told me we should
live together during the week because we already lived together on
weekends. I also wanted to live with Jane every day because we smiled
happily whenever we saw each other. But if I were to move into her
condo right now, it would destroy my planned Valentine’s Day
surprise. I should be able to keep my Valentine’s Day proposal
secret for several weeks. So, I told Jane that my mind was bubbling
with ideas for my new IT tutorials, and I couldn’t think about
anything else right then.

Jane told me not to
worry about my IT tutorials. She could always invest her money in my
company because I was an entrepreneur who never gave up. I replied
that my company didn’t need money because I was developing my new
tutorials. Jane explained that I could use the money to develop the
real estate opportunity mobile app. I reminded her that she had told
me at Joe’s Place that my idea of a real estate app was garbage.
Jane had changed her mind because we had a housing shortage, and open
space was in short supply in major metropolitan areas. Therefore, my
app would help real estate investors select old buildings, run-down
warehouses, and abandoned parking lots that could be renovated.

I was glad that Jane
finally realized the potential of my new real estate mobile app. She
suggested that I could hire and supervise one or two whiz kids with
the additional funds and quickly develop my real estate app while I
continued working on my IT tutorials and online solitaire video game.

“You still remember
my plan about the solitaire video game?”

“Yes, with the three
racing mice,” Jane replied.

I asked how much money
she planned to invest in my company. Jane said it would be around
half a million dollars as a start. I would remain the CEO and
president of my company because IT was not her field. When I asked if
we would both own 50% of my company, she replied that I would own 51%
while she would own 49%.

“Why are you doing
this for me?” I asked Jane incredulously.

“Because I love you.
Do you love me?”

“What does love
mean?”

“Are you seeing
another woman during the week?” Jane angrily asked.

“No!” I shouted
into my cell phone.

In a sarcastic tone,
she asked, “What do you like about me except for a free trip to
Paris in business class?”

“I like your quick
mind.”

“Do you love me?”
Jane asked me again.

I couldn’t tell her
that I loved her because I didn’t know what love meant, and I had
promised Jane at Big Meadow Lake that I would always be honest with
her.

“Valentine’s Day is
only a few weeks away . . .”

“Do you have any
plans for Valentine’s Day?” Jane breathlessly asked.

I didn’t want to ruin
my Valentine’s Day surprise, so I told her we should go to an art
museum to see how painters defined love.

I heard some children
shouting in the background. Jane couldn’t talk anymore because she
was babysitting her three nephews since her brother and sister-in-law
had gone shopping. Then I heard Jane yelling at Brian, her oldest
nephew, and she ended our call. I continued working on my IT
tutorials.

Jane called me again on
Monday evening and informed me that her plans had changed. Jane’s
colleague, Andrew, had informed her that afternoon that the FDA had
asked two critical questions late on Friday about the submitted IND
application. So now she would arrive at 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday morning
and take a taxi to work.

I asked Jane if I could
come to her condo on Tuesday evening because I had promised to cook
dinner for her. She told me to call her because she didn’t know how
late she would have to work to answer the FDA’s questions.


Chapter
63:

Wedding
Plans

I called Jane on
Tuesday evening, but she didn’t answer. Was she tired from her
trip? I was glad I didn’t have dinner with Jane that night because
I continued to work on my IT tutorials.

I called Jane late
Wednesday morning, but she still didn’t answer. Several hours
later, I called her twice, but the call went directly to her
voicemail. Did she forget to charge her phone?

I texted and emailed
her, but she didn’t reply. This felt strange because she had always
returned my calls or messages within an hour. Was Jane under pressure
at work because she had to answer the FDA questions about the new
drug? We had a comparable situation in December, and everything
turned out fine.

I called Jane four
times on Thursday, but she still didn’t pick up. I left several
messages on her voicemail asking her to call me, but she ignored
them. Finally, I called Jane’s office early Thursday evening.
Somebody answered her office desk phone and told me that Jane hadn’t
been in the office that day, and he didn’t know why. I assumed he
was another chemist.

I didn’t understand
why Jane hadn’t gone to the office that day because she had to
answer the FDA’s critical questions. Had she been in a car
accident? I quickly called three hospitals, but they couldn’t find
any patient with Jane’s name.

Did she become ill? Did
she go to a doctor? Did we have an accident in mid-October under the
maple trees next to the meadow on an uninhabited island in the middle
of the river? We had reached this island with our canoe. I now
understood why Jane had pushed me the previous weekend to get married
and have children.

She was pregnant.

I decided to go to her
condo the next morning and see if she needed anything. I realized
that I would have to finish my IT tutorials quickly and get the money
to pay for our wedding at a fancy place. I wondered if we would have
a boy or a girl.

Rick? Or Jackie?

On Friday morning, I
realized I could no longer return Jane’s engagement ring to
Papadopoulos Jewelry because the deadline was yesterday. But it
didn’t matter because we would get engaged and marry in a few
months.

I called Jane from my
bedroom to ensure she was home and not work. Jane answered her cell
phone and told me not to call her anymore. She had met another
man. Immediately, Jane ended our phone call.

I picked up Jane’s
blue blouse from my bedroom chair and ripped it into small pieces.
Kneeling in front of my bed, I pounded my mattress with both fists as
I began to curse Abbey. She had poisoned Jane’s mind against me.
Abbey was jealous because Jane was a multimillionaire.

I continued to hit my
mattress violently with my right fist as I continued to curse Abbey.
After some time, I felt tired and stared at the red blanket on my
bed. I remembered giving Abbey the impression during our Thanksgiving
dinner that I would never propose to Jane.

I decided to call Abbey
and tell her about my Valentine’s Day surprise, but I didn’t know
her number. Likewise, I searched for her name on Google and paid
$4.02 for the “People Finder” software to get her cell phone
number in the Chicago area. People Finder displayed eight cell phone
numbers; five were no longer in service. Somebody answered the other
three numbers, but they knew nothing about Abbey or her husband, Jim.

I slumped down onto the
dark blue tiles and leaned against my bed. Staring at Jane’s photos
attached to the white wall with Scotch tape, I remembered that she
had danced the solo Greek Zeibekiko folk dance last September in a
large tent at a Greek festival. She wore a tight red dress, a wide
black belt, a white gold necklace with a sapphire stone, and shiny
high-heeled shoes sprinkled with diamonds.

Over fifty people stood
or kneeled, forming a circle around Jane. They clapped their hands to
Jane’s spirited, but exact dance steps as a live band played and a
handsome young man sang a romantic Greek song.

Several people,
especially two older men, threw many dollar bills on the grass for
the band and the singer. I took several photos of Jane with my
iPhone. About 12 minutes later, the band stopped playing, and she
left the dance floor as the crowd applauded her. Jane walked over to
a row of beige metal stackable chairs and sat down, exhausted.

Immediately, two young,
strong guys walked over to Jane and began to talk to her. I quickly
walked over to Jane and stood next to her chair. She put her right
arm around my hip and turned her head toward me, asking how I liked
her dancing. The two aggressive guys quickly slipped away.

“Your dancing was
sexy but elegant.”

Jane smiled at me.

We had danced at the
Greek festival by chance because we were going to watch the movie The
Young Victoria at her condo in mid-September. When I saw many
cars parked on Bradley Boulevard, I asked if we should check out this
festival and forget about the movie. Jane agreed because we could
watch the movie on Netflix another day.

I found a parking space
half a mile away in the parking lot of a church without religious
services that night. When we noticed that it was a Greek Orthodox
church festival at Saint George, Jane said she knew some Greek folk
dances because she had joined an international folk dancing club at
Stanford University. I quickly learned some basic dance steps by
seeing and following her and the other dancers.

When we left the Greek
festival around midnight, we talked about returning next spring
because we liked the food, music, and folk dances. We also met some
friendly people, including the Rev. Fr. Dimitrios Antokas, who
greeted the folks as they waited in the long food line.

As I continued staring
at the photos on my wall, I wondered if I was wrong about her
pregnancy because there could’ve been many reasons why she hadn’t
gone to the office the day before. Maybe she had to run to her CPA
about her taxes or to a doctor’s office because she had a cold. I
knew that Jane would have told me if she were pregnant because she
wasn’t a nasty and vicious woman.

Or did Jane have a
child with somebody else? But I just couldn’t believe that Jane had
cheated on me because we were together all the time, and she wanted
to marry me. Jane had the money to hire a top-notch nanny; she didn’t
need me to raise her kid.

But if Jane wasn’t
pregnant, why did she push me to get married and have children? I
realized that Jane was a traditional lady who wanted to marry me and
have children because she loved me.

I remembered that
Kostantinos in the movie had told Isabella’s parents at the end of
their dinner that he would definitely marry their daughter because he
loved her. I wondered how Kostantinos knew that he loved Isabella.
Did he say empty words to be able to marry the daughter of a wealthy
family? Or did Kostantinos have some deep feelings for Isabella?

I remembered that I got
angry when Jane broke off our relationship. Maybe love means that you
get upset if your girlfriend dumps you? I decided to call Jane and
tell her that I loved her. I picked up my cell phone and prayed that
I wasn’t too late.

Her phone rang once,
twice, and . . . I quickly ended my call.

I didn’t want to get
involved in a love triangle and end up like the CPA lady in New York
City. In frustration, I threw my phone onto my bed. Looking at my
iPhone, I realized that Jane would see my missed phone call on hers.
But I was sure she wouldn’t call me back because she had met
another man.

I wondered if Jane had met her new
man at the airport in Chicago in the same way that I had gotten to
know her last year at the airport in Houston, Texas.

Was her new man rich?

Or famous?

Or strong?

I didn’t want to
know.

Work and money.

Money and work.

Nothing else left.


Appendix
I:

A
Letter to the Readers

Thank you for reading
my story, Her Millions Are Worthless. Hopefully, you enjoyed
reading about Bill, the poor, young, but proud man, and Jane, the
young, beautiful, multimillionaire woman. Their relationship involved
online articles about poor but successful go-getters, Jane’s
$45,276 sunglasses, their first kiss in a dark alley, trips to New
York City, The Rocky Mountains, and Virginia Beach, spontaneous and
passionate intimacy, and the lively chemistry between them.

Hopefully, my story
also supplied concise and brief information about cybersecurity, bond
and stock mutual funds, stock options, diamonds, entrepreneur medical
investments, S-corporations, taxes, AI voice cloning, ChatGPT, and
new products such as Starscope Monocular and Kailo.

As an author, I would love your
feedback, and I need to ask a favor from you. Please write a review
to let the public and me know your opinions and thoughts about my
story, Her Millions Are Worthless. I would appreciate it.


In gratitude,
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